

Dipartimento di Matematica e Fisica Laurea Magistrale in Matematica

Reducibility of PDEs with quasi-periodic in time coefficients

Candidata: Shulamit Terracina Matricola: **492325**

Relatrice: Michela Procesi

Anno accademico 2020/21

Καὶ ἠγάπησαν οἱ ἄνθρωποι
 μᾶλλον τὸ σχότος ἢ τὸ φῶς
 E gli uomini preferirono
 il buio piuttosto che la luce.

Abstract

The thesis starts from the study of a classical question namely the spectral properties of linear operators on Hilbert spaces. In particular, the thesis focuses on close to diagonal operators with simple spectrum but in which the difference of the eigenvalues accumulates to zero. We are looking for conditions (on the perturbation and on the differences of the eigenvalues) that guarantee that the spectrum is still discrete with simple eigenvalues. Interesting applications are related to the reducibility of linear partial differential equations (PDEs) with quasi-periodic dependence on time. More precisely, we want to reduce the PDE to constant coefficients, by means of a quasi-periodic change of variables. The technical problems that arise are related to the presence of small divisors.

Contents

Introduction ii			ii	
1	Fun	ctional setting	2	
	1.1	Space of sequences and majorant operators	2	
	1.2	Decay Norm	6	
		1.2.1 Töplitz in time Operator	8	
	1.3	A general class of "tame" operators	10	
		1.3.1 Properties of E_s	13	
		1.3.2 A "good" decomposition	14	
2	Dia	Diagonalization 16		
	2.1	Abstract KAM algorithm	16	
	2.2	Diagonalization algorithm in high norm	25	
3	Арр	olications	32	
	3.1	Reducibility and diagonalization	32	
	3.2	Proof of the Theorem 3	33	
		3.2.1 Regularization	34	
		3.2.2 Estimates on $\mathcal{R}(\varphi)$ and R	36	
		3.2.3 Measure estimates and conclusion of the proof	39	
	3.3	Proof of the Theorem 4	41	
A Technical results and useful tools		nnical results and useful tools	47	
	A.1	Proof of Proposition 1.1.9	47	
	A.2	Proof of the Lemma 1.3.13	50	
	A.3	Lipschitz extention Theorem	51	
	A.4	Lie exponentiation Formula	52	
	A.5	Composition lemma	52	
Bi	Bibliography			

Introduction

The study of the spectral properties of linear operators on Hilbert spaces is one of the first successes of functional analysis in the end of 1800, starting from the classical result of the spectral decomposition theorem. A great source of motivation came from the development of the quantum mechanics, indeed the study of the spectra of hermitian operators on Hilbert space was central in the explanation of the spectra of atoms.

Here we work on separable Hilbert spaces that we can identify with sequence spaces (e.g. ℓ^2) or weighted sequence spaces (e.g. the Sobolev space h^p) and we would like to understand the properties of the spectrum of an operator on those spaces and in particular the characteristics of the operator that guarantee that it has pure point spectrum. We consider this problem in the perturbative case, namely we consider a family of operators of the form

$$L(\varepsilon) := \Lambda + \varepsilon P$$

where Λ is diagonal and we ask whether this family is diagonalizable and if its spectral properties depend continuously (or more regularly) on ε .

This problem is interesting and it is deeply studied both in finite and in infinite dimension. We will work in infinite dimension and we will focus on the case in which Λ has pure point and simple spectrum.

In finite dimension this property is called "regular semi simple" and it is an open property, namely if $L(\varepsilon)$ has simple spectrum for $\varepsilon = 0$ then there exists a neighbourhood of 0 in which $L(\varepsilon)$ has a simple spectrum. Therefore, if L(0) is diagonalizable then $L(\varepsilon)$ also can be diagonalized and the eigenvalues and eigenfunctions will be analytic functions of ε . In infinite dimension the situation is really more complicated, even if we know that the operator L(0) has simple and pure point spectrum, and spectral properties of L depend strongly on whether the spectrum of Λ has accumulation points.

Let $L(\varepsilon)$ be defined on a sequence space contained in ℓ^2 , from the Kato-Rellich Theorem we know that if $L(\varepsilon)$ is an analytic family (in the sense of Kato) of operator-valued functions and $\lambda^{(0)}$ is a nondegenerate pure point eigenvalue of L(0) then for every ε near to 0 there exsists exactly one $\lambda(\varepsilon) \in \sigma(L(\varepsilon))$ near to $\lambda^{(0)}$ and this point is isolated and non degenerate.

Unfortunately, even if every eigenvalue of L(0) is isolated and simple, is not true that we can iterate the Kato-Rellich Theorem and that $L(\varepsilon)$ can be diagonalized. Indeed, the radius of convergence goes to zero with the spectral gap between λ_0 and the other eigenvalues, so some problems occur due to the non uniformity of the distance between the eigenvalues. Actually, to obtain that result we have to suppose that the difference between the eigenvalues is *uniformly* bounded from below, that is a really strong property to ask. Under such a strong assumptions one can also prove the diagonalization as an application of the Implicit Function Theorem.

If L(0) has simple and pure point spectrum such that

$$|\lambda_k^{(0)} - \lambda_j^{(0)}| > \alpha > 0 \quad \forall \ j, k \tag{1}$$

and P is small in operator norm then $L(\varepsilon)$ can be diagonalized, namely there exists a change of variables that conjugates it to a diagonal operator, and the spectrum of the diagonalized operator is still simple and pure point.

Finally, the eigenvalues and the eigenvectors are curves in ε in the sense that the eigenvalues forms a denumerable family of smooth functions $\lambda_j^{\infty}(\varepsilon)$. Same for the eigenvectors. Indeed, one can compute the Taylor series expansion for eigenvalues and eigenvectors and it turns out that the difference of the unperturbed eigenvalues appears at the denominator. So the radius of convergence of the series is inversely proportional to α .

It is interesting and natural to consider operators satisfying assumptions weaker than (1). For instance, we can consider the case when the difference of the eigenvalues accumulates to zero. In this case, if one has some lower bound on the difference of the eigenvalues one can still hope to achieve convergence. However, in general to require the boundedness of the perturbation is not enough, and typically one should impose further conditions on the perturbation.

For instance, in this Thesis we ask to control (in an appropriate operator norm) some "commutators" of P with the "derivative" operator ∂_{θ} which we shall define below.

Given two linear operators, we will denote (adA)B := [B, A] where $[\cdot, \cdot]$ is the usual commutator.

This type of situations, where the unperturbed operator has accumulating eigenvalues, appears in the context of linear operators with quasi-periodic in time coefficients. Indeed, a source of motivation comes from the study of quasi periodic solutions for non linear PDEs on a compact manifold close to an elliptic equilibrium point. KAM (Kolmogorov-Arnold-Moser) theory, born to analyze the dynamics of nearly integrable finite dimensional Hamiltonian system, provides us useful tools to deal with the problem discussed above in the Hamiltonian context.

The main difficulty appearing in KAM theory is to deal with the possible loss of derivatives that arise from the presence of *small divisors*, which prevents the use of a classic Implicit Function Theorem. A possible way to overcome this problem is to apply a fast convergent KAM iterative scheme.

The core of this algorithm is the invertibility of certain linear operators (obtained linearizing the PDE at some approximate quasiperiodic solution). Typically in the applications the spectrum of such linear operator accumulates to zero and this is the so-called small divisor problem. The idea of the Thesis is to prove diagonalization Theorems with an eye to their application in a PDEs context. We then use such result to study two linear PDEs with quasi periodic in time coefficients and show that they can be reduced to constant coefficients. We work only in the context of linear PDEs, however the estimates that we obtain are exactly the ones needed, in the non linear context, on the linearized equation at an approximate quasiperiodic solution.

In conclusion, we shall be interested in operators acting on function spaces which are perturbation of a diagonal one, namely of an operator that has pure point and that can be written in diagonal form with respect to a countable basis. Therefore it is convenient to work directly in that basis, thus identifying the space with a sequence space. In this thesis we shall confine ourself to Hilbert Spaces.

In our application we shall consider operators acting on the torus \mathbb{T}^d such that the unperturbed part is diagonal with respect to the Fourier basis and hence our sequence spaces are indexed in \mathbb{Z}^d .

Consider the scale of Hilbert spaces

$$\mathbf{h}^s \equiv \mathbf{h}^s(\mathbb{Z}^d) := \left\{ \{u_k\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} : |u|_s^2 := \sum \langle k \rangle^{2s} |u_k|^2 < \infty \right\}, \qquad \langle k \rangle := \max\{|k|, 1\}.$$

In the space $\mathcal{L}(h^s, h^{s'})$ of bounded linear operators from h^s to $h^{s'}$ we use the standard operator norm

$$||M||_{s,s'} := \sup_{|u|_s \le 1} |Mu|_{s'}.$$

For $1 \leq h \leq d$ we define the unbounded operator ∂_{θ_h} as $(u_k)_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} \mapsto (\mathrm{i}k_h u_k)_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d}$.

We consider a parameter family of operators

$$L(\xi) = \Lambda_0(\xi) + P_0(\xi) \tag{2}$$

with Λ_0 diagonal with distinct eigenvalues¹. The parameters ξ are in a compact set \mathcal{O}_0 in \mathbb{R}^n with the only condition n > 0. They will be modulated in order to avoid resonances, so our result will not hold for all ξ but only on a subset defined implicitly. Of course it is very important that this set is not empty. In order to prove this we shall need some Lipschitz dependence both for Λ_0 and P_0 . For the precise condition see the hypotheses $(\mathbf{H_1}), (\mathbf{H_2})$ in Section 2.1. To make the Lipschitz dependence quantitative, we shall work with a weighted Lipschitz norm (see definition 1.1.13) denoted by² $\|\cdot\|_{s,s}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}}$.

Theorem 1. Fix $s > \frac{d}{2}$, $\gamma > 0$, $\tau > d - 1$ and $b_1 > 5d + \tau + 1$. Consider an operator as in (2) satisfying the hypotheses above and such that

$$P_0$$
, $(\operatorname{ad} \partial_{\theta_i})^{b_1} P_0 \in \mathcal{L}(\mathbf{h}^s, \mathbf{h}^s)$ for all $1 < i < d$.

¹Clearly this means that it has pure point spectrum. Moreover, returning in the functional space setting we are implicitly requiring that $\Lambda_0(\xi)$ is diagonal respect to the same basis for all ξ .

²Here γ is a positive number and \mathcal{O} the set where we want that the operators are Lipschitz.

There exists ϵ_{\star} such that, if

$$|P_0\|_{s,s}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}_0}, \ \|(\operatorname{ad} \partial_{\theta_i})^{d+1} P_0\|_{s,s}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}_0} \le \epsilon_\star, \quad \text{for all } 1 < i < d$$

then there exists Lipschitz functions $\lambda_i^{(\infty)}(\xi)$ such that in the set

$$\mathcal{C} := \{\xi \in \mathcal{O}_0 : |\lambda_k^{(\infty)}(\xi) - \lambda_{k'}^{(\infty)}(\xi)| > 2\gamma |k - k'|^{-\tau}\}$$

L is diagonalizable, namely there exists a change of variables close to diagonal that conjugates it to the diagonal operator $\Lambda_{\infty} = \text{diag}\lambda_k^{(\infty)}$.

This result is proven with a quadratic KAM algorithm. The first step is to define the majorant norm (see (3)) and reformulate the Theorem 1 in terms of that norm (see Theorem 5). Then we introduce an iterative scheme in which at each step we conjugate the operator to a diagonal operator plus a reminder whose norm is quadratically small with respect to the previous step. Then we prove that this algorithm is convergent. At each step the change of variables is of the form e^A where A is the solution of an *Homological Equation* (see Lemma 2.1.2). To solve this equation we have to impose some conditions on the difference of the eigenvalues. In the end we will prove that it is enough to impose the condition only on the final eigenvalues.

The second result that we prove regards the regularity of the change of variable that, by Theorem 1, diagonalizes the operator $L(\xi)$. Namely, we consider an operator as in (2) where P_0 is small in some "low norm" \mathbf{h}^{s_0} and bounded in "higher norms" \mathbf{h}^s with $s_0 < s < s_1$, for a fixed s_1 . The theorem above implies that the operator that diagonalizes L is bounded from \mathbf{h}^{s_0} to \mathbf{h}^{s_0} . We ask whether this change of variables is more regular, for instance bounded from \mathbf{h}^s to itself.

This type of result is crucial for application to PDEs and typically is achieved by requiring that P_0 is bounded in a stronger norm with respect to the operator one. For example, in [BBM14] the authors work in the decay norm (see definition 1.2.1). Of course, working in a strong norm imposes restriction in the class of applications. To avoid this, a strategy is to use the setting of Modulo-tame operators (see 1.3.1). This idea has been implemented for instance for the Water Waves and Degasperis-Procesi equations ([BBHM18], [FGP19]). In the next Theorem we introduce norms that are weaker then the decay ones and behaves essentially as the Modulo-tame constants. To do that we need to define a functional structure.

Denoting by $e^{(k)}$ the standard orthonormal basis of $\ell^2(\mathbb{Z}^d) = \mathbf{h}^0(\mathbb{Z}^d)$ (namely $e^{(k)}_{k'} := \delta_{k,k'}$), we may identify an operator with the matrix coefficients $M^{k'}_k := Me^{(k')} \cdot e^{(k)}$, where \cdot denotes the ℓ^2 -scalar product.

Given an infinite matrix M we define its *majorant matrix* \underline{M} as

$$(\underline{M})_k^{k'} := |M_k^{k'}|.$$

then we define the space of bounded majorant linear operators as

 $\mathcal{M}(\mathbf{h}^{s},\mathbf{h}^{s'}):=\left\{M\in\mathcal{L}(\mathbf{h}^{s},\mathbf{h}^{s'}) \ \text{ s.t. } \ |M|_{s,s'}<\infty\right\},$

where

$$|M|_{s,s'} := \|\underline{M}\|_{s,s'} \,. \tag{3}$$

is called *majorant operator norm*.

In Proposition 1.1.9 we provide an embedding³ of the bounded linear operators in the bounded majorant linear operators. Hence we could also state the following Theorem with the operator norm instead of the majorant norm. We prefer to use the second one to have a more readable statement.

Fix s_0, s_1 such that $s_1 > s_0 > \frac{d}{2}$. We introduce a new space E_s of couples (M, R) of linear operators such that

$$M \in igcap_{s_0$$

On this space we define a norm $\|\cdot\|_{s,s_0,s_1}$ that it is essentially the natural norm on the product space defined above (for a precise definition see (1.3.2)). Such norm can be used to control the majorant norm (or, since Proposition 1.1.9 hold, the operator) of both the operators of the decomposition. We call "low norm" the norm $\|\cdot\|_{s_0,s_0,s_1}$ (namely when we only require that R is bounded as operator from \mathbf{h}^{s_0} to itself).

Moreover, as in the previous Theorem, we need to control the Lipschitz dependence of the operators. With this purpose, we define a Lipschitz weighted norm $\|\cdot\|_{s,s_0,s_1}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}}$.

Given an operator $L \in \bigcap_{s_0 we can always decompose it in a couple <math>(M_L, R_L)$ that is an element of E_s in such way that $M_L + R_L = L$. One can show that $\|\cdot\|_{s,s_0,s_1}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}}$ controls the norm of L in a similar way to the Modulo-tame constants (see Remark 1.3.10). This decomposition is not unique, for instance one can trivially associate to L the couples (L, 0) and $(L - \partial_{\theta_1}^{-s_1}, \partial_{\theta_1}^{-s_1})$. The interesting point is to find a "good" representation of L.

After building all this new functional setting we obtain this second result:

Theorem 2. Fix s_0, s_1 such that $s_1 > s_0 > \frac{d}{2}$. Fix γ, τ and b_1 as in Theorem 1 and $b_2 > b_1$ sufficiently large. Consider an operator L as in (2) satisfying the same hypotheses of Theorem 1 and consider a couple $(M_{P_0}, R_{P_0}) \in E_s$ such that $P_0 = M_{P_0} + R_{P_0}$. Suppose that for some $s_0 < s < s_1$

$$\|(M_{P_0}, R_{P_0})\|_{s, s_0, s_1}^{\gamma, \mathcal{O}_0}, \|((\mathrm{ad}\partial_{\theta_i})^{b_2} M_{P_0}, (\mathrm{ad}\partial_{\theta_i})^{b_2} R_{P_0})\|_{s, s_0, s_1}^{\gamma, \mathcal{O}_0} < \infty \quad \text{for all } 1 < i < d.$$
(4)

There exists $\epsilon_{\star\star} < \epsilon_{\star}$ such that if

$$\|(M_{P_0}, R_{P_0})\|_{s_0, s_0, s_1}^{\gamma, \mathcal{O}_0} \le \epsilon_{\star\star}$$

³One needs to require that the operator maps \mathbf{h}^s in $\mathbf{h}^{s+\beta}$ for some β or control a norm of commutators with the derivative ∂_{θ} .

then for all $\xi \in C$ of the Theorem 1 the change of variable U that diagonalize L maps \mathbf{h}^s in itself. Moreover, one can control $|U|_{s,s}$ with the norm $\|(M_{P_0}, R_{P_O})\|_{s,s_{0.s_1}}$.

Applications

As explained before, a source of interest of the diagonalization theorem is its application in KAM theory. In this context we are interested in reducibility, namely the possibility to find a change of variables quasi periodic in time (with frequency vector $\omega \in \mathbb{R}^{d-1}$) that reduce in constant coefficient a linear PDE. The role of the external parameters ξ is assumed by the frequency ω . We will impose some arithmetic assumption on the frequency ω , for instance we will ask that it is diophantine.

Definition 1. ω is a (γ, τ) -diophantine frequency, if for γ, τ positive constant the following bound holds

$$|\omega \cdot l| \ge \frac{\gamma}{|l|^{\tau}} \qquad \forall \ l \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1} \setminus \{0\}$$
(5)

In order to illustrate the connection between the diagonalization and the reducibity, consider a partial differential equation of the form

$$u_t(x,t) = \mathcal{A}(\omega t)u(x,t) \tag{6}$$

where \mathcal{A} is a linear operator (which in our example is typically unbounded) quasiperiodic in time with diophantine frequency vector $\omega \in \mathbb{R}^{d-1}$ namely $\mathcal{A}(\omega t) = \mathcal{A}(\varphi)$ with $\varphi \in \mathbb{T}^{d-1}$. Recalling that we identify the function space $H^s(\mathbb{T})$ with the corresponding sequence space $\mathbf{h}^s(\mathbb{Z})$, we assume that \mathcal{A} is a sufficiently regular map from \mathbb{T}^{d-1} to $\mathcal{M}(\mathbf{h}^s(\mathbb{Z}), \mathbf{h}^s(\mathbb{Z}))$ ($\varphi \mapsto \mathcal{A}(\varphi)$). We look for quasi-periodic solutions, namely functions $u(x,t) = v(\omega t, x)$ with $v(\varphi, x)$ that solves

$$\mathcal{L}v = (\omega \cdot \partial_{\varphi} + \mathcal{A}(\varphi))v = 0.$$
(7)

We can associate to \mathcal{A} a Töplitz in time (see the definition 1.2.8) operator A acting on $\mathcal{M}(\mathbf{h}^{s}(\mathbb{Z}^{d}), \mathbf{h}^{s}(\mathbb{Z}^{d}))$.

In this way we associate to \mathcal{L} a linear operator L acting on $\mathbf{h}^{s}(\mathbb{Z}^{d})$ that is not bounded. In Section 3.1, we shall prove that reducing the operator \mathcal{A} is equivalent to diagonalizing the linear operator L via a bounded change of variables with the special property that it is Töplitz in time. This fact is proved in Corollary 2.1.7 under some assumptions on the operator $L = \Lambda + P$. In particular, we ask that Λ is diagonal with eigenvalues $\lambda_k = \lambda_{(l,j)}$ (with $k = (l, j) \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1} \times \mathbb{Z}$) that are linear in l and that the perturbation P is Töplitz in time.

In conclusion, if we can diagonalize then we can prove the existence of a change of variables quasi periodic in time that reduces to constant coefficient this class of PDEs. It is important to observe that is not obvious that the change of variables is Töpliz in time and that in general, if the change of variables is not Töpliz in time, is not clear whether reducibility and diagonalization are equivalent.

A concrete application that we will consider in this Thesis is the Airy Equation:

$$u_t + u_{xxx} + V(\omega t, x)u_x = 0, \quad x \in \mathbb{T}$$
(8)

The (7) becomes:

$$\mathcal{L}(u) := \left(\omega \cdot \partial_{\varphi} + \partial_{xxx} + \varepsilon V(\varphi, x) \partial_{x} \right) u = 0, \tag{9}$$
$$^{s_{0}} \equiv H^{s_{0}}(\mathbb{T}^{d}) := \left\{ u = \sum_{i} u_{k} e^{ik \cdot (\varphi, x)} : |u|_{s}^{2} := \sum \langle k \rangle^{2s} |u_{k}|^{2} < \infty \right\},$$

$$V \in H^{s_0} \equiv H^{s_0}(\mathbb{T}^d) := \left\{ u = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} u_k e^{ik \cdot (\varphi, x)} : |u|_s^2 := \sum \langle k \rangle^{2s} |u_k|^2 \right\}$$

where $\langle k \rangle := \max\{|k|, 1\}.$

Observing that in this operator the perturbation is not bounded, we do a well-known change of variables (Iooss-Plotnikov and Toland, [BBM14]) that put it in the form:

$$\omega \cdot \partial_{\varphi} + \partial_{xxx} + m\partial_x + f(\varphi, x) + g(\varphi, x)\partial_x^{-1} + \text{l.o.t.}$$

After this pseudo-differential transformation, the operator assumes the form $\mathcal{L} = \Lambda + \mathcal{P}$ with $\mathcal{L} = \omega \cdot \partial_{\varphi} + \partial_{xxx} + m\partial_x$ and $\mathcal{P} = f(\varphi, x) + g(\varphi, x)\partial_x^{-1} + \text{l.o.t.}$. We represent \mathcal{L}, \mathcal{P} as matrices acting on $h^s(\mathbb{Z}^d)$, denoted respectively as L, P.

The perturbation P is bounded so we can diagonalize it applying Theorem 1 and imposing non-resonance conditions on $\omega \in \mathbb{R}^{d-1}$. We obtain the following result:

Assume that $\omega \in \mathcal{O}$, with \mathcal{O} compact set of \mathbb{R}^{d-1} contained in the set of (γ, τ) -diophantine frequencies (see (5)).

Theorem 3. Fix $b > 4\tau + 2$, $s_0 > \frac{d}{2}$. There exist $\tilde{s} = \tilde{s}(s, \tau) > s_0$ and r_0 such that for all $r \leq r_0$ the following hold: If

$$V \in B_r(H^{\widetilde{s}}) \cap H^{\widetilde{s}+b}$$

then there exists a lipschitz family

$$d_j^{\infty}(\omega) = i(j^3 - mj) - r_j^{\infty}(\omega)$$
(10)

with

$$|m| + |r_j^{\infty}(\omega)| \lesssim_{s_0} |V|_{\widetilde{s}}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}}$$
(11)

and a set $\mathcal{G} \subset \mathcal{O}$ with

$$|\mathcal{O} \setminus \mathcal{G}| \lesssim_{s_0} \gamma \tag{12}$$

such that for $\omega \in \mathcal{G}$ there exists a map $\Phi : H^{s_0} \to H^{s_0}$ invertible, bounded and such that u solves (8) if and only if $z := \Phi^{-1}u$ solves $z_t = \operatorname{diag}(d_j^{\infty})z$.

Reducibility results can be used in order to control the time evolution of the Sobolev norm of solutions of (6). To do that we have to require further conditions on the operator.

Consider the space of *real* functions

$$Z := \{ u(\varphi, x) = \overline{u(\varphi, x)} \},\$$

and of even (in space-time), respectively odd, functions

$$X := \{ u(\varphi, x) = u(-\varphi, -x) \} \qquad Y := \{ u(\varphi, x) = -u(-\varphi, -x) \}$$
(13)

Definition 2. An operator R is said real if $R: Z \to Z$ and reversible if $R: X \to Y$.

If the operator L is Hamiltonian or Reversible, a Dynamical consequence of Theorem 3 is a stability result:

Lemma 3. For any $s \geq \frac{1}{2}$ and $u_0 \in H^{s_0}(\mathbb{T})$, the unique solution of the equation (6) with initial datum $u(x,0) = u_0(x)$ satisfies the estimate $||u(\cdot,t)||_{H^{s_0}(\mathbb{T})} \leq ||u_0||_{H^{s_0}(\mathbb{T})}$ uniformly w.r. to $t \in \mathbb{R}$

To prove this consequence, we show that the equation satisfies the hypotheses of the Theorem 1 and therefore the operator L can be conjugated to a diagonal one. Moreover the hypothesis on the Hamiltonian/Reversible perturbation guarantees that the final eigenvalues are purely imaginary and then we have the stability.

Another aim of this thesis is to provide an application of the Theorem 2. In principle we could also apply the second Theorem to the Airy equation; This was done in [BBM14] using the Decay norm. We preferred to use a more interesting example where we do not know how to estimate the perturbation in decay norm.

For $\alpha \in H^s(\mathbb{T}^d)$ denote $\vec{\alpha} := (\alpha, 0, \dots, 0) \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and consider the linear operator

$$C_{\alpha}u(\theta) := u(\theta + \vec{\alpha}(\theta)).$$

whose matrix representation is given by

$$(\mathbf{C}_{\alpha})_{k}^{k'} = \left(\widehat{e^{ik'\cdot\vec{\alpha}(\theta)}}\right)_{k-k'} \tag{14}$$

where \hat{g}_h is the h^{th} Fourier coefficient of the function g. Let us consider the equation

$$u_t + u_{xxx} + (\mathsf{C}_\alpha \partial_x^{-N})u = 0 \tag{15}$$

As before assume that ω is (γ, τ) -diophantine. In the Section 3.3 we prove the following result:

Theorem 4. Fix $b > 4\tau + 2$, $s_0 > \frac{d}{2}$ and $s_1 > s_0$. There exist $\tilde{s} = \tilde{s}(s_0, \tau) > s_0$, r_0 and $N_0 = N_0(b)$ such that for all $r \leq r_0$ and $N \geq N_0$ the following hold: If

$$\alpha \in B_r(H^{\widetilde{s}}) \cap H^{s_1+b}$$

then there exist a lipschitz family $d_j^{\infty}(\omega) = ij^3 - r_j^{\infty}(\omega)$ with

$$|r_j^{\infty}(\omega)| \lesssim_{s_0} |\alpha|_{\tilde{s}}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}} \tag{16}$$

and a set ${\mathcal G}$ with

$$|\mathcal{O} \setminus \mathcal{G}| \lesssim_{s_0} \gamma \tag{17}$$

such that for $\omega \in \mathcal{G} \subset \mathcal{O}$ there exist the map $\Phi : H^{s_0} \to H^{s_0}$ invertible, bounded and such that u solves (15) if and only if $z := \Phi^{-1}u$ solves $z_t = \operatorname{diag}(d_j^{\infty})z$.

Some Literature

The behaviour of the spectrum of linear operators on Hilbert spaces under perturbation is of course an interesting problem in itself. Many authors studied what happens to the spectrum of a linear operator after a perturbation. For instance, a theorem by Weyl-von Neumann ensures that any selfadjoint operator (in a separable Hilbert space) can be perturbed by a (arbitrary small) compact (Weyl 1909) or Hilbert-Schmidt (von Neumann 1935) selfadjoint operator so that its spectrum becomes pure point (see [K66]). Also counterexamples are studied, for example see in [TW85].

In this Thesis however our motivation in the choice of hypotheses, different from the theorems that we quote above, is due to the possible application to PDEs.

There are two main contexts that we have in mind:

– The control over time of the Sobolev norms of solutions of linear PDEs whose coefficients depend quasi periodically on time;

- The search of quasi periodic solutions for non linear PDEs on a compact manifold.

In both contexts the first results were on PDEs whose perturbation (respectively the nonlinear part) does not contain derivatives. Recently, thanks to the development of new techniques from pseudo-differential calculus, there have been a series of new results covering also unbounded perturbation; We give an example of these methods in the section 3.2.1.

Let us give a brief description of some of the relevant results.

One of the pioneers in the study of the problem of control of Sobolev norms was Bourgain, that proved an upper bound of the Sobolev norm for Linear Schrödinger operators, both in the case of quasi-periodic bounded potentials with a Diophantine frequency [Bou99a] and for general time dependent potentials [Bou99b]. His result was developed by many autors, among them [D10, BGMR17, BBHM18, M18, M19, M21].

In parallel to the study of the growth of the Sobolev norm there is the study the reducibility of equations with quasi-periodic in time coefficient. This is a key argument in KAM for PDEs. The first results in KAM theory for PDEs are due to Kuksin [K87], Wayne [W90], Craig-Wayne [CW93], Bourgain [Bou94] and Pöschel [P96], for semi-linear 1-dimensional PDEs with no derivatives in the nonlinearity, later extended for unbounded nonlinearities (see for instance [K98], [Bou99], [LY03], [KP03], [BBP13]. and references therein).

More recently, KAM theory has been developed for quasi-linear equations, namely PDEs

whose nonlinearity contains the same number of derivatives appearing in the linear part. quasi-linear PDEs arise from various physical scenarios such as fluid dynamics and quantum mechanics.

In this case to apply a KAM/Nash Moser scheme one has to deal with the combined problem of small divisor and of the presence of derivative in the nonlinearity. Indeed, the linearized operator is an unbounded perturbation of a diagonal operator and its invertibility is harder to prove since the perturbative effects are stronger.

We mention a series of papers of Ioss-Plotnikov-Toland [IPT05] which constructed *periodic* solution for the 2d Water Waves equation. Later, Baldi-Berti-Haus-Montalto [BBHM18] proved the existence of quasi-periodic solutions for the 2d Water Waves by extending techniques introduced in KdV.

The breakthrough idea developed in the paper mentioned above is to combine tools from microlocal analysis, like pseudo-differential operators, with the classical iterative scheme. In other words, before applying the scheme, one has to perform a pseudo-differential reduction of the operator to an other which is a regularizing perturbation of a diagonal operator.

The difficulties of implementing KAM theory drastically increase when consider equation posed on higher space dimension due to the presence of much stronger resonance phoenomena.

For instance, for KAM theory most of the existent result regards PDEs with no derivatives in the nonlinearity (Bourgain [Bou98, Bou05], Eliasson-Kuksin [EK09, EK10], Procesi-Procesi [PP15], Berti-Corsi-Procesi [BCP15]). The extension to the unbounded case is really much more recent and involves pseudo-differential calculus and equation with "special structure". We refer for instance to the reducibility results of [BGMR18], [BLM19], [FGMP19], [FG20], [M17], [M19] and the KAM result for Kirkhoff and Euler equations in [CM18] and [BM20].

Ringraziamenti

Eccoci arrivati in uno di quei momenti in cui la mia anaffettività deve (e forse vuole) venir meno. In un certo senso penso di non essere pronta a scrivere questa sezione ma la verità è che scriverla per me significa solo realizzare il fatto di dover salutare quella che in 5 anni è diventata la mia casa. Il momento però è arrivato ed è necessario affrontarlo, ed è importante anche ringraziare coloro che mi hanno aiutato e supportato in questo percorso.

Innanzitutto, il primo ringraziamento va naturalmente alla mia relatrice, Michela Procesi. Devo ringraziare la sua fiducia nei miei confronti nell'assegnarmi questa tesi e la sua presenza costante nell'aiutarmi ad affrontarla. Grazie per avermi fatto un po' (poco eh) rivalutare l'algebra, per avermi mostrato quanto veramente sia inutile e talvolta dannoso dividere la matematica in blocchi. Grazie per quelle volte in cui ha capito che qualcosa non andava, e per non aver mai chiesto più di quanto non dicessi.

Poi un ringraziamento importante credo debba andare al gruppo di Sistemi Dinamici; Grazie ai "grandi" del gruppo per averci "adottato" e per averci dato la possibilità di buttare un occhio in quello che fate ogni giorno e forse capire un po' meglio cosa vuol dire fare il ricercatore. Grazie ai "piccoli" per aver condiviso questo esperimento (anche quando l'unica cosa che condividevamo erano reazioni sul quanto non capissimo nulla), grazie per gli scambi e i consigli sui nostri lavori di tesi, grazie per la libertà che ci siamo dati di conoscerci anche in un periodo in cui creare un legame sembrava impossibile e grazie per aver ceduto al mio bisogno di fare team building, anche a costo di perdere la reputazione col mondo (https://sites.google.com/view/dinamici-a-roma-tre/ home?authuser=0).

All'interno di questo gruppo tengo a ringraziare delle persone in particolare.

Grazie Je per tutto il tempo che mi hai donato; Sono sempre stata convinta che non ringraziamo mai abbastanza per il tempo che gli altri ci prestano, non gli diamo l'importanza che merita, e invece ogni singolo minuto è un regalo che ci facciamo e non va preso per scontato. Grazie per avermi accettato come accollino e come amica, grazie per gli scambi, per le confidenze e per la tua acidità usata per combattere le mie paranoie.

Grazie Liv per aver visto quella fiammella e aver deciso che valesse la pena tenerla accesa. Sei arrivata in un periodo per me pessimo e te lo devo veramente.

Grazie Rob per il tuo ruolo centrale nella scrittura di questa tesi. Grazie per essere stato presente durante i miei imparanoiamenti e per aver dato una buona spinta per affrontarli. Grazie per il tuo buttare là profezie che ormai abbiamo capito essere destinate ad accadere. Oggi ti ringrazio come amico, la prossima volta pare che dovrò fare una cosa più formale.

Grazie Matteo per essere stato il mio "fratellino di tesi". Sei stato un importante impulso durante la scrittura. Grazie per aver sempre trovato soluzioni a tutti i problemi che possono comparire scrivendo una tesi e averle condivise anche prima della loro apparizione.

Un altro gruppo importante da ringraziare è di certo il mio coordinameto. Grazie Dani, Cam, Lalla, Sere, Laura, Flavia, Davide, Giacomo, Claudia, Sara e Alex. Grazie della fiducia che mi avete dato come "non-coordinatrice" di questo gruppo, per l'aiuto che date e che darete ogni giorno agli studenti. Credo tanto in voi e nella forza che ognuno di voi possa trarre dal gruppo, come nella forza che il gruppo potrà trarre da ognuna delle vostre uniche storie. Piantare i semi del gruppo è stato importante per me, vederne i frutti da lontano lo sarà egualmente (che poi, ci credo solo io che li vedrò da lontano...). Buon lavoro per la Repubblica Autonoma di Matematia e Fisica. Mantenete alta questa reputazione in ateneo!

Insieme a questo ringraziamento è il caso di fare anche quello a Studenti alla Terza. Ho sempre sostenuto di non farne parte, pure dopo essermi candidata, pure dopo essere diventata parte attiva del gruppo, e pure dopo essermi tesserata...

Grazie di non avermi mai pressata più del dovuto, dell'aver accettato questo mio star dentro ma tirarmi fuori. Prometto che forse un giorno sarò in grado di raccontarvi le motivazioni di questi strani comportamenti. Per ora, grazie solo di avermi accettata così come sono, per quello che potevo dare, a voi e agli altri studenti.

Grazie ad Alessio, a Lorenzo, a Rimon, ai Best di Via Pincherle, a Chiara e a Sara, a tutti gli amici con cui ho condiviso questo camminino dentro Roma Tre, a chi è rimasto e chi è andato via. Siete tutti stati parte importante di questi cinque anni.

Grazie Lollo, per esserci sempre anche a chilometri di distanza.

Infine, grazie alla mia famiglia che forse sta iniziando a capire ora quanto quello che io faccio sia importante e che, nonostante prima non gli fosse troppo chiaro, mi ha comunque sostenuto nel farlo. Grazie anche per aver capito che è il momento per me di uscire dal nido e di supportarmi anche in questa importante decisione.

Chapter 1 Functional setting

In this chapter we introduce some spaces that we will use along the proofs of chapters 2 and 3. In particular, we will work on scales of Sobolev spaces on the torus $H^s(\mathbb{T}^d)$ and with operators that are linear and bounded between these spaces.

In the first Section we will introduce a first type of operators, the *majortant operators*, that guarantees us a more strong structure. We will also introduce an operator that will behave like the commutator with the derivative.

In the second Section we will introduce the *Decay norm* that we will use in the application on the Airy equation (see the Section 3.2). We will see that this norm satisfies an important property that we will call *tameness*. Then we will generalize this property in the third Section, defining a general class of *"tame" operator*. We will use this space for the second KAM Theorem.

1.1 Space of sequences and majorant operators

We work in the setting of Lipschitz families of linear operators on the scale of Hilbert spaces:

$$\mathbf{h}^s \equiv \mathbf{h}^s(\mathbb{Z}^d) := \left\{ \{u_k\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} : |u|_s^2 := \sum \langle k \rangle^{2s} |u_k|^2 < \infty \right\}, \qquad \langle k \rangle := \max\{|k|, 1\}.$$

Remark 1.1.1. In our notation $h^{s}(\mathbb{Z}^{d})$ is a sequence space contained in $\ell_{2}(\mathbb{Z}^{d}, \mathbb{C})$. Of course working of sequence spaces is equivalent to the usual functions space definitions, provided that one works in the Fourier basis $(e^{ik \cdot \theta})_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{d}}$. This gives the identification

$$(u_k)_{k\in\mathbb{Z}^d}\iff u(\theta)=\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}^d}u_ke^{\mathrm{i}\theta\cdot k}$$

With this notation the norm $|\cdot|_s$ is equivalent to the usual Sobolev norm on functions. **Remark 1.1.2.** If $s > \frac{d}{2}$ the norm $|\cdot|_s$ satisfies the algebra and the tameness properties.

Following the notations on function spaces, given $u, v \in \mathbf{h}^{s}(\mathbb{Z}^{d})$ we denote by uv the convolution of the sequences $(uv)_{k} := \sum_{h \in \mathbb{Z}^{d}} u_{h}v_{k-h}$.

- for $u, v \in \mathbf{h}^s$ $|uv|_s \le |u|_s |v|_s$
- for $s_1 > s > \frac{d}{2}$ and for $u, v \in h^s$ $|uv|_{s_1} \leq c(s)|u|_{s_1}|v|_s + c(s_1)|u|_s|v|_{s_1}$, the constants can be explicitly computed (see [BBM14] and reference therein).

Denoting by $e^{(k)}$ the standard orthonormal basis of $\ell^2(\mathbb{Z}^d) = \mathbf{h}^0(\mathbb{Z}^d)$ (namely $e_{k'}^{(k)} := \delta_{k,k'}$), we may identify an operator with the matrix coefficients $M_k^{k'} := Me^{(k')} \cdot e^{(k)}$, where \cdot denotes the ℓ^2 -scalar product. In the space $\mathcal{L}(\mathbf{h}^s, \mathbf{h}^{s'})$ of bounded linear operators from \mathbf{h}^s to $\mathbf{h}^{s'}$ we use the standard operator norm

$$||M||_{s,s'} := \sup_{|u|_s \le 1} |Mu|_{s'}.$$

Lemma 1.1.3. Let $A \in \mathcal{L}(\mathbf{h}^{s+\beta}, \mathbf{h}^{s+\beta})$ such that $A\partial_x^\beta \in \mathcal{L}(\mathbf{h}^{s+\beta}, \mathbf{h}^{s+\beta})$, then A is smoothing and $A \in \mathcal{L}(\mathbf{h}^s, \mathbf{h}^{s+\beta})$. Moreover

$$||A||_{s,s+\beta} = ||A\partial_x^\beta||_{s+\beta,s+\beta} + ||A||_{s+\beta,s+\beta}$$
(1.1.1)

Definition 1.1.4. Given an infinite matrix M we define its majorant matrix \underline{M} as¹

$$(\underline{M})_k^{k'} := |M_k^{k'}| \,.$$

Definition 1.1.5. We define the space of bounded majorant linear operators as

$$\mathcal{M}(\mathtt{h}^{s},\mathtt{h}^{s'}):=\left\{M\in\mathcal{L}(\mathtt{h}^{s},\mathtt{h}^{s'}) \ \text{ s.t. } \ |M|_{s,s'}<\infty\right\},$$

where

$$|M|_{s,s'} := ||\underline{M}||_{s,s'}.$$

is called majorant operator norm.

Remark 1.1.6. One has that

$$|M|_{s,s'} \ge ||M||_{s,s'}$$

Moreover $\mathcal{M}(\mathbf{h}^{s}, \mathbf{h}^{s'})$ endowed with the norm $|\cdot|_{s,s'}$ is a Banach space.

We have a partial ordering relation i.e.

$$M \preccurlyeq N \Leftrightarrow \underline{M} \preccurlyeq \underline{N} \Leftrightarrow |M_k^{k'}| \le |N_k^{k'}| \ \forall k, k'.$$

Note that

$$M \preccurlyeq N \implies |M|_{s,s'} \le |N|_{s,s'} \,.$$

and that

$$\underline{MN} \preccurlyeq \underline{M} \ \underline{N} = \underline{\underline{M}} \ \underline{\underline{N}} \,.$$

This implies that $\mathcal{M}(h^s, h^s)$ is a Banach algebra, namely

$$|MN|_s \le |M|_s |N|_s \,.$$

¹This is defined in terms of a preferred basis, say the standard ℓ^2 -basis above, on the other hand the other definitions are intrinsic.

Definition 1.1.7. For every $1 \le h \le d$, we define the operator d_h :

$$(M)_k^{k'} \to (\mathbf{d}_h M)_k^{k'} := \mathbf{i}(k_h - k'_h) M_k^{k'}$$

and the operator $\langle \mathbf{d}_h \rangle$

$$(M)_k^{k'} \to (\langle \mathbf{d}_h \rangle M)_k^{k'} := \langle k_h - k_h' \rangle M_k^{k'}$$

Remark 1.1.8. *i.* $d_h M = -ad(\partial_h)M = [\partial_h, M]^2$, $\partial_h := diag_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} i k_h$.

- ii. Note that it is in general not true that d_h maps bounded matrices into bounded matrices.
- iii. Note that d_h satisfies the Leibniz rule

$$\mathbf{d}_h(MN) = \mathbf{d}_h(M)N + M\mathbf{d}_h(N) \,.$$

- iv. Note that $\underline{M} \preceq \langle \mathbf{d} \rangle \underline{M} = \langle \mathbf{d} \rangle M$
- v. Note that $\langle d \rangle A \preceq \underline{A} + \sum_h \underline{d}_h A$

Let us finally denote by d_h^b the composition of d_h with itself b times

$$(\mathbf{d}_{h}^{b}M)_{k}^{k'} = \mathrm{i}^{b}(k_{h} - k'_{h})^{b}M_{k}^{k'}.$$

and in the same way

$$(\langle \mathbf{d}_h \rangle^b M)_k^{k'} = \langle k_h - k'_h \rangle^b M_k^{k'}$$

iv and *v* of remark 1.1.8 hold also for d_h^b .

We now state a crucial result that allows to move from the majorant norm to the operator norm. The proof of that result is the Appendix.

Proposition 1.1.9. (L. Biasco) Let $A, \mathbf{d}_h^\beta A \in \mathcal{L}(\mathbf{h}^s, \mathbf{h}^{s'})$ for every $1 \le h \le d$, and

$$\beta := [d/2] + 1 \,,$$

then $A \in \mathcal{M}(h^{s}, h^{s'})$ (i.e. $\underline{A} \in \mathcal{L}(h^{s}, h^{s'})$) and

$$|A|_{s,s'} \le ||A||_{s,s'} + c_d \sum_{1 \le h \le d} ||\mathbf{d}_h^\beta A||_{s,s'} \le C_d (||A||_{s,s'+\beta} + ||A||_{s-\beta,s'}),$$
(1.1.2)

for a suitable $c_d, C_d > 1$.

Lemma 1.1.10. For $b, n \ge 1$ and $1 \le h \le d$, we have the following estimates

$$|\mathrm{ad}(A)^n B|_{s,s} \leq 2^n |A|^n_{s,s} |B|_{s,s},$$
 (1.1.3)

$$|\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b}[A,B]|_{s,s} \leq 2^{b+1}(|\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b}A|_{s,s}|B|_{s,s} + |A|_{s,s}|\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b}B|_{s,s}), \qquad (1.1.4)$$

$$\frac{|\langle d \rangle^{b} a d(A)^{n} B|_{s,s}}{d A} \leq 2^{n(b+1)} (n |\langle d \rangle^{b} A|_{s,s} |A|_{s,s}^{n-1} |B|_{s,s} + |A|_{s,s}^{n} |\langle d \rangle^{b} B|_{s,s}) \quad (1.1.5)$$

²We denote $\operatorname{ad}(A)B := [B, A].$

Proof. We have that

$$|[A,B]|_{s,s} \le 2|A|_{s,s}|B|_{s,s}$$

then (1.1.3) follows by induction over n. (1.1.4) follows by

$$|k_h - k'_h|^b |\sum_j A^j_k B^{k'}_j| \le \sum_{j:|k_h - j_h| \le |j_h - k'_h|} (2|j_h - k'_h|)^b |A^j_k| |B^{k'}_j| + \sum_{j:|k_h - j_h| \ge |j_h - k'_h|} (2|k_h - j_h|)^b |A^j_k| |B^{k'}_j|.$$

Finally (1.1.5) follows by induction over n, (1.1.3) and (1.1.4).

Definition 1.1.11. We define the projections³

$$(\Pi_K M)_k^{k'} := \begin{cases} M_k^{k'} & \text{if } |k - k'| \le K \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases} \qquad \Pi_K^{\perp} = \mathbb{I} - \Pi_K .$$

Note that

$$\Pi_K M, \ \Pi_K^{\perp} M \ \preccurlyeq \ M \,. \tag{1.1.6}$$

Lemma 1.1.12. Let $K \in \mathbb{N}$, then

$$|\Pi_K^{\perp} M|_{s,s'} \le K^{-1} |\mathbf{d}M|_{s,s'}.$$

Proof. We have that

$$\Pi_K^{\perp} M \preccurlyeq K^{-1} \sum_{h=1}^d \underline{\mathbf{d}}_h M \,.$$

Lipschitz families of matrices Given $\xi \in \mathcal{O}$ compact set of \mathbb{R}^n , we consider a Lipschitz family $\mathcal{O} \ni \xi \mapsto M(\xi)$ of bounded operators and for $\gamma \ge 0$,.

Definition 1.1.13. We define the Lipschitz norm

$$|M|_{s,s'}^{\operatorname{lip},\mathcal{O}} := \sup_{\xi \neq \eta \in \mathcal{O}} \frac{|M(\xi) - M(\eta)|_{s,s'}}{|\xi - \eta|}$$

and the weighted Lipschitz norms

$$|M|_{s,s'}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}} := \sup_{\xi \in \mathcal{O}} |M(\xi)|_{s,s'} + \gamma \sup_{\xi \neq \eta \in \mathcal{O}} \frac{|M(\xi) - M(\eta)|_{s,s'}}{|\xi - \eta|}$$

By $\|\cdot\|_{s,s'}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}}$ we shall define the weighted Lipschitz norm corresponding to the usual operator norm $\|\cdot\|_{s,s'}$.

Remark 1.1.14. By definition we immediately have that the weighted Lipschitz norm satisfies the same bounds of Lemma 1.1.10.

 $^{^{3}}$ This is an *intrinsic* definition.

Lemma 1.1.15. (Monotonicity of the norm $|\cdot|_{s,s'}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}}$).

$$M_{1} > M_{2} \implies |A|_{s,s'}^{\frac{\gamma}{M_{1}},\mathcal{O}} < |A|_{s,s'}^{\frac{\gamma}{M_{2}},\mathcal{O}}$$

$$\gamma_{1} > \gamma_{2} \implies |A|_{s,s'}^{\frac{\gamma_{1}}{M},\mathcal{O}} > |A|_{s,s'}^{\frac{\gamma_{1}}{M},\mathcal{O}}$$

$$\mathcal{O}_{1} \subset \mathcal{O}_{2} \implies |A|_{s,s'}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}_{1}} > |A|_{s,s'}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}_{2}}$$

As the same way we define the weighted lipschitz norms for lipiscitz functions $f(\xi) \in h^s$

$$|f|_{s}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}} := \sup_{\xi \in \mathcal{O}} |f(\xi)|_{s,s'} + \gamma \sup_{\xi \neq \eta \in \mathcal{O}} \frac{|f(\xi) - f(\eta)|_{s,s'}}{|\xi - \eta|}.$$

1.2 Decay Norm

We now introduce a special class of linear operators with "off-diagonal" decay. We shall prove that this property guarantees the boundness in majorant norm and some "tame estimates".

This space of operators is defined by the s-decay norm defined as follow:

$$|A|_{s}^{\operatorname{dec}} := \left(\sum_{h \in \mathbb{Z}^{d}} \langle h \rangle^{2s} \sup_{i-j=h} |A_{i}^{j}|^{2}\right)^{1/2} .$$

$$(1.2.1)$$

Note that

$$|\underline{A}|_s^{\mathrm{dec}} = |A|_s^{\mathrm{dec}}.$$

In the following Lemma we prove that the decay norm control the majorant norm introduced in the previous Section.

Lemma 1.2.1. For $A \in \mathcal{M}(h^s, h^s)$ we have that

$$|A|_{s,s} \le C(s)|A|_s^{\text{dec}}$$
. (1.2.2)

Proof. Let $\mathbf{a} \in \mathbf{h}^s$ with $\mathbf{a}_h := \sup_{i-j=h} |A_i^j|$. Note that $|\mathbf{a}|_s = |A|_s^{\text{dec.}}$. Given $u \in \mathbf{h}^s$, define $\underline{u} \in \mathbf{h}^s$ through $\underline{u}_h := |u_h|$. Note that $|\underline{u}|_s = |u|_s$. Then

$$|Au|_s^2 = \sum_i \langle i \rangle^{2s} \left| \sum_j A_i^j u_j \right|^2 \le \sum_i \langle i \rangle^{2s} \left| \sum_j \mathbf{a}_{i-j} \underline{u}_j \right|^2 = |\mathbf{a}\underline{u}|_s^2 \le (C(s)|\mathbf{a}|_s|\underline{u}|_s)^2$$

since h^s is a Banach algebra when s > d/2, see Remark 1.1.2.

Informally a matrix with bounded decay norm is a linear operator which can be "well approxiamted" by the multiplication operator $M_a : u \mapsto au$ according to the definitions of Remark 1.1.2. Using the Fourier series to identify \mathbf{h}^s with H^s , the operator is $u(\theta) \mapsto a(\theta)u(\theta)$, where $a(\theta) \in H^s$ is the function associated to the sequence $a \in \mathbf{h}^s$.

Remark 1.2.2. Note that by the reasoning above, given $v \in \mathbf{h}^s$ with s > d/2, the multiplication operator $M_v: u \mapsto vu$ is bounded in decay norm with

$$|M_v|_s^{\mathrm{dec}} = |v|_s \,.$$

Let us define the Lipschitz decay norm

$$|M|_{s}^{\mathrm{dec,lip},\mathcal{O}} := \sup_{\xi \neq \eta \in \mathcal{O}} \frac{|M(\xi) - M(\eta)|_{s}^{\mathrm{dec}}}{|\xi - \eta|}$$

and the weighted Lipschitz decay norms

$$|M|_s^{\operatorname{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}} := \sup_{\xi\in\mathcal{O}} |M(\xi)|_s^{\operatorname{dec}} + \gamma \sup_{\xi\neq\eta\in\mathcal{O}} \frac{|M(\xi) - M(\eta)|_s^{\operatorname{dec}}}{|\xi - \eta|}$$

The following is a technical Lemma with the properties of the s-decay norm. The proof can be found in the Appendix of [BBM14].

Lemma 1.2.3. Let $s_0 > \frac{d}{2}$

- *i.* Alegebra $|MN|_{s_0}^{\operatorname{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}} \leq C(s_0)|M|_{s_0}^{\operatorname{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_0}^{\operatorname{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}$ for all $M, N \in \mathcal{M}(h^{s_0}, h^{s_0})$
- ii. Interpolation For $s > s_0$ one has for all $M, N \in \mathcal{M}(h^{s_0}, h^{s_0})$

$$|MN|_{s}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}} \leq C(s)|M|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}} + C(s_{0})|M|_{s}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|N|_{s_{0}}^$$

- *iii.* Smoothing For b > 0 one has $|\Pi_K^{\perp} M|_s^{\operatorname{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}} \leq K^{-b} |M|_{s+b}^{\operatorname{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}$
- *iv.* Tameness $|\langle d \rangle^b A|_s^{\text{dec}} \leq |A|_{s+b}^{\text{dec}}$

Definition 1.2.4. We say that a scale of Banach algebras $(\mathcal{B}_s, |\cdot|_s)$ satisfies the (asymmetric) tameness product property, if for $s > s_0$

$$|AB|_{s} \le C(s_{0})|A|_{s}|B|_{s_{0}} + C(s)|A|_{s_{0}}|B|_{s} \quad \forall A, B \in \mathcal{B}.$$

Lemma 1.2.5. Let's consider a Banach algebra \mathcal{B}_s of operators with the (asymmetric) tameness product property as above. Then for all $k \geq 2$ one has

$$|A^{k}|_{s_{0}} \leq (2C(s_{0}))^{k-1} |A|_{s_{0}}^{k}$$
$$|A^{k}|_{s} \leq kC(s)(2C(s_{0}))^{k-2} |A|_{s_{0}}^{k-1} |A|_{s}$$

Proof. Both follow by induction on k and from the properties of the decay norm. \Box

The tame product property has the following very important property w.r.t. totally convergent power series .

Lemma 1.2.6. Under the hypotheses of the previous Lemma, given a complex sequence $\{m_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ and $A \in \mathcal{B}_s$ with

$$|A|_{s_0} < \frac{1}{2C(s_0)} \liminf_k |m_k|^{-\frac{1}{k}},$$

we have that there $exists^4$

$$B := \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} m_k A^k \,.$$

Moreover

$$|B|_{s} \le |m_{0}| + C(s)|A|_{s} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} |m_{k}| \ k(2C(s_{0})|A|_{s_{0}})^{k-1} < \infty.$$

Lemma 1.2.7. The spaces of linear operators $\mathbf{h}^s \to \mathbf{h}^s$ with bounded s-decay norm form a scale of Banach algebras with the tame product property, with C(s) equal to the constants c(s) in Remark 1.1.2.

1.2.1 Töplitz in time Operator

In view of the application of the Theorem 3, we introduce a special class of operators which behave as multiplication operators w.r.t. the "time variables" $\varphi \in \mathbb{T}^{d-1}$.

Definition 1.2.8. We say that an operator P is Töplitz in time if for all $h \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}$ one has

$$P_k^{k'} = P_{(l,j)}^{(l',j')} = P_{(l+h,j)}^{(l'+h,j')} \qquad k = (l,j) \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1} \times \mathbb{Z}$$

or equivalently if it can be written in the form

$$P_k^{k'} = \mathcal{P}_j^{j'}(l-l'), \qquad k = (l,j) \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1} \times \mathbb{Z}.$$

The two definitions are equivalent by just setting $\mathcal{P}_{j}^{j'}(l) := P_{(l,j)}^{(0,j')}$ for all $l \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}$, indeed $\mathcal{P}_{j}^{j'}(l-l') = P_{(l-l',j)}^{(0,j')} = P_{(l,j)}^{(l',j')}$ (by using the first definition with h = l'). In the following Lemma we provide an example of an operator töplitz both in space and time.

Lemma 1.2.9 (Multiplication operator). Let $V = \sum_k V_k e_k$. The multiplication operator $h \mapsto Vh$ is represented by the Töplitz matrix $T_j^{j'} = V_{j-j'}$ and

$$|T|_s^{\mathrm{dec}} = |V|_s \; .$$

Moreover if, given $\xi \in \mathcal{O}$, $V(\xi)$ is a Lipschitz family of functions, then

$$|T|_s^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}} = |V|_s^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}}$$

⁴The series converges in the norm of \mathcal{B}_s in the sense that there exists $\lim_{n\to\infty}\sum_{k=0}^n m_k A^k$.

An example of a Töplitz in time operator is then for instance an operator of the form TA where T is defined in the Lemma above, while A is "time independent" in the sense that $A_k^{k'}$ does not depend on the indexes l, l'.

Note that if \mathcal{P} is a Töplitz in time operator with finite decay norm then:

$$|\mathcal{P}|_{s}^{\text{dec}} = \left(\sum_{l \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}, j \in \mathbb{Z}} \langle l, j \rangle^{2s} \sup_{j_{1} - j_{2}' = j} |\mathcal{P}_{j_{1}}^{j_{2}'}(l)|^{2}\right)^{1/2}$$

Remark 1.2.10. We can identify the matrix P with a one-parameter family of operators acting on $h^{s}(\mathbb{Z})$ depending on the angle φ , namely

$$\mathcal{P}_{j}^{j'}(\varphi) = \sum_{h \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}} \mathcal{P}_{j}^{j'}(h) e^{ih \cdot \varphi}$$

This means that \mathcal{P} is a map from \mathbb{T}^{d-1} to $\mathcal{M}(h^s(\mathbb{Z}), h^s(\mathbb{Z}))$ where

$$\mathbf{h}^s(\mathbb{Z}) := \left\{ (u_j)_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} : |u|_s^2 := \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \langle j \rangle^{2s} |u_j|^2 < \infty \right\}.$$

Conversely, if we consider a sufficiently regular map \mathcal{A} from \mathbb{T}^{d-1} to $\mathcal{M}(\mathbf{h}^{s}(\mathbb{Z}), \mathbf{h}^{s}(\mathbb{Z}))$, we can always associate to it a Töplitz in time operator \mathcal{A} acting on $\mathcal{M}(\mathbf{h}^{s}(\mathbb{Z}^{d}), \mathbf{h}^{s}(\mathbb{Z}^{d}))$.

We have hence shown that the space of the (sufficiently regular) maps from \mathbb{T}^{d-1} to $\mathcal{M}(\mathbf{h}^{s}(\mathbb{Z}), \mathbf{h}^{s}(\mathbb{Z}))$ is identified with the subspace of $\mathcal{M}(\mathbf{h}^{s}(\mathbb{Z}^{d}), \mathbf{h}^{s}(\mathbb{Z}^{d}))$. We denote this by $\mathcal{P} \iff P$

Moreover the following Lemma holds:

Lemma 1.2.11. Consider P as above and define $N_s(\varphi) := |\mathcal{P}(\varphi)|_{s,s}$ to be the majorant operator norm of $\mathcal{P}(\varphi)$ on $h^s(\mathbb{Z})$. One has

$$\sup_{\varphi \in \mathbb{T}^{d-1}} |\mathcal{P}(\varphi)|_{s,s} \le |P|_s^{\mathrm{dec}}, \quad |N_s(\varphi)|_{H^{s_1}(\mathbb{T}^{d-1})} \le |P|_{s+s_1}^{\mathrm{dec}}$$

Note that if for every φ the operator $\mathcal{A}(\varphi)$ is invertible, then the associated operator A is invertible and $\mathcal{A}^{-1} \iff \mathcal{A}^{-1}$.

Remark 1.2.12. A notable property of this identification is behaviour with respect to commutator with time derivatives. For simplicity let us consider the angle φ_1 starting with $\mathcal{L} \leftrightarrow \mathcal{L}$. Define $N := [\partial_{\varphi_1}, L]$. An explicit computation give

$$N_{(j,l)}^{(j',l')} = i(l_1 - l_1')L_{(j,l)}^{(j',l')} = i(l_1 - l_1')\mathcal{L}_j^{j'}(l - l')$$

Hence N is Töplitz in time and N $\leftrightarrow \mathcal{N} = \partial_{\varphi_1} \mathcal{L}$. By linearity this holds for every linear combination of ∂_{φ_i} .

Lemma 1.2.13. The family \mathcal{T} of the Töplitz in time operator is an Algebra.

Let us consider an operator of the form $\Lambda_0 + P_0$ with $\Lambda_0 = \text{diag}\lambda_k^{(0)}$. With the Theorem 5 we prove that there exist a change of variables that diagonalize that operator, namely that there exists L such that in a certain set of parameters

$$U^{-1}(\Lambda_0 + P_0)U = \Lambda_\infty \qquad \Lambda_\infty := \operatorname{diag} \lambda_k^{(\infty)}$$

In view of applications to PDE's we to prove that if the initial eigenvalues $\lambda_k^{(0)}$ are linear respect l^5 as in (10) and the perturbation is Töpliz in time then also the change of variables U is Töplitz in time. To this purpose we need the following technical Lemmata.

Lemma 1.2.14. Let P be a Töplitz in time operator and let λ_k be linear in l. Then A, defined as

$$A_k^{k'} := \frac{P_k^{k'}}{\lambda_k - \lambda_{k'}}$$

is a Töplitz in time operator.

Lemma 1.2.15. Let P be a Töplitz in time operator. Then $\Pi_K P$ is Töplitz in time operator.

Lemma 1.2.16. Let P and Q be a Töplitz in time operators. Then [P, Q] is Töplitz in time operator.

Lemma 1.2.17. Let P be a Töplitz in time operator. Then e^P is Töplitz in time operator.

We omit the proof of this Lemmata since they easly follow by definition.

1.3 A general class of "tame" operators

Now we introduce a further class of operators that satisfies the tame property of Definition 1.2.4, just like the decay norm defined in (1.2.1) but containing a wider class of operators.

We will use this class to prove a diagonalization algorithm in "high norm", namely start from an operator $\Lambda_0 + P_0$ with Λ_0 diagonal and with simple eigenvalues and P_0 with some smallness conditions and assume that it is conjugated to a diagonal form by L, we study the relationship between the regularity of P_0 and the one of L. Note that if we know that P_0 is small in some norm $|\cdot|_s$ then the change of variable U is clearly also bounded in the same norm and the point of the property 1.2.4 is to prove the convergence of the algorithm in high norm by requiring only the smallness condition on the low norm $|\cdot|_{s_0}$. This kind of phenomena can be seen in a simple context, for instance in Lemma 1.2.6. In KAM algorithm to prove such results in high norm one either needs to control P_0 in decay norm or one introduce the class of modulo tame operators.

⁵Recall that we are splitting $k \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ as (l, j) with $l \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}, j \in \mathbb{Z}$

Definition 1.3.1. We say that a linear operator A is *tame* w.r.t. a non-decreasing sequence $\{\mathfrak{M}_A(s)\}_{s=s_0}^{s_1}$ if

$$\|Au\|_{s} \le \mathfrak{M}_{A}(s)\|u\|_{s_{0}} + \mathfrak{M}_{A}(s_{0})\|u\|_{s} \qquad u \in h^{s}, \qquad (1.3.1)$$

for any $s_0 \leq s \leq s_1$. We call $\mathfrak{M}_A(s)$ a TAME CONSTANT for the operator A. We say that a linear operator A is *modulo-tame* if \underline{A} is tame.

Fix $s_0 > d/2$. For $s \ge s_0$ let us consider the Banach space

$$\mathcal{M}_{s_0,s} := \bigcap_{s_0 \le p \le s} \mathcal{M}(\mathtt{h}^p, \mathtt{h}^p) \quad \text{endowed with the norm} \quad |\cdot|_{\mathcal{M}_{s_0,s}} := \sup_{s_0 \le p \le s} |\cdot|_{p,p} \,.$$

Remark 1.3.2. Note that in the definition 1.3.1 we can take as $\mathfrak{M}_{\underline{A}}(s) = \sup_{s_0 \leq s \leq s_1} |A|_{s,s}$ This means that all the operators in \mathcal{M}_{s_0,s_1} are modulo tame.

Since in KAM algorithm we need smallness condition on $\mathfrak{M}_{\underline{A}}(s_0)$, the idea is to look for the "best possible" constants.

The purpose of this Section is to define a class of operator that behave as the modulo tame operators but that form a Banach space.

Note that for $s' \ge s$ we have

$$\mathcal{M}_{s_0,s'} \subseteq \mathcal{M}_{s_0,s} \,, \qquad ext{with} \quad |\cdot|_{\mathcal{M}_{s_0,s}} \leq |\cdot|_{\mathcal{M}_{s_0,s'}} \,,$$

namely a scale of Banach spaces. Moreover every $\mathcal{M}_{s_0,s}$ is a Banach algebra

$$|M_1 M_2|_{\mathcal{M}_{s_0,s}} \le |M_1|_{\mathcal{M}_{s_0,s}} |M_2|_{\mathcal{M}_{s_0,s}}$$

Definition 1.3.3. Fix $s_1 > s_0$, for every $s \ge s_0$ we define the vector space⁶ $E_s = E_{s,s_0,s_1}$ as the space whose elements are the couples

$$A = (M, R) : \quad M \in \mathcal{M}_{s_0, s_1}, \quad R \in \mathcal{M}(\mathbf{h}^{s_0}, \mathbf{h}^s)$$

with finite norm

$$\|(M,R)\|_{s} = \|(M,R)\|_{s,s_{0},s_{1}} := \sup_{s_{0} \le p \le s_{1}} |M|_{p,p} + |R|_{s_{0},s}.$$
(1.3.2)

Remark 1.3.4. Note that E_{s,s_0,s_1} , endowed with the above norm, are scales of Banach spaces:

$$s_{0} \leq s_{0}' < s_{1}' \leq s_{1}, \ s_{0}' \leq s' \leq s \qquad \Longrightarrow \qquad E_{s,s_{0},s_{1}} \subseteq E_{s',s_{0}',s_{1}'}, \quad \|\cdot\|_{s',s_{0}',s_{1}'} \leq \|\cdot\|_{s,s_{0},s_{1}}, \\ s < s' \qquad \Longrightarrow \qquad \|\cdot\|_{s,s_{0},s_{1}} \leq \|\cdot\|_{s',s_{0},s_{1}}, \\ s_{0} < s_{0}' \qquad \Longrightarrow \qquad \|\cdot\|_{s,s_{0},s_{1}} \geq \|\cdot\|_{s,s_{0}',s_{1}}, \\ s_{1} < s_{1}' \qquad \Longrightarrow \qquad \|\cdot\|_{s,s_{0},s_{1}} \leq \|\cdot\|_{s,s_{0},s_{1}'}.$$

⁶With sum $(M_1, R_1) + (M_2, R_2) := (M_1 + M_2, R_1 + R_2)$ and multiplication by a scalar k(M, R) := (kM, kR).

Definition 1.3.5. We define the (associative but non commutative) product

$$(M_1, R_1) \star (M_2, R_2) := (M_1 M_2, M_1 R_2 + R_1 M_2 + R_1 R_2).$$

We denote $A^k := A \star \cdots \star A$, k times, and $\mathbb{I} = (\mathbb{I}, 0)$ as the identity.

Lemma 1.3.6. For $A_1 := (M_1, R_1), A_2 := (M_2, R_2) \in E_s$, we get the tame product property⁷ as in Definition 1.2.4 with constants C(s) = 1:

$$s_0 \le s \le s_1 \qquad \Longrightarrow \qquad \|A_1 \star A_2\|_s \le \|A_1\|_{s_0} \|A_2\|_s + \|A_1\|_s \|A_2\|_{s_0}$$

Proof.

$$\|(M_1, R_1) \star (M_2, R_2)\|_s = \sup_{s_0 \le p \le s_1} |M_1 M_2|_{p,p} + |M_1 R_2 + R_1 M_2 + R_1 R_2|_{s_0,s}$$
$$|R_1|_{s_0,s} |R_2|_{s_0,s_0} + |R_1|_{s_0,s} |M_2|_{s_0,s_0} + |M_1|_{s,s} |R_2|_{s_0,s} + \sup_{s_0 \le p \le s_1} |M_1|_{p,p} |M_2|_{p,p}$$
$$\le \|(R_1, M_1)\|_{s_0} \|(R_2, M_2)\|_s + \|(R_1, M_1)\|_s \|(R_2, M_2)\|_{s_0}$$

In E_s we have a partial ordering

$$(M_1, R_1) \preccurlyeq (M_2, R_2) \Leftrightarrow M_1 \preccurlyeq M_2, \quad R_1 \preccurlyeq R_2.$$

$$(1.3.3)$$

Lemma 1.3.7. For $k \ge 1$ and $s \ge s_0$, we have

$$\|A^k\|_s \le 2^{k-1} \|A\|_{s_0}^{k-1} \|A\|_s \,. \tag{1.3.4}$$

Lemma 1.3.8. Given a complex sequence $\{m_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ and $A \in E_s$, $s \ge s_0$ with

$$\|A\|_{s_0} < \frac{1}{2} \liminf_k |m_k|^{-\frac{1}{k}} \,,$$

we have that there $exists^8$

$$B := \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} m_k A^k$$

Moreover

$$\|B\|_{s} \leq |m_{0}| + \|A\|_{s} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} |m_{k}| \, 2^{k-1} \|A\|_{s_{0}}^{k-1} < \infty \, .$$

⁷In particular this implies that E_{s,s_0,s_1} is a Banach algebra for $s_0 \leq s \leq s_1$. ⁸The series converges in the norm of E_s in the sense that there exists $\lim_{n\to\infty} \sum_{k=0}^n m_k A^k$.

Definition 1.3.9. For $s_0 \leq s \leq s_1$, we define the bounded linear operator $S: E_s = E_{s,s_0,s_1} \to \mathcal{M}_{s_0,s}$ defined as

$$\mathcal{S}(M,R) := M + R.$$

In particular

$$\|S\|_{\mathcal{L}(E_s,\mathcal{M}_{s_0,s})} = 1, \quad \text{for} \quad s_0 \le s \le s_1, \quad (1.3.5)$$

since

$$|\mathcal{S}(M,R)|_{\mathcal{M}_{s_0,s}} = |M+R|_{\mathcal{M}_{s_0,s}} = \sup_{s_0 \le p \le s} |M+R|_{p,p} \le \|(M,R)\|_{s,s_0,s_1}, \quad \text{for } s_0 \le s \le s_1$$

Remark 1.3.10. Note that if $A = \mathcal{S}(A)$ then A is tame modulus, according to Definition 1.3.1, with constants $\mathfrak{M}_A(s) = \|A\|_s$. Indeed setting A = (M, R) we have

$$|Au|_s \le |M|_{s,s}|u|_s + |R|_{s_0,s}|u|_{s_0} \le \sup_{s_0 \le p \le s_1} |M|_{p,p}|u|_s + |R|_{s_0,s}|u|_{s_0} \le \|\mathbf{A}\|_{s_0}|u|_s + \|\mathbf{A}\|_{s}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0} \le \|\mathbf{A}\|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0} \le \|\mathbf{A}\|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0} \le \|\mathbf{A}\|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0} \le \|\mathbf{A}\|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0} \le \|\mathbf{A}\|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{s_0}|u|_{$$

Note that, beside the sum, ${\mathcal S}$ also preserves the product:

$$\mathcal{S}(A \star B) = (\mathcal{S}A) \cdot (\mathcal{S}B). \tag{1.3.6}$$

Remark 1.3.11. By continuity of S,

$$SB = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} m_k (SA)^k.$$
(1.3.7)

Notice that S is not injective.

We remark that since $\mathcal{M}_{s_0,s_1} \cap \mathcal{M}(\mathbf{h}^{s_0},\mathbf{h}^s) \neq \emptyset$, given any operator A in \mathcal{M}_{s_0,s_1} and any $R \in \mathcal{M}_{s_0,s_1} \cap \mathcal{M}(\mathbf{h}^{s_0},\mathbf{h}^s)$ then the operator $(A - R, R) \in E_s$ and $\mathcal{J}(A - R, R) = A$.

1.3.1 Properties of E_s

Recalling the definition of \mathbf{d}_h and of \mathbf{d} in 1.1.7 and the definition of Π_K in 1.1.11, with abuse of notation we define for $A = (M, R) \in E_s$ the operators

$$\mathrm{d}_h A := \left(\mathrm{d}_h M, \mathrm{d}_h R\right), \quad \Pi_K A := \left(\Pi_K M, \Pi_K R\right), \quad \left< \mathrm{d} \right> A := \left(\left< \mathrm{d} \right> M, \left< \mathrm{d} \right> R\right)$$

Lemma 1.3.12. For $A, B \in E_s$ we have the bounds

$$\begin{split} \|\Pi_K^{\perp}A\|_s &\leq K^{-1}\sum_{h=1}^d \|\mathbf{d}_hA\|_s := K^{-1}\|\mathbf{d}A\|_s \\ \|\Pi_K^{\perp}A\|_s &\leq K^{-b}\|\langle\mathbf{d}\rangle^bA\|_s \end{split}$$

Lemma 1.3.13. For any A = (M, R) we define the linear operator $E_s \to E_s$

$$\mathrm{ad}A: B \to A \star B - B \star A$$

Then

$$\begin{split} \|A \star B\|_{s} &\leq \|A\|_{s_{0}} \|B\|_{s} + \|A\|_{s} \|B\|_{s_{0}} \\ \|(\mathrm{adA})B\|_{s} &\leq 2 \Big(\|A\|_{s_{0}} \|B\|_{s} + \|A\|_{s} \|B\|_{s_{0}} \Big) \\ \|(\mathrm{adA})^{k}B\|_{s} &\leq 2^{k} \Big(\|A\|_{s_{0}}^{k} \|B\|_{s} + k\|A\|_{s_{0}}^{k-1} \|A\|_{s} \|A\|_{s_{0}} \Big) \end{split}$$

Set

$$U = \langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^b (\mathrm{ad}A)^k B$$

then U satisfies the bounds

$$\begin{split} \|U\|_{\!s} &\leq 2^{k(b+1)} k \Big(\|\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b} A\|_{\!s} \|A\|_{\!s_{0}}^{k-1} \|B\|_{\!s_{0}} + \|A\|_{\!s} \|A\|_{\!s_{0}}^{k-1} \|\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b} B\|_{\!s_{0}} + \|\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b} A\|_{\!s_{0}} \|A\|_{\!s_{0}}^{k-1} \|B\|_{\!s} \Big) \\ &+ 2^{k(b+1)} \Big(k(k-1) \|A\|_{\!s} \|A\|_{\!s_{0}}^{k-2} \|\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b} A\|_{\!s_{0}} \|B\|_{\!s_{0}} + \|A\|_{\!s_{0}}^{k} \|\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b} B\|_{\!s} \Big) \end{split}$$

The proof of this Lemma is in the Appendix.

Given a Lipschitz family of couples (M, R) we define as usual the weighted Lipschitz norms

$$\|A\|_{s}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}} := \sup_{s_0 \le p \le s_1} |M|_{p,p}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}} + |R|_{s_0,s}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}}$$

where we recall that

$$|A|_{s,s'}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}} := \sup_{\xi\in\mathcal{O}} |A(\xi)|_{s,s'} + \gamma \sup_{\xi\neq\eta\in\mathcal{O}} \frac{|A(\xi) - A(\eta)|_{s,s'}}{|\xi - \eta|}$$

Remark 1.3.14. By definition we immediately have that the weighted Lipschitz norm satisfies the same bounds of Lemma 1.3.13

1.3.2 A "good" decomposition

In this Section we show an example of non trivial operators in SE_s . We indeed show that an element with finite decay norm is in SE_s with a nice control of the norm. Given $L \in \mathcal{M}(\mathbf{h}^s, \mathbf{h}^s)$ we set

$$(L^B)_k^{k'} := \begin{cases} L_k^{k'} & \text{if } |k - k'| < |k|/2 \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases} \quad \text{and} \quad (L^U)_k^{k'} := \begin{cases} L_k^{k'} & \text{if } |k - k'| > |k|/2 \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

The first term is known as the *Bony* part and we will call the second one the *Ultraviolet* part.

For $s \geq s_0$ we have

$$|L^B|_{s,s} \le 2^{s-s_0} |L|_{s_0,s_0}, \qquad |L^U|_{s_0,s} \le 2^s C(s_0) |L|_s^{\text{dec}}.$$
(1.3.8)

Indeed, given $u \in \mathbf{h}^s$ we have

$$\sum_{k} \langle k \rangle^{2s} (\sum_{k':|k-k'| \le |k|/2} |L_k^{k'}| |u_{k'}|)^2 = \sum_{k} \langle k \rangle^{2s_0} (\sum_{k':|k-k'| \le |k|/2} |L_k^{k'}| \langle k \rangle^{s-s_0} |u_{k'}|)^2$$

$$\leq 2^{2(s-s_0)} \sum_{k} \langle k \rangle^{2s_0} (\sum_{k'} |L_k^{k'}| \langle k' \rangle^{s-s_0} |u_{k'}|)^2 = 2^{2(s-s_0)} |L\tilde{u}|_{s_0}^2 \leq 2^{2(s-s_0)} |L|_{s_0,s_0}^2 |\tilde{u}|_{s_0}^2$$

since $|k| \leq 2|k'|$ and defining \tilde{u} as $\tilde{u}_k := \langle k \rangle^{s-s_0} |u_k|$, so that $|\tilde{u}|_{s_0} = |u|_s$. This prove the estimate on L^B .

Given $u \in \mathbf{h}^{s_0}$, by the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{k} \langle k \rangle^{2s} (\sum_{k':|k-k'|>|k|/2} |L_{k}^{k'}||u_{k'}|)^{2} = \sum_{k} (\sum_{k':|k-k'|>|k|/2} \frac{\langle k \rangle^{s}|k-k'|^{s}}{|k-k'|^{s}} |L_{k}^{k'}|\langle k' \rangle^{s_{0}}|u_{k'}|)^{2} \\ &\leq 2^{2s} \sum_{k} (\sum_{k'} \frac{|k-k'|^{s}}{\langle k' \rangle^{s_{0}}} |L_{k}^{k'}|\langle k' \rangle^{s_{0}}|u_{k'}|)^{2} \leq 2^{2s} |u|_{s_{0}}^{2} \sum_{k} \sum_{k'} \frac{|k-k'|^{2s}}{\langle k' \rangle^{2s_{0}}} |L_{k}^{k'}|^{2} \\ &= 2^{2s} |u|_{s_{0}}^{2} \sum_{k'} \frac{1}{\langle k' \rangle^{2s_{0}}} \sum_{k} |k-k'|^{2s} |L_{k}^{k'}|^{2} \leq 2^{2s} |u|_{s_{0}}^{2} \sum_{k'} \frac{1}{\langle k' \rangle^{2s_{0}}} \sum_{k-k'=h} |L_{k}^{k'}|^{2} . \end{split}$$

Lemma 1.3.15. Let $L \in \mathcal{M}(h^s, h^s)$ be an operator with finite s-decay norm, then there exists an operator $A^L \in E_s$ such that $SA^L = L$ and

$$\|A^L\|_{s,s_0,s_1} \le 2^{s_1-s_0} |L|_{s_0,s_0} + 2^s C(s_0) |L|_s^{\text{dec}} \le c(s,s_0,s_1) |L|_s^{\text{dec}}, \qquad (1.3.9)$$

with $c(s, s_0, s_1) := 2^{s_1 - s_0} + 2^s C(s_0)$.

Proof. We set

$$A^L := (L^B, L^U), \quad \text{so that} \quad \mathcal{S}A^L = L.$$

By (1.3.8) and (1.2.2)

$$\|A^{L}\|_{s,s_{0},s_{1}} \leq 2^{s_{1}-s_{0}}|L|_{s_{0},s_{0}} + 2^{s}C(s_{0})|L|_{s}^{\text{dec}} \leq c(s,s_{0},s_{1})|L|_{s}^{\text{dec}}, \qquad (1.3.10)$$

with $c(s, s_0, s_1) := 2^{s_1 - s_0} + 2^s C(s_0)$.

Remark 1.3.16. We expect that the class of operator that are in SE_s is larger than the class of operators with finite decay norm. Indeed, if we consider the operator $\mathbf{c}_{\alpha}\partial_x^{-N}$ as in 4 we are not able to say that it has finite decay norm. On the other hand, we can calculate the modulo tame constant and also show in Lemma 3.3.1 that it is in SE_s . The estimates on these norms are sufficiently sharp to apply the KAM algorithm in "high norm".

Chapter 2

Diagonalization

2.1 Abstract KAM algorithm

Let $n, d \in \mathbb{N}$, consider \mathcal{O}_0 an open set of \mathbb{R}^n , fix $M_0, \gamma > 0$, $s_0 > \frac{d}{2}$ and a lipschitz family of operators of the form

$$\mathcal{O}_0 \ni \xi \mapsto \Lambda_0(\xi) + P_0(\xi) \tag{2.1.1}$$

with the following properties:

- (**H1**) the operator Λ_0 has the form

$$\Lambda_0(\xi) = \operatorname{diag}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d}(\lambda_k^{(0)}(\xi))$$

where $\lambda_k^{(0)}(\xi) \in \mathbb{C}$ for all $k \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ and

- 1. $\lambda_k^{(0)} \neq \lambda_h^{(0)}$ for all $k \neq h$
- 2. $|\lambda_h \lambda_k|^{\text{lip},\mathcal{O}_0} \leq M_0 |h k|$ where we recall that, given f lipschitz function, $|f|^{\text{lip},\mathcal{O}} := \sup_{\xi \neq \eta \in \mathcal{O}} \frac{|f(\xi) - f(\eta)|}{|\xi - \eta|}.$
- (**H2**) the operator $\langle d \rangle^b P_0 \in \mathcal{M}(\mathbf{h}^{s_0}, \mathbf{h}^{s_0})$ for some $b \ge 1$.

Recalling Definition 1.1.7, we define

$$\delta_0 := \gamma^{-1} |\langle \mathsf{d} \rangle^b P_0|_{s_0, s_0}^{\frac{1}{M}, \mathcal{O}_0} \tag{2.1.2}$$

which is finite by (H2) and

$$\varepsilon_0 := \gamma^{-1} |P_0|_{s_0, s_0}^{\frac{\gamma}{M}, \mathcal{O}_0}$$
(2.1.3)

which is finite and bounded by δ_0 by Remark 1.1.8 item *iv*.

Theorem 5. Fix $\tau > d - 1$ and $b > 4\tau + 2$. Consider an operator of the form (2.1.1) such that (H1) and (H2) hold. Recalling the definitions (2.1.2), (2.1.3), there exists $\varepsilon_{\star} = \varepsilon_{\star}(d, \tau, s_0, M_0, \delta_0)$ such that if

 $\varepsilon_0 \leq \varepsilon_\star$

then there exist Lipschitz functions $\lambda_j^{(\infty)}(\xi)$ defined for $\xi \in \mathcal{O}_0$ such that for any ξ in the set

$$\mathcal{C} := \{ \xi \in \mathcal{O}_0 : |\lambda_k^{(\infty)} - \lambda_{k'}^{(\infty)}| > 2\gamma |k - k'|^{-\tau} \quad 0 < |k - k'| \}$$
(2.1.4)

 $\Lambda^{(0)} + P_0$ is diagonalizable in h^{s_0} , namely there exists a constant $\mathfrak{C} = \mathfrak{C}(\tau, b)$ and a linear invertible change of variables $U(\xi)$ such that

$$|U - \mathbb{I}|_{s_0, s_0}^{\gamma, \mathcal{C}} \leq \mathfrak{C}\varepsilon_0 \,,$$

and

$$U^{-1}(\Lambda_0 + P_0)U = \Lambda^{(\infty)} := \operatorname{diag}(\lambda_k^{(\infty)})$$

Proof of the Theorem 1. By the first inequality of Lemma 1.1.9, the smallness condition of Theorem 1 implies the one of the Theorem 5, of course provided that ϵ_{\star} is small enough. The lower bound on b_1 comes from the corresponding one on b.

Remark 2.1.1. Observe that A priori the Cantor set C in (2.1.4) could be empty. For example, if the operator (2.1.1) does not satisfies the hypothesis (H1.1) then C is empty.

The proof of this Theorem is based on the following iteration

KAM reduction procedure Fix any $K \gg 1$ and consider any operator of the form

$$\Lambda(\xi) + P(\xi), \qquad \Lambda(\xi) = \operatorname{diag}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} \lambda_k(\xi) \tag{2.1.5}$$

with Λ defined for $\xi \in \mathcal{O}_0$ and P defined in some compact set $\mathcal{O} \subseteq \mathcal{O}_0$. Fix M so that

$$|\lambda_h - \lambda_k|^{\text{lip},\mathcal{O}_0} \le M|h-k| \tag{2.1.6}$$

and assume that P satisfies

$$\gamma^{-1} K^{2\tau+1} |P|_{s_0,s_0}^{\underline{\gamma},\mathcal{O}} < 2^{-4b}.$$
(2.1.7)

Let

$$\mathcal{O}_{\Lambda}^{(K)} := \{ \xi \in \mathcal{O}_0 : |\lambda_k(\xi) - \lambda_{k'}(\xi)| > \gamma \left\langle k - k' \right\rangle^{-\tau}, \quad 0 < |k - k'| \le K \}$$

and fix $\mathcal{O}^+ = \mathcal{O}^{(K)}_{\Lambda} \cap \mathcal{O}$.

We look for a solution \mathcal{A} of the *homological* equation

$$[\Lambda, A] + \Pi_K P = [P], \qquad [P] := \operatorname{diag}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} P_k^k \tag{2.1.8}$$

Starting from the operator in (2.1.5), we want to consider the change of variables generated by A, solution of the homological equation, and we want to determinate the conjugated operator. To do this we need to prove that A is well defined and bounded,

that it generates a change of variables $Q = e^A$ and look what we obtain when we conjugate. We will obtain an operator of the form

$$Q^{-1}(\Lambda + P)Q =: \Lambda^+(\xi) + P^+(\xi)$$

where Λ^+ will by define for $\xi \in \mathcal{O}^+ \subseteq \mathcal{O}_0$ while P^+ will be of smaller norm. Since we want that the new diagonal part is again defined on all \mathcal{O}_0 , we will do an extension using the Kiertzbraun Theorem¹.

Lemma 2.1.2 (Homological Equation). For all $\xi \in \mathcal{O}^+$ there exists a unique solution A of the (2.1.8). Moreover, A is majorant analytic with the bounds:

$$|A|_{s_0,s_0}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}^+} \le \gamma^{-1} K^{2\tau+1} |P|_{s_0,s_0}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}}, \qquad |\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^b A|_{s_0,s_0}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}^+} \le \gamma^{-1} K^{2\tau+1} (|\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^b \mathcal{P}|_{s_0,s_0}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}})$$
(2.1.9)

Proof. Since $\Lambda = \operatorname{diag}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} \lambda_k$ we have $[\Lambda, A]_k^{k'} = (\lambda_k - \lambda_{k'})A_k^{k'}$ and (2.1.8) amounts to

$$(\lambda_k - \lambda_{k'})A_k^{k'} = P_k^{k'} - \Pi_K P_k^{k'}$$

whose solution is

$$A_k^{k'} = \begin{cases} \frac{\mathcal{P}_k^{k'}}{\lambda_k - \lambda_{k'}} & 0 < |k - k'| \le K\\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

The estimates are obvious from the definitions, indeed for a = 0, b

$$\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^a A \preccurlyeq \gamma^{-1} K^\tau \langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^a P , \qquad \langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^a \Delta_\xi A \preccurlyeq \gamma^{-1} K^\tau \langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^a \Delta_\xi P + \gamma^{-2} M K^{2\tau+1} \langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^a P .$$
(2.1.10)

where by $\Delta_{\xi} f$ we denote the variation in $\xi \in \mathcal{O}$, i.e

$$\Delta_{\xi} f = \frac{|f(\xi) - f(\eta)|}{|\xi - \eta|}, \quad \eta \in \mathcal{O}$$
(2.1.11)

Having proved that $A \in \mathcal{M}(\mathbf{h}^{s_0}, \mathbf{h}^{s_0})$ for all $\xi \in \mathcal{O}^+$, we consider $Q := e^A$, which is invertible and in $\mathcal{M}(\mathbf{h}^{s_0}, \mathbf{h}^{s_0})$. The following Lemma gives the properties of the conjugated operator.

Lemma 2.1.3 (KAM step). Under the hypothesis and the notations of the KAM reduction procedure described above, the following holds:

- The change of variables $Q := e^A$ is well defined and invertible as a majorant bounded operator from H^{s_0} to itself, with the bounds

$$|Q - \mathbb{I}|_{s_0, s_0}^{\frac{\gamma}{M}, \mathcal{O}^+} \le 2|A|_{s_0, s_0}^{\frac{\gamma}{M}, \mathcal{O}^+}$$
(2.1.12)

¹See in the Appendix 7

- There exists a diagonal operator $\Lambda^+(\xi)$ defined for $\xi \in \mathcal{O}_0$ such that for $\xi \in \mathcal{O}$,

$$\sup_{k} |\lambda_k - \lambda_k^+|_{\overline{M}}^{\underline{\gamma}}, \mathcal{O}_0 \le |\mathcal{P}|_{s_0, s_0}^{\underline{\gamma}}$$

$$(2.1.13)$$

where $\Lambda^+(\xi) = \operatorname{diag} \lambda_k^+(\xi)$, such that setting for $\xi \in \mathcal{O}^+$

$$Q^{-1} (\Lambda(\xi) + P(\xi)) Q =: \Lambda^{+}(\xi) + P^{+}(\xi)$$

- The following bounds hold

$$|\lambda_h^+ - \lambda_k^+|^{\text{lip},\mathcal{O}_0} \le M_+ |h-k|, \quad M_+ := M(1 + 2\gamma^{-1} |P|_{s_0,s_0}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}})$$
(2.1.14)

$$|P^{+}|_{s_{0},s_{0}}^{\frac{\gamma}{M^{+}},\mathcal{O}^{+}} \leq 4\gamma^{-1}K^{2\tau+1}(|P|_{s_{0},s_{0}}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}})^{2} + K^{-b}|\langle \mathsf{d} \rangle^{b}P|_{s_{0},s_{0}}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}}$$
(2.1.15)

$$|\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b} P^{+}|_{s_{0},s_{0}}^{\frac{\gamma}{M}^{+},\mathcal{O}^{+}} \leq |\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b} P|_{s_{0},s_{0}}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}} + 2^{4b} \gamma^{-1} K^{2\tau+1} |P|_{s_{0},s_{0}}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}} |\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b} P|_{s_{0},s_{0}}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}}$$
(2.1.16)

Proof. The first statement comes from the definition of Q and the bound (2.1.7). By definition, recalling the Lemma A.4.1, for all $\xi \in \mathcal{O}^+$

$$\begin{split} \Lambda^+ + P^+ &= e^{[\cdot,A]} \left(\Lambda + P\right) = \Lambda + P + \left[\Lambda + P, A\right] + \sum_{k \ge 2} \frac{\operatorname{ad}(A)^k}{k!} (\Lambda + P) \\ &= \Lambda + P + \left[\Lambda, A\right] + \left[P, A\right] + \sum_{k \ge 2} \frac{\operatorname{ad}(A)^k}{k!} \Lambda + \sum_{k \ge 2} \frac{\operatorname{ad}(A)^k}{k!} P \\ &= \Lambda + P + \left[\Lambda, A\right] + \sum_{k \ge 1} \frac{\operatorname{ad}(A)^k}{(k+1)!} [\Lambda, A] + \sum_{k \ge 1} \frac{\operatorname{ad}(A)^k}{k!} P \,. \end{split}$$

Recalling that A solves the homological equation (2.1.8)

$$[\Lambda, A] = \Pi_K P - [\Pi_K P], \qquad [M]_k^{k'} := \delta_{k,k'} M_k^{k'},$$

for all $\xi \in \mathcal{O}^+$, we obtain

$$e^{[\cdot,A]}(\Lambda+P) = \Lambda + P + [P] - \Pi_K P + \sum_{k \ge 1} \frac{\operatorname{ad}(A)^k}{(k+1)!} (\Pi_K P - [\Pi_K P]) + \sum_{k \ge 1} \frac{\operatorname{ad}(A)^k}{k!} P$$

Now we set

$$P^{+} := \Pi_{K}^{\perp} P + \sum_{k \ge 1} \frac{\operatorname{ad}(A)^{k}}{k!} P - \sum_{k \ge 2} \frac{\operatorname{ad}(A)^{k-1}}{k!} (\Pi_{K} P - [\Pi_{K} P]).$$
(2.1.17)

It remains to define Λ_+ . For $\xi \in \mathcal{O}^+$ we get directly $\lambda_k^+ = \lambda_k + (P_k^k)$. By Kirtzbraun's Theorem we extend P_k^k (which is defined only in \mathcal{O}) to \mathcal{O}_0 preserving the norm $\|\cdot\|_{\overline{M}}^{\gamma}, \mathcal{O}$. We set $\lambda_k^+ := \lambda_k + (P_k^k)^{\text{ext}}$. This proves (2.1.13), indeed by the definition of λ^+

$$\sup_{k} |\lambda - \lambda^{+}|^{\frac{\gamma}{M}, \mathcal{O}_{0}} = \sup_{k} |(P_{k}^{k})^{\text{est}}|^{\frac{\gamma}{M}, \mathcal{O}_{0}} = \sup_{k} |P_{k}^{k}|^{\frac{\gamma}{M}, \mathcal{O}} \le |P|^{\frac{1}{M}, \mathcal{O}}_{s_{0}, s_{0}}.$$
and, with abuse of notation, calling Λ^+ also the operator after the extension

$$\Lambda^+ = \Lambda + [P]^{\text{ext}}.$$

The bounds on the Lipschitz variation of λ_k^+ follow directly. From the definition on P and from the Lemma 1.1.10 we obtain the following estimates

$$\begin{split} |P^{+}|_{s_{0},s_{0}}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}^{+}} &\leq K^{-b}|\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b}P|_{s_{0},s_{0}}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}} + \sum_{k\geq 1} \frac{(2|A|_{s_{0},s_{0}}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}^{+}})^{k}}{k!} |P|_{s_{0},s_{0}}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}} + \sum_{k\geq 2} \frac{(2|A|_{s_{0},s_{0}}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}^{+}})^{k-1}}{k!} |P|_{s_{0},s_{0}}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}^{+}} \\ &\leq K^{-b}|\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b}P|_{s_{0},s_{0}}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}} + 2|A|_{s_{0},s_{0}}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}^{+}} \left(\sum_{k\geq 1} (2|A|_{s_{0},s_{0}}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}^{+}})^{k-1} (\frac{1}{k!} + \frac{1}{(k+1)!})\right) |P|_{s_{0},s_{0}}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}} \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} |\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b} P^{+} |_{s_{0,s_{0}}^{\overline{M}}, \mathcal{O}^{+}} &\leq |\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b} P|_{s_{0,s_{0}}^{\overline{M}}, \mathcal{O}^{+}} \\ &+ \sum_{k \geq 1} \frac{2^{k(b+1)}}{k!} \left(k |\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b} A|_{s_{0,s_{0}}^{\overline{M}}, \mathcal{O}^{+}} (|A|_{s_{0,s_{0}}^{\overline{M}}, \mathcal{O}^{+}})^{k-1} |P|_{s_{0,s_{0}}^{\overline{M}}, \mathcal{O}^{+}} (|A|_{s_{0,s_{0}}^{\overline{M}}, \mathcal{O}^{+}})^{k} |\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b} P|_{s_{0,s_{0}}^{\overline{M}}, \mathcal{O}^{-}} \right) \\ &+ \sum_{k \geq 1} \frac{2^{k(b+1)}}{(k+1)!} \left(k |\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b} A|_{s_{0,s_{0}}^{\overline{M}}, \mathcal{O}^{+}} (|A|_{s_{0,s_{0}}^{\overline{M}}, \mathcal{O}^{+}})^{k-1} |P|_{s_{0,s_{0}}^{\overline{M}}, \mathcal{O}^{+}} (|A|_{s_{0,s_{0}}^{\overline{M}}, \mathcal{O}^{+}})^{k} |\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b} P|_{s_{0,s_{0}}^{\overline{M}}, \mathcal{O}^{-}} \right) \\ &\leq 2^{b+1} |\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b} A|_{s_{0,s_{0}}^{\overline{M}}, \mathcal{O}^{+}} \left(\sum_{k \geq 1} (2^{b+1} A|_{s_{0,s_{0}}^{\overline{M}}, \mathcal{O}^{+}})^{k-1} (\frac{1}{(k-1)!} + \frac{k}{(k+1)!}) \right) |P|_{s_{0,s_{0}}^{\overline{M}}, \mathcal{O}^{-}} \\ &+ 2^{b+1} |A|_{s_{0,s_{0}}^{\overline{M}}, \mathcal{O}^{+}} \left(\sum_{k \geq 1} (2^{b+1} A|_{s_{0,s_{0}}^{\overline{M}}, \mathcal{O}^{+}})^{k-1} (\frac{1}{k!} + \frac{1}{(k+1)!}) \right) |\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b} P|_{s_{0,s_{0}}^{\overline{M}}, \mathcal{O}^{-}} \\ &\leq 2^{b+1} \gamma^{-1} K^{\tau} |\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b} P|_{s_{0,s_{0}}^{\overline{M}}} |P|_{s_{0,s_{0}}^{\overline{M}}, \mathcal{O}^{-}} \sum_{k \geq 1} (2^{b+1} A|_{s_{0,s_{0}}^{\overline{M}}, \mathcal{O}^{+}})^{k-1} \mathfrak{m}(k) \\ &\mathfrak{m}(k) := \left(\frac{1}{(k-1)!} + \frac{k}{(k+1)!} + \frac{1}{k!} + \frac{1}{(k+1)!} \right) \end{split}$$

Of course the same bounds hold with M replaced by M^+ (since M^+ is larger).

Proposition 2.1.4 (KAM iteration). Fix any $\gamma > 0$, $1 < \chi < 2$ and $\tau > 0$. Choose c > 0 so that $\frac{\chi(2\tau+1)}{b} < (2\tau+1)c < 2 - \chi$ (recall that $b > (2\tau+1)\chi$ by Theorem 5) For any operator

$$L_0 = \Lambda_0 + P_0 \tag{2.1.18}$$

satisfying the same assumption of the Theorem $\frac{5}{5}$ with

$$(\varepsilon_{\star}) := \min\left\{\frac{1}{4\sup_{n\geq 0}\{2^{n+1}e^{-\chi^{n}}\}}, \left(\frac{1}{2^{4b+1}C^{\star}}\right)^{\frac{b}{b-(2\tau+1)}} \left(\frac{1}{4\delta_{0}}\right)^{\frac{2\tau+1}{b-(2\tau+1)}}\right\},\$$

where $C^* := \sup_{n \ge 0} \{2^{n+1} e^{[1-c(2\tau+1)]\chi^n} \}$

Fix K_0 such that

$$\left(\frac{4\delta_0}{\varepsilon_0}\right)^{\frac{1}{b}} \le K_0 \le \left(\frac{1}{2^{4b+1}C^*\varepsilon_0}\right)^{\frac{1}{2\tau+1}}.$$

Define

$$\varepsilon_n = \varepsilon_0 e^{-\chi^n}$$
 and $\delta_n = \delta_0 \sum_{j=0}^n 2^{-j}$ $K_n := K_0 e^{c\chi^n}$ $M_n = M_0 \sum_{j=0}^n 2^{-j}$.

Then one has recursively for $n \ge 1$: (S1)_n Given

$$L_{n-1} = \Lambda_{n-1} + P_{n-1}$$

with $\Lambda_{n-1} = \text{diag}\lambda_k^{(n-1)}$ defined for all $\xi \in \mathcal{O}_0$ satisfying

$$|\lambda_h^{(n-1)} - \lambda_k^{(n-1)}|^{\text{lip},\mathcal{O}_0} \le M_{n-1}|h-k|$$

and P_{n-1} defined for $\xi \in \mathcal{O}_{n-1}$. We define²

$$\mathcal{O}_n := \mathcal{O}_{\Lambda_{n-1}}^{K_{n-1}} \cap \mathcal{O}_{n-1}$$

and for all $\xi \in \mathcal{O}_n$ we define A_{n-1} as

$$(A_{n-1})_{k}^{k'} = \begin{cases} \frac{(P_{n-1})_{k}^{k'}}{(\lambda_{k}^{(n-1)} - \lambda_{k'}^{(n-1)})} & 0 < |k-k'| \le K_{n-1} \\ 0 & otherwise \end{cases}$$
(2.1.19)

Then exist a diagonal operator

$$\Lambda_n(\xi) = \operatorname{diag}(\lambda_k^{(n)}(\xi)) \tag{2.1.20}$$

defined for $\xi \in \mathcal{O}_0$, and an operator P_n defined for $\xi \in \mathcal{O}_n$ such that setting $Q_n = e^{A_{n-1}}$ and $L_n := Q_n^{-1}L_{n-1}Q_n$ Then one has

$$L_n = \Lambda_n + P_n.$$

Moreover $Q_n: H^{s_0} \to H^{s_0}$ and the following properties hold:

$$|A_{n-1}|_{s_0,s_0}^{\frac{\gamma}{M_{n-1}},\mathcal{O}_n} \le \varepsilon_0 K_{n-1}^{2\tau+1}, \tag{2.1.21}$$

$$\gamma^{-1}|P_n|_{s_0,s_0}^{\frac{\gamma}{M_n},\mathcal{O}_n} \le \varepsilon_n, \qquad \gamma^{-1}|\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^b P_n|_{s_0,s_0}^{\frac{\gamma}{M_n},\mathcal{O}_n} \le \delta_n$$
(2.1.22)

 $^2 {\rm where}$ we recall that

$$\mathcal{O}_{\Lambda}^{(K)} := \{ \xi \in \mathcal{O}_0 : |\lambda_k(\xi) - \lambda_{k'}(\xi)| > \gamma \left\langle k - k' \right\rangle^{-\tau}, \quad 0 < |k - k'| \le K \}$$

 $(\mathbf{S2})_n$ For $n \geq 1$

$$|\lambda_k^{(n)} - \lambda_k^{(n-1)}|^{\frac{\gamma}{M_{n-1}},\mathcal{O}_0} \le \gamma \varepsilon_0 e^{-\chi^n}, \qquad \forall \ k \in \mathbb{Z}.$$
(2.1.23)

Thus for all $\xi \in \mathcal{O}_0$, $\lambda_k^{(n)}$ is a Cauchy sequence in n uniformly in k. Moreover

$$|\lambda_h^{(n)} - \lambda_k^{(n)}|^{\operatorname{lip},\mathcal{O}_0} \le M_n |h - k|.$$

 $(\mathbf{S3})_n$ For all $\xi \in \mathcal{O}_n$, the sequence of changes of variables

$$U_n := Q_1 Q_2 \dots Q_n \tag{2.1.24}$$

satisfy the following bound

$$|U_n - U_{n-1}|_{s_0, s_0}^{\frac{\gamma}{M_n}, \mathcal{O}_n} \le \text{Const.} 2^{-n}$$

Proof. Item (**S1**)₁ follows directly from Lemmata 2.1.2 and 2.1.3, from the choose of K_0 that implies $K_0^{2\tau+1}\varepsilon_0 < 2^{-4b}$ so that formula (2.1.7) holds (recall that $(2\tau+1)c < 1$). (**S2**)₁, follows from Kirtzbraun and (**S3**)₁ from formula (2.1.12). We proceed by induction:

 $(S1)_{n+1}$. Since $(2\tau + 1)c < 1$

$$\gamma^{-1} K_n^{2\tau+1} |P_n|_{s_0, s_0}^{\gamma, \mathcal{O}_n} \le K_0^{2\tau+1} \varepsilon_0 < 2^{-4b} \,,$$

we can apply the Lemma 2.1.3 with $\Lambda = \Lambda_n$ and $P = P_n$. So, with A_n defined in (2.1.19) with $n - 1 \rightsquigarrow n$, there exists a diagonal operator $\Lambda_{n+1}(\xi) = \text{diag}(\lambda_k^{(n+1)}(\xi))$ with the eigenvalues $\lambda_k^{(n+1)}(\xi)$ defined on \mathcal{O}_0 such that for $\xi \in \mathcal{O}_{n+1}$

$$Q_{n+1}^{-1}(\Lambda_n(\xi) + P_n(\xi))Q_{n+1} := \Lambda_{n+1} + P_{n+1} \qquad Q_{n+1} := e^{A_n}$$

The bounds (2.1.21) for A_n follow from (2.1.9) and from the bounds (2.1.22) on P_n . In order to prove the bounds (2.1.22) for P_{n+1} we use (2.1.15) and (2.1.16) and the bounds (2.1.22) on P_n .

$$|P_{n+1}|_{s_0,s_0}^{\frac{\gamma}{M_{n+1}},\mathcal{O}_{n+1}} \le 4\gamma^{-1}K_n^{2\tau+1}(|P_n|_{s_0,s_0}^{\frac{\gamma}{M_n},\mathcal{O}_n})^2 + K_n^{-b}|\langle \mathsf{d} \rangle^b P_n|_{s_0,s_0}^{\frac{\gamma}{M_n},\mathcal{O}_n}$$
(2.1.25)

$$\leq 8\gamma K_0^{2\tau+1} \varepsilon_0^2 e^{-\chi^n [2-(2\tau+1)c]} + 4\gamma K_0^{-b} \delta_0 e^{-bc\chi^n}$$
(2.1.26)

$$|\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b} P_{n+1}|_{s_{0},s_{0}}^{\frac{M}{M_{n+1}},\mathcal{O}_{n+1}} \leq |\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b} P_{n}|_{s_{0},s_{0}}^{\frac{M}{M_{n}},\mathcal{O}_{n}} + 2^{4b} \gamma^{-1} K_{n}^{2\tau+1} |P_{n}|_{s_{0},s_{0}}^{\frac{M}{M_{n}},\mathcal{O}_{n}} |\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b} P_{n}|_{s_{0},s_{0}}^{\frac{M}{M_{n}},\mathcal{O}_{n}}$$

$$\leq \gamma \delta_{n} + \gamma 2^{4b} K_{n}^{2\tau+1} \varepsilon_{n}$$

$$(2.1.28)$$

$$\leq \gamma \delta_0 \bigg(\sum_{j=0}^n 2^{-j} + 2^{4b+1} K_0^{2\tau+1} \varepsilon_0 e^{-[1-c(2\tau+1)]\chi^n} \bigg)$$

Let us verify that $\gamma^{-1}|P_{n+1}|_{s_0,s_0}^{\frac{\gamma}{M_n},\mathcal{O}_{n+1}} \leq \varepsilon_{n+1}$, indeed

$$8K_0^{2\tau+1}\varepsilon_0^2 e^{-\chi^n [2-(2\tau+1)c]} + 4K_0^{-b}\delta_0 e^{-\chi^n bc} \le \varepsilon_0 e^{-\chi^{n+1}}$$

is equivalent to

$$8K_0^{2\tau+1}\varepsilon_0^2 e^{-\chi^n[2-(2\tau+1)c-\chi]} + 4K_0^{-b}\delta_0 e^{-\chi^n(-\chi+bc)} \le \frac{\varepsilon_0}{2} + \frac{\varepsilon_0}{2}$$

Now the first bound follows by the definition of c, which reads $2 - (2\tau + 1)c - \chi > 0$ and by the definition of K_0 which implies $\varepsilon_0 K_0^{2\tau+1} C^* < 1$. The second bound follows by the definition of c which gives $bc - \chi \ge 0$ and again by the definition of K_0 which implies $8K_0^{-b}\delta_0 < \varepsilon_0$. In the same way

$$\sum_{j=0}^{n} 2^{-j} + 2^{4b+1} K_0^{2\tau+1} \varepsilon_0 e^{-[1-c(2\tau+1)]\chi^n} \le \sum_{j=0}^{n+1} 2^{-j}.$$

Indeed, since $(2\tau+1)c < 2-\chi$ implies $c(2\tau+1) < 1$ and by the definition of K_0 we have

$$\sum_{j=0}^{n} 2^{-j} + 2^{4b+1} K_0^{2\tau+1} \varepsilon_0 e^{-[1-c(2\tau+1)]\chi^n} \le \sum_{j=0}^{n} 2^{-j} + 2^{4b+1} \varepsilon_0 \frac{C^*}{\varepsilon_0} e^{-[1-c(2\tau+1)]\chi^n} \le \sum_{j=0}^{n+1} 2^{-j} e^{-[1-c(2\tau+1)]\chi^n} \ge \sum_{j=0}^{n+1} 2^{$$

Moreover, if $\varepsilon_0 \leq \frac{1}{4 \sup_{n \geq 0} \{2^{n+1}e^{-\chi^n}\}}$ then we have that

$$M_n(1+2\varepsilon_n) = M_0 \sum_{i=0}^n 2^{-i} (1+2\varepsilon_0 e^{-\chi^n} \le M_{n+1})$$

Finally, to be sure that

$$\left(\frac{4\delta_0}{\varepsilon_0}\right)^{\frac{1}{b}} \le K_0 \le \left(\frac{1}{2^{4b+1}C^*\varepsilon_0}\right)^{\frac{1}{2\tau+1}}$$

we need the hypothesis

$$\varepsilon_0 \le \left(\frac{1}{2^{4b+1}C^*}\right)^{\frac{b}{b-(2\tau+1)}} \left(\frac{1}{4\delta_0}\right)^{\frac{2\tau+1}{b-(2\tau+1)}}, \quad C^* := \sup_{n\ge 0} \{2^{n+1}e^{[1-c(2\tau+1)]\chi^n}\}$$

 $(S2)_{n+1}$. By (2.1.13),

$$\sup_{k} |\lambda_k^{(n+1)} - \lambda_k^{(n)}|^{\frac{\gamma}{M_n},\mathcal{O}_0} \le |P_{n+1}|_{s_0,s_0}^{\frac{\gamma}{M_n},\mathcal{O}_0}$$

The Lipschitz bound follows by 2.1.14 and the definition of ε_0 . $(\mathbf{S3})_{n+1}$

$$\begin{split} |U_{n+1} - U_n|_{s_0,s_0}^{\frac{\gamma}{M_{n+1}},\mathcal{O}_{n+1}} &\leq |U_n|_{s_0,s_0}^{\frac{\gamma}{M_{n+1}},\mathcal{O}_{n+1}} |Q_{n+1} - \mathbb{I}|_{s_0,s_0}^{\frac{\gamma}{M_{n+1}},\mathcal{O}_{n+1}} \\ &\leq 2|A_n|_{s_0,s_0}^{\frac{\gamma}{M_{n+1}},\mathcal{O}_{n+1}} \left(1 + |P_0|_{s_0,s_0}^{\frac{\gamma}{M_0},\mathcal{O}_0}\right) \\ &\leq 2\gamma^{-1}K_{n+1}^{2\tau+1}|P_{n+1}|_{s_0,s_0}^{\frac{\gamma}{M_{n+1}},\mathcal{O}_{n+1}} \left(1 + |P_0|_{s_0,s_0}^{\frac{\gamma}{M_0},\mathcal{O}_0}\right) \\ &\leq 2K_0^{2\tau+1}e^{-[1-c(2\tau+1)]\chi^{n+1}}\varepsilon_0(1+\varepsilon_0) \\ &\leq 2K_0^{2\tau+1}2^{-[1-c(2\tau+1)]\chi^{n+1}}\varepsilon_0(1+\varepsilon_0) \\ &\leq 2^{-(n+1)}K_0^{2\tau+1}\varepsilon_0\sup_{k\geq 0} \left\{2^{-[1-c(2\tau+1)]\chi^{k+1}+k+3}\right\} \end{split}$$

We define $\mathcal{O}_{\infty} = \bigcap_n U_n$. The sequence U_n is Cauchy, in the sense

$$|U_n - U_{n-1}|_{s_0, s_0}^{\frac{\gamma}{M_0}, \mathcal{O}_{\infty}} < \text{Const.} 2^{-n}$$
(2.1.29)

Let us now discuss the limit of the Cauchy sequences in (2.1.23) and (2.1.24). We define for all $k \in \mathbb{Z}^d$

$$U := \lim_{n \to \infty} U_n, \qquad \lambda_k^{(\infty)} := \lim_{n \to \infty} \lambda_k^{(n)}.$$

Note that U is defined for $\xi \in \mathcal{O}_{\infty}$, while $\lambda_k^{(\infty)}$ is defined for $\xi \in \mathcal{O}_0$.

Corollary 2.1.5. The operator U conjugates the operator L_0 defined in (2.1.18) to a diagonal operator.

Proof. By construction

$$U_n^{-1}L_0U_n = \Lambda_n + P_n$$

with U_n, Λ_n, P_n are defined respectively in (2.1.24), (2.1.20) and in (S1)_n and with the bound

$$|P_n|_{s_0,s_0}^{\overline{m},\mathcal{O}_n} \le \varepsilon_0 e^{-\chi^n} \to 0$$

Since U is the limit of U_n ,

$$U_n^{-1}L_0U_n \to U^{-1}L_0U = \Lambda_\infty$$

In the previous corollary we have constructed a diagonalizing change of variables for all ξ in the intersection of \mathcal{O}_n . In the following we show that such set contains the set \mathcal{C} defined in 2.1.4.

Corollary 2.1.6 (Final Eigenvalues). For all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $k \in \mathbb{Z}^d$

$$|\lambda_k^{(\infty)} - \lambda_k^{(n)}|^{\frac{\gamma}{2M_0}, \mathcal{O}_0} \le C\gamma\varepsilon_0 e^{\chi^n}$$

and consequently

$$\mathcal{C} \subset \cap_{n \ge 1} \mathcal{O}_n$$

Proof.

$$\begin{split} |\lambda_k^{(\infty)} - \lambda_k^{(n)}|^{\frac{\gamma}{2M_0},\mathcal{O}_0} &= |\sum_{h \ge n} \lambda_k^{(h+1)} - \lambda_k^{(h)}|^{\frac{\gamma}{2M_0},\mathcal{O}_0} \\ &\leq \sum_{h \ge n} |\lambda_k^{(h+1)} - \lambda_k^{(h)}|^{\frac{\gamma}{2M_0},\mathcal{O}_0} \stackrel{(2.1.23)}{\leq} \gamma \varepsilon_0 \sum_{h \ge n} e^{-\chi^h} \\ &= \gamma \varepsilon_0 e^{-\chi^n} \Big(1 + \sum_{h \ge n+1} e^{\chi^n - \chi^h} \Big) \le \gamma \varepsilon_0 e^{-\chi^n} \sum_{h \ge n+1} \frac{1}{h^2} h^2 e^{\chi^n - \chi^h} \\ &\leq \gamma \varepsilon_0 e^{-\chi^n} (\sup_{h \ge n+1} h^2 e^{\chi^n - \chi^h}) \sum_{h \ge n+1} \frac{1}{h^2} \le C \gamma \varepsilon_0 e^{-\chi^n} \end{split}$$

Let $\xi \in \mathcal{C}$. For every $n \in \mathbb{N}$

$$\begin{aligned} |\lambda_k^{(n)} - \lambda_{k'}^{(n)}| &\geq |\lambda_k^{(\infty)} - \lambda_{k'}^{(\infty)}| - \left(|\lambda_k^{(\infty)} - \lambda_k^{(n)}|^{\frac{\gamma}{2M_0},\mathcal{O}_0} + |\lambda_{k'}^{(\infty)} - \lambda_{k'}^{(n)}|^{\frac{\gamma}{2M_0},\mathcal{O}_0} \right) \\ &\geq 2\gamma |k - k'|^{-\tau} - 2C\gamma\varepsilon_0 e^{\chi^n} \geq \gamma |k - k'|^{-\tau} + \gamma K_n^{-\tau} - 2C\gamma\varepsilon_0 e^{\chi^n} \geq \gamma |k - k'|^{-\tau} \end{aligned}$$

Proof of Theorem 5. We apply the iteration Lemma 2.1.4 to Λ_0 and P_0 . For the previous corollaries we obtain the thesis.

Let us now consider a special class of operators, where we have a separation in "space" and "time" variables. Set $k = (l, j), l \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}, j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and consider an operator L_0 of the form (2.1.1) satisfying al the hypotheses of Theorem 5, such that one has

$$\lambda_{(l,j)} = \mathrm{i}\omega \cdot l + \Delta_j, \quad P_{(l,j)}^{(l',j')} = \mathcal{P}_j^{j'}(l-l'),$$

that is P is Töplitz in time, following Definition 1.2.8.

Corollary 2.1.7. The change of variables U, which diagonalizes L_0 is Töplitz in time namely is of the form $U_{(l,j)}^{(l',j')} = \mathcal{U}_j^{j'}(l-l')$ and the eigenvalues of L_0 have the form

$$\lambda_{l,j}^{(\infty)} = \mathrm{i}\omega \cdot l + \Delta_j^{(\infty)}.$$

Proof. We proceed by induction. Assume that U_{n-1} , P_{n-1} are Töplitz in time and that

$$\lambda_k^{(n-1)} = \mathrm{i}\omega \cdot \ell + (\Delta_{n-1})_j.$$

Since at the step n the change of variables is $U_n = U_{n-1}Q_n$ where $Q_n = e^{A_n}$ with A_n defined in (2.1.19), by the Lemmata 1.2.13, 1.2.14, 1.2.15, 1.2.17 U_n is Töplitz in time. Similarly

$$\lambda_k^{(n)} := \lambda_k^{(n-1)} + (\mathcal{P}_n)_k^k(0) = i\omega \cdot \ell + (\Delta_n)_j, \qquad \Delta_j^{(n)} := \Delta_j^{(n-1)} + (\mathcal{P}_n)_j^j(0).$$

So, we have that $\lim_{n\to\infty} U_n$ is Töplitz in time and

$$\Delta_j^{(\infty)} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (\mathcal{P}_n)_j^j(0) \,.$$

2.2 Diagonalization algorithm in high norm

Let $n, d \in \mathbb{N}$, consider \mathcal{O}_0 a compact set of \mathbb{R}^n , fix $M_0, \gamma > 0$ and $1 < \chi < 2$ and fix s_0, s_1 so that

$$s_1 > s_0 > \frac{d}{2} \,. \tag{2.2.1}$$

Consider a lipschitz family of operators of the form

$$\mathcal{O}_0 \ni \xi \mapsto L_0 := \Lambda_0(\xi) + P_0(\xi) \tag{2.2.2}$$

and assume that it satisfies

- (H1) (see page 16)
- (**H2**^{\prime}) There exists the decomposition

$$\mathcal{P}_0 = \mathcal{S}(\mathbf{P}_0)^3, \quad \mathbf{P}_0 = (M_{\mathbf{P}_0}, R_{\mathbf{P}_0}).$$

such the operator $\langle d \rangle^b \mathbb{P}_0 \in E_{s,s_0,s_1}$ (see the definition 1.3.3), for $s_0 \leq s \leq s_1$ and some $b \geq 1$

We define

$$\hat{\varepsilon}_0 := \gamma^{-1} \| \mathbf{P}_0 \|_{s_0, s_0}^{\underline{\gamma}_M, \mathcal{O}_0} \quad \hat{\delta}_0 := \gamma^{-1} \| \langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^b \mathbf{P}_0 \|_{s_0, s_0}^{\underline{\gamma}_M, \mathcal{O}_0}$$
(2.2.3)

$$\eta_0 := \gamma^{-1} \| \mathbf{P}_0 \|_{s,s}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}_0} \quad \mu_0 := \gamma^{-1} \| \langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^b \mathbf{P}_0 \|_{s,s}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}_0}$$
(2.2.4)

All the quantities above are finite by Remarks 1.1.8, 1.3.4.

Note that ε_0 and δ_0 defined respectively in (2.1.3) and (2.1.2) are smaller than the corresponding $\hat{\varepsilon}_0$ and $\hat{\delta}_0$. Therefore the operator L_0 defined in (2.1.1) satisfies the hypotheses of the Theorem 5. With an abuse of notation we shall not distinguish between $\hat{\varepsilon}_0$, $\hat{\delta}_0$ and ε_0 , δ .

We shall use the same notation in the following Theorem where we discuss the regularity of U (that is the change of variables that diagonalizes L_0). We recall that the Theorem 5, that we can apply since we have the bound in 1.3.10, ensures that $U \in \mathcal{M}(h^{s_0}, h^{s_0})$.

Theorem 6. Given s_0, s_1 as in $(2.2.1), \tau$ as in the Theorem 5 and

$$b > \max\{4\tau + 1, \frac{(2\tau + 1)\chi}{2 - \chi}\} + 1.$$

, consider an operator of the form (2.1.1) such that (H1) and (H2') hold. There exists $\varepsilon_{\star\star} = \varepsilon_{\star\star}(d, \tau, s_0, M_0, \delta_0, \eta_0, \mu_0) \leq \varepsilon_{\star}$ such that if

$$\varepsilon_0 < \varepsilon_{\star\star}$$

then for all $\xi \in C$, defined in (2.1.4) the change of variables $U(\xi) \in \mathcal{M}(h^s, h^s)$. Moreover there exists $U \in E_s$ with $U = \int U$ such that

$$\|\mathbf{U} - \mathbb{I}\|_{s_0}^{\gamma, \mathcal{C}} \le \mathfrak{C}_2 \varepsilon_0 \tag{2.2.5}$$

$$\|\mathbf{U} - \mathbb{I}\|_{s}^{\gamma, \mathcal{C}} \le \mathfrak{C}_{2}\eta_{0} \tag{2.2.6}$$

³Recall that $\mathcal{S}(M,R) := M+R$.

Note that by the remark 1.3.10, (2.2.6) implies that U is modulo-tame with tameness constants $\mathfrak{M}_U(s)$ bounded $\|\mathbf{U}\|_s$

KAM reduction procedure We use the same KAM step as in 2.1.3, but we assume stronger conditions on \mathcal{P} .

Recall that in KAM reduction procedure of Section 2.1, given an operator $L = \Lambda + P$ as in (2.1.5) with Λ satisfying (2.1.6), we produce A as in Lemma 2.1.2. Denoting by $Q = e^A$ we consider the conjugated operator $L^+ := \Lambda^+ + P^+ = Q^{-1}LQ$. In the following Lemma we shall assume that $P = \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{P})$ and show that all the resulting operators are in $\mathcal{S}(E_s)$ with appropriate bounds.

Lemma 2.2.1 (KAM step). In the setting of Lemma 2.1.3, we assume that $P = \mathcal{S}(P)$ with $P = (M_P, R_P)$ and

$$2^{4b}\gamma^{-1}K^{2\tau+1} \|\mathbf{P}\|_{s_0}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}} < 1, \quad \|\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^b \mathbf{P}\|_{s_0}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}}, \|\mathbf{P}\|_s^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}}, \|\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^b \mathbf{P}\|_s^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}} < \infty.$$
(2.2.7)

We use the notation of the Lemmata 2.1.2 and 2.1.3. We have the following

 $-A = S(\mathbf{A})$ with the bounds:

$$\|\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^b \mathbf{A} \|_{s_0}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}^+} \leq \gamma^{-1} K^{2\tau+1}(\|\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^b \mathbf{P} \|_{s_0}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}}), \qquad \|\mathbf{A}\|_s^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}^+} \leq \gamma^{-1} K^{2\tau+1} \|\mathbf{P}\|_s^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}}, \quad \forall s_0 \leq s \leq s_1$$

$$(2.2.8)$$

- The change of variables $Q = e^A = S(\mathbf{Q})$ with $\mathbf{Q} = e^{\mathbf{A}}$:

$$\|\mathbf{Q} - \mathbb{I}\|_{s}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}^{+}} \leq 2\|\mathbf{A}\|_{s}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}^{+}}, \quad \mathbb{I} = (\mathbb{I},0)$$
(2.2.9)

This implies that Q is well defined and invertible as a tame majorant bounded operator from \mathbf{h}^{s} to itself.

- For $\xi \in \mathcal{O}^+$, we have $P^+ = \mathcal{S}(\mathbf{P}^+)$ with the bounds

$$\begin{split} \|\mathbf{P}^{+}\|_{s_{0}}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}^{+}} &\leq 4\gamma^{-1}K^{2\tau+1}(\|\mathbf{P}\|_{s_{0}}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}})^{2} + K^{-b}\|\langle \mathbf{d}\rangle^{b}\mathbf{P}\|_{s_{0}}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}} \tag{2.2.10} \\ \|\langle \mathbf{d}\rangle^{b}\mathbf{P}^{+}\|_{s_{0}}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}^{+}} &\leq \|\langle \mathbf{d}\rangle^{b}\mathbf{P}\|_{s_{0}}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}} + 2^{4b}\gamma^{-1}K^{2\tau+1}\|\mathbf{P}\|_{s_{0}}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}}\|\langle \mathbf{d}\rangle^{b}\mathbf{P}\|_{s_{0}}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}} \\ \|\mathbf{P}^{+}\|_{s}^{\frac{\gamma}{M^{+}},\mathcal{O}^{+}} &\leq K^{-b}\|\langle \mathbf{d}\rangle^{b}\mathbf{P}\|_{s}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}} + 2^{4b}\gamma^{-1}K^{2\tau+1}\|\mathbf{P}\|_{s_{0}}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}}\|\mathbf{P}\|_{s_{0}}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}} \\ \|\langle \mathbf{d}\rangle^{b}\mathbf{P}^{+}\|_{s}^{\frac{\gamma}{M^{+}},\mathcal{O}^{+}} &\leq \|\langle \mathbf{d}\rangle^{b}\mathbf{P}\|_{s}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}} \\ &\leq 2.2.11 \end{split}$$

Proof. Recalling that $P = (M_P, R_P)$ we construct $A = (M_A, R_A)$ explicitly by setting for all $\xi \in \mathcal{O}^+$

$$(M_{\mathbf{A}})_{k}^{k'} = \begin{cases} \frac{(M_{\mathbf{P}})_{k}^{k'}}{(\lambda_{k} - \lambda_{k'})} & |k - k'| \le K\\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}, \quad (R_{\mathbf{A}})_{k}^{k'} = \begin{cases} \frac{(R_{\mathbf{P}})_{k}^{k'}}{(\lambda_{k} - \lambda_{k'})} & |k - k'| \le K\\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases},$$

so that the bounds follow trivially from (2.1.10)

$$\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^a \mathbf{A} \preccurlyeq \gamma^{-1} K^\tau \langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^a \mathbf{P} \,, \qquad \langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^a \Delta_{\xi} \mathbf{A} \preccurlyeq \gamma^{-1} K^\tau \langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^a \Delta_{\xi} \mathbf{P} + \gamma^{-2} M K^{2\tau+1} \langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^a \mathbf{P} \,, \quad \text{for } a = 0, b.$$

$$(2.2.12)$$

The second statement follows from formula (1.3.7) and Lemma (1.3.8), which implies (2.1.12), since

$$\|e^{\mathbf{A}} - \mathbb{I}\|_{s}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}^{+}} \leq \|\mathbf{A}\|_{s}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}^{+}} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{(\|\mathbf{A}\|_{s_{0}}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}^{+}})^{k-1}}{k!}, \quad \|\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b} e^{\mathbf{A}}\|_{s_{0}}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}^{+}} \leq \|\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b} \mathbf{A}\|_{s_{0}}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}^{+}} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{(2^{b}\|\mathbf{A}\|_{s_{0}}^{\frac{\gamma}{M},\mathcal{O}^{+}})^{k-1}}{k!}$$

The third statement comes from 2.1.17 by setting

$$\mathbf{P}^{+} = \Pi_{K}^{\perp} \mathbf{P} + \sum_{k \ge 1} \frac{\mathrm{ad}(\mathbf{A})^{k}}{k!} \mathbf{P} - \sum_{k \ge 2} \frac{\mathrm{ad}(\mathbf{A})^{k-1}}{k!} (\Pi_{K} \mathbf{P} - [\mathbf{P}]), \qquad [\mathbf{P}] = ([M_{\mathbf{P}}], [R_{\mathbf{P}}])$$

in the first bound we apply Lemma 1.3.12 in order to bound the first summand and Lemma 1.3.8 with $s = s_0$ for the other two. In the second bound we use Lemma 1.3.13 with $s = s_0$ and a = b. In the third and fourth bounds we use Lemma 1.3.13 with $s_0 \le s \le s_1$ and respectively a = 0, b.

We now restate the proposition 2.1.4 under the stronger hypotheses of the KAM step above. Recall that in proposition 2.1.4 we constructed a list of operators $A_n, Q_n, U_n, L_n =$ $\Lambda_n + P_n$ such that A_n solves the Homological equation (2.1.8) so it is defined in (2.1.19), $Q_n = e^{A_{n-1}}, U_n = Q_1 \dots Q_n$ and $L_n = Q_n^{-1} L_{n-1} Q_n$. Recall that A_{n-1} and P_n are defined in \mathcal{O}_n and Λ_n in \mathcal{O}_0 . Finally the sets \mathcal{O}_n are defined recursively by

$$\mathcal{O}_n := \mathcal{O}_{\Lambda_{n-1}}^{K_{n-1}} \cap \mathcal{O}_{n-1} \quad K_n = K_0 e^{c\chi^n}$$

Proposition 2.2.2 (KAM iteration 2). Fix any $\tau > 0$ $\gamma > 0$, $1 < \chi < 2$ and $0 < \alpha < 1$. Fix b as in Theorem 6. Choose c so that

$$\frac{\chi}{b-\alpha} < c < \frac{2-\chi}{2\tau+1} \,.$$

For any operator

$$L_0 = \Lambda_0 + P_0$$

as in (2.2.2) satisfying (H1), (H'_2) there exist $\varepsilon_{\star\star}$ and $\Re_1 < \Re_2$ such that if $\varepsilon_0 \leq \varepsilon_{\star\star}$, defining

$$\varepsilon_n = \varepsilon_0 e^{-\chi^n}$$
, $\delta_n = \delta_0 \sum_{j=0}^n 2^{-j}$, $\eta_n = \eta_0 e^{-\chi^n}$ and $\mu_n = \eta_0 K_n^{\alpha}$.

and fixing $\Re_1 < K_0 < \Re_2$ then one has recursively for $n \ge 1$:

 $(\mathbf{S1})_n$ Given

$$L_{n-1} = \Lambda_{n-1} + P_{n-1}$$

as in $(\mathbf{S1})_n$ of the proposition 2.1.4 such that $P_{n-1} = \mathcal{S}(\mathbf{P}_{n-1})$ for some $\mathbf{P}_{n-1} \in E_s$, then the operator A_{n-1} , defined in (2.1.19) for all $\xi \in \mathcal{O}_n$, satisfies $A_{n-1} = \mathcal{S}(\mathbf{A}_{n-1})$ with \mathbf{A}_{n-1} defined as

$$(\mathbf{A}_{n-1})_{k}^{k'} = \begin{cases} \frac{(\mathbf{P}_{n-1})_{k}^{k'}}{(\lambda_{k}^{(n-1)} - \lambda_{k'}^{(n-1)})} & 0 < |k-k'| \le K_{n-1} \\ 0 & otherwise \end{cases} .$$
 (2.2.13)

The operator $L_n = Q_n^{-1}L_{n-1}Q_n$ is of the form $\Lambda_n + P_n$ with Λ_n as in (2.1.20). Moreover there exists $P_n \in E_s$ such that $P_n = \mathcal{J}(P_n)$ and the following bounds hold:

$$|\mathbf{A}_{n-1}|_{s_0,s_0}^{\frac{\gamma}{M_{n-1}},\mathcal{O}_n} \le \varepsilon_0 K_{n-1}^{2\tau+1}, \tag{2.2.14}$$

$$\gamma^{-1} \| \mathbf{P}_n \|_{\delta_0}^{\frac{\gamma}{M_n}, \mathcal{O}_n} \leq \varepsilon_n , \qquad \gamma^{-1} \| \langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^b \mathbf{P}_n \|_{\delta_0}^{\frac{\gamma}{M_n}, \mathcal{O}_n} \leq \delta_n$$

$$\gamma^{-1} \| \mathbf{P}_n \|_s^{\frac{\gamma}{M_n}, \mathcal{O}_n} \leq \eta_n , \qquad \gamma^{-1} \| \langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^b \mathbf{P}_n \|_s^{\frac{\gamma}{M_n}, \mathcal{O}_n} \leq \mu_n$$
(2.2.15)

 $(\mathbf{S2})_n$ we have $U_n = \mathcal{J}(\mathbf{U}_n)$ where \mathbf{U}_n is a Cauchy sequence, in the same sense of 2.1.29, since the following bound holds

$$\|\mathbf{U}_n - \mathbf{U}_{n-1}\|_s^{\frac{\gamma}{M_n},\mathcal{O}_n} \le 2^{-n} \mathfrak{C}_2 \|\mathbf{P}_0\|_s^{\frac{\gamma}{M_n},\mathcal{O}_n},$$

Proof. For n = 0 there is nothing to prove (we use the condition $\mu_0 < \eta_0 K_0^{\alpha}$ provided by the choice of \mathfrak{K}_1); by induction assume that $(\mathbf{Si})_n$ holds then (since $c(2\tau + 1) < 1$ and $K_0^{2\tau+1}\varepsilon_0 < 2^{-4b}$)

$$\gamma^{-1} K_n^{2\tau+1} \|\mathbf{P}_n\|_{s_0}^{\frac{\gamma}{M_n}, \mathcal{O}_n} = \gamma^{-1} K_0^{2\tau+1} \varepsilon_0 e^{-[1-c(2\tau+1)]\chi^n} \le 2^{-4b}$$

and $(S1)_{n+1}$ follows by the KAM step. Indeed (2.2.14) follows from (2.2.8), as for (2.2.15), the first two bounds follow from the first two bounds in (2.2.10) by reasoning as in (2.1.25).

Finally, for the last two bounds of (2.2.15) we want that

$$K_n^{-b}\mu_n + 2^{4b}K_n^{2\tau+1}\varepsilon_n\eta_n \le \eta_{n+1}$$
(2.2.16)

$$\mu_n + 2^{4b+1} K_n^{2\tau+1} \varepsilon_n \mu_n + 3 \cdot 2^{4b} K_n^{2\tau+1} \eta_n \delta_n \le \mu_{n+1}$$
(2.2.17)

(2.2.16) is equivalent to ask

$$K_0^{\alpha-b}e^{-(b-\alpha)c\chi^n} + 2^{4b}K_0^{2\tau+1}\varepsilon_0e^{-[2-c(2\tau+1)]\chi^n} \le e^{-\chi^{n+1}}$$

To have that we need that both the addends are smaller than $\frac{e^{-\chi^{n+1}}}{2}$ So we have to ask:

$$2K_0^{\alpha-b}e^{-(b-\alpha)c\chi^n} \le e^{-\chi^{n+1}} \Rightarrow 2K_0^{\alpha-b}e^{-[(b-\alpha)c-\chi]\chi^n} \le 1$$
$$2^{4b+1}K_0^{2\tau+1}\varepsilon_0 e^{-[2-c(2\tau+1)]\chi^n} \le e^{-\chi^{n+1}} \Rightarrow 2^{4b+1}K_0^{2\tau+1}\varepsilon_0 e^{-[2-c(2\tau+1)-\chi]\chi^n} < 1$$

This inequalities hold true provided that

- $bc \alpha c \chi > 0$
- $K_0 > 2^{\frac{1}{b-a}}$
- $c(2\tau + 1) + \chi < 2$
- $K_0 < \left(\frac{1}{2^{4b+1}\varepsilon_0}\right)^{\frac{1}{2\tau+1}}$

To obtain (2.2.17) we can ask

$$K_0^{\alpha} e^{\alpha c \chi^n} + 2^{4b+1} K_0^{2\tau+1+\alpha} \varepsilon_0 e^{-[1-c(2\tau+1+\alpha)]\chi^n} + 3 \cdot 2^{4b+1} K_0^{2\tau+1} e^{-[1-c(2\tau+1)]\chi^n} \delta_0 \le K_0^{\alpha} e^{\alpha c \chi^{n+1}} + 3 \cdot 2^{4b+1} K_0^{2\tau+1} + 3 \cdot 2^{4b+1} K_0^{2\tau+1}$$

Also this time we have to ask that every addend is smaller than a fraction of $e^{\alpha c \chi^{n+1}}$ but this time we don't want to do it uniformly in 3 parts but we ask that the first addend is smaller than

$$\frac{e^{\alpha c\chi^{n+1}}}{C_1}, \qquad C_1 := e^{\alpha c(\chi-1)}$$

and the other two addends smaller than

$$\frac{e^{\alpha c \chi^{n+1}}}{C_2}, \qquad C_2 := \frac{1}{2} \left(1 - \frac{1}{C_1} \right)$$

With this choose we obtain the following conditions to ask

- $c(2\tau + 1 + \alpha \alpha\chi) < 1$
- $K_0 < \left(\frac{1}{2^{4b+1}C_1\varepsilon_0}\right)^{\frac{1}{2\tau+1}}$
- $c(2\tau + 1 \alpha\chi) < 1$

•
$$K_0 > \left(3 \cdot 2^{4b+1} C_2 \delta_0\right)^{\frac{1}{\alpha - 2\tau - 1}}$$

So we can take

$$\begin{aligned} \widehat{\mathfrak{K}}_1 &= \max\left\{ \left(\frac{4\delta_0}{\varepsilon_0}\right)^{\frac{1}{b}}, \left(\frac{\mu_0}{\eta_0}\right)^{\frac{1}{\alpha}}, \left(3 \cdot 2^{4b+1}C_2\delta_0\right)^{\frac{1}{\alpha-2\tau-1}}\right\} \\ \widehat{\mathfrak{K}}_2 &= \min\left\{ \left(\frac{1}{2^{4b+1}\varepsilon_0C^*}\right)^{\frac{1}{2\tau+1}}, \left(\frac{1}{2^{4b+1}\varepsilon_0}\right)^{\frac{1}{2\tau+1}}\right\} \end{aligned}$$

To be sure that $\Re_1 < \Re_2$ we need $\varepsilon_0 \le \varepsilon_{\star}$ where $\varepsilon_{\star\star}$ is defined as

$$\min\left\{\varepsilon_{\star}, \left(\frac{1}{(4\delta_{0})^{2\tau+1}(2^{4b+1}C_{3})^{b}}\right)^{\frac{1}{b-\tau-1}}, \left(\frac{1}{C_{3}2^{4b+1}}\right)\left(\frac{\eta_{0}}{\mu}\right)^{\frac{2\tau+1}{\alpha}}, \left(\frac{1}{C_{3}2^{4b+1}}\right)\left(\frac{1}{3\cdot2^{4b+1}C_{2}\delta_{0}}\right)^{\frac{2\tau+1}{\alpha-(2\tau+1)}}\right\}$$

where $C_3 := \max\{1, C^*\}$

 $(\mathbf{S2})_{n+1}$ Recalling definition 1.3.5 we set $\mathbf{Q}_{n+1} = e^{\mathbf{A}_n}$ and $\mathbb{I} = (\mathbb{I}, 0)$.

$$\begin{split} \|\mathbf{U}_{n+1} - \mathbf{U}_{n}\|_{s}^{\frac{\gamma}{M_{n+1}},\mathcal{O}_{n+1}} &\leq \|\mathbf{U}_{n}\|_{s}^{\frac{\gamma}{M_{n+1}},\mathcal{O}_{n+1}} \|\mathbf{Q}_{n+1} - \mathbb{I}\|_{s_{0}}^{\frac{\gamma}{M_{n+1}},\mathcal{O}_{n+1}} + \|\mathbf{U}_{n}\|_{s_{0}}^{\frac{\gamma}{M_{n+1}},\mathcal{O}_{n+1}} \|\mathbf{Q}_{n+1} - \mathbb{I}\|_{s}^{\frac{\gamma}{M_{n+1}},\mathcal{O}_{n+1}} \\ &\leq 2\|\mathbf{U}_{n}\|_{s}^{\frac{\gamma}{M_{n+1}},\mathcal{O}_{n+1}} \|\mathbf{A}_{n+1}\|_{s_{0}}^{\frac{\gamma}{M_{n+1}},\mathcal{O}_{n+1}} + 2\|\mathbf{U}_{n}\|_{s_{0}}^{\frac{\gamma}{M_{n+1}},\mathcal{O}_{n+1}} \|\mathbf{A}_{n+1}\|_{s}^{\frac{\gamma}{M_{n+1}},\mathcal{O}_{n+1}} \\ &\leq 2\gamma^{-1}K_{n+1}^{2\tau+1}(\|\mathbf{U}_{n}\|_{s}^{\frac{\gamma}{M_{n+1}},\mathcal{O}_{n+1}} \|\mathbf{P}_{n+1}\|_{s_{0}}^{\frac{\gamma}{M_{n+1}},\mathcal{O}_{n+1}} + \|\mathbf{U}_{n}\|_{s_{0}}^{\frac{\gamma}{M_{n+1}},\mathcal{O}_{n+1}} \|\mathbf{P}_{n+1}\|_{s}^{\frac{\gamma}{M_{n+1}},\mathcal{O}_{n+1}} \\ &\leq 2\gamma^{-1}K_{n+1}^{2\tau+1}((1+\|\mathbf{P}_{0}\|_{s}^{\frac{\gamma}{M_{n+1}},\mathcal{O}_{0}}) \|\mathbf{P}_{n+1}\|_{s_{0}}^{\frac{\gamma}{M_{n+1}},\mathcal{O}_{n+1}} + \|\mathbf{P}_{n+1}\|_{s}^{\frac{\gamma}{M_{n+1}},\mathcal{O}_{n+1}}) \\ &\leq 2K_{n+1}^{2\tau+1}((1+\eta_{0})\varepsilon_{n+1}+\eta_{n+1}) \leq 2^{(c(2\tau+1)-1)\chi^{n+1}+1}((1+\eta_{0})\varepsilon_{0}+\eta_{0}) \\ &\leq \eta_{0}2^{-(n+1)}\sup_{k\geq 0}2^{(c(2\tau+1)-1)\chi^{k+1}+3+k} \end{split}$$

Note that $(1 + \eta_0)\varepsilon_0 + \eta_0 \leq 3\eta_0$ since $\varepsilon_0 < \min(1, \eta_0)$.

Proof of Theorem 6. We apply the iteration Lemma 2.2.2 to Λ_0 and P_0 hence we obtain the thesis.

Chapter 3 Applications

In this chapter we prove the Theorems 3-4. Our purpose is to prove such Theorems as an application of our diagonalization algorithms, so before turning to the proofs let us discuss the connection between reducibility and diagonalization.

3.1 Reducibility and diagonalization

Consider the quasi-periodic linear dynamical system (6)

$$\dot{u} = \mathcal{A}(\omega t)u \tag{3.1.1}$$

where for $t \in \mathbb{R}$, $u(t) \in h^{s}(\mathbb{Z})$ while \mathcal{A} is a map $\varphi \mapsto \mathcal{A}(\varphi)$ from $h^{s}(\mathbb{Z})$ to $h^{s'}(\mathbb{Z})$. We want to describe how this system changes under the action of a transformation of the phase space that depend quasi-periodically on time.

To this purpose we consider a map $\varphi \mapsto \mathcal{U}(\varphi)$ as in the remark 1.2.10 that for every φ is invertible.

Setting $v(t) = (\mathcal{U}(\omega t))^{-1}u(t)$, and substituting in (3.1.1) we obtain that v solves the new dynamical system:

$$\dot{v}(t) = \mathcal{B}(\omega t)v(t), \qquad \mathcal{B}(\varphi) := (\mathcal{U}(\varphi))^{-1}(\mathcal{A}(\varphi)\mathcal{U}(\varphi) - \omega \cdot \partial_{\varphi}\mathcal{U}(\varphi)).$$

Definition 3.1.1. We say that \mathcal{U} reduces (3.1.1) if \mathcal{B} does not depend on angles. We say that the dynamical system is reducible if there exists a change of variables that reduces it.

We now want to assiciate to the time-dependent dynamical system (3.1.1) a linear operator acting on $\mathbf{h}^{s_0}(\mathbb{Z}^d)$. Since for every family of operators $\mathcal{A}(\varphi)$ we can associate a Töplitz in time operator A, recalling the notation of the Section 1.2.1, we define

$$L := \omega \cdot \partial_{\varphi} - A$$

Note that L is not Töplitz in time.

Lemma 3.1.2. The reducibility of the dynamical system corresponds to the fact that L can be diagonalized by a Töplitz in time change of variables.

Proof. Let U be the Töplitz in time matrix that diagonalizes L. By definition $U^{-1}LU$ is diagonal and moreover

$$U^{-1}LU = \omega \cdot \partial_{\varphi} - U^{-1}(AU - [\omega \cdot \partial_{\varphi}, U]) = \omega \cdot \partial_{\varphi} - A^{\infty}.$$

By the Lemmata 1.2.13, 1.2.14, 1.2.15, 1.2.17 and 1.2.12 A_{∞} is Töplitz in time and it is diagonal hence $A^{\infty} = \text{diag}a_j^{\infty}$.

Moreover,

$$U^{-1}(AU - [\omega \cdot \partial_{\varphi}, U]) \longleftrightarrow (\mathcal{U}(\varphi))^{-1}(\mathcal{A}(\varphi)\mathcal{U}(\varphi) - \omega \cdot \partial_{\varphi}\mathcal{U}(\varphi)).$$

So we proved that diagonalizable implies reducible. The other implication is clear if \mathcal{B} is diagonal and angle-independent.

3.2 Proof of the Theorem 3

Consider the equation (8) and its associated operator

$$\mathcal{L} := \omega \cdot \partial_{\varphi} + \partial_{xxx} + \varepsilon V(\varphi, x) \partial_x, \qquad (3.2.1)$$

Remark 3.2.1. Note that this operator maps the space of functions whose mean value in x is zero in to itself. So we could also work in this subspace. Note also that if V is even then \mathcal{L} maps even (see definition 13) functions into odd functions.

In the subsection 3.2.1 we perform a regularization procedure which conjugates the operator \mathcal{L} to the operator \mathcal{L}_3 defined in 3.2.9. This is well-known change of variables (Iooss-Plotnikov and Toland, [BBM14]), usually called *Descent method*.

In this context the change of variables are families of bounded linear operators on $H^s(\mathbb{T}) \equiv \mathbf{h}^s(\mathbb{Z})$. Following remark 1.2.10, we shall then envision this operator as acting on $\mathbf{h}^s(\mathbb{Z}^d)$.

We do two steps of regularization. The first one is a change of space variable (translation) and the second one a conjugation by pseudo-differential operators.

Then we will arrive to an operator of the form

$$\mathcal{L}_3 = \omega \cdot \partial_{\varphi} + \partial_{xxx} + m \partial_x + \mathcal{R}$$

where *m* is a constant and \mathcal{R} is a φ -dependent family of bounded operators on $H^{s}(\mathbb{T}) \equiv \mathbf{h}^{s}(\mathbb{Z})$.

Using the notation of the remark 1.2.10, we can associate to \mathcal{R} an operator R acting on $h^s(\mathbb{Z}^d)$ and Töplitz in time.

By reference to the notation of the Theorem 5 now we have that the role of parameters $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$ is assumed by $\omega \in \mathcal{O} \subset \mathbb{R}^{d-1}$ and

$$\Lambda_0(\xi) \rightsquigarrow \Lambda_0(\omega) = \omega \cdot \partial_{\varphi} + \partial_{xxx} + m \partial_x, \quad P_0 \rightsquigarrow R, \quad \mathcal{O}_0 \rightsquigarrow \mathcal{O}.$$

¹So observe that in this application n = d - 1

 Λ_0 satisfies the hypothesis (**H1**) of page 16, indeed $\Lambda_0(\omega) = \operatorname{diag}_{k=(l,j)\in\mathbb{Z}^d}\lambda_k^{(0)}$ with

$$\lambda_k^{(0)} = \mathbf{i}(\omega \cdot l - j^3 + mj) \tag{3.2.2}$$

where it is clear that $\lambda_k^{(0)} \neq \lambda_{k'}^{(0)}$ if $k \neq k'$ and

$$|\lambda_k - \lambda_{k'}|^{\operatorname{lip},\mathcal{O}} \le |l - l'| < |k - k'|.$$

Then we will estimate the reminder \mathcal{R} in view to apply the Theorem 5 and prove Theorem 3.

Remark 3.2.2. After the steps of regularization, we will obtain the operator \mathcal{L}_3 defined above and if V is even, it is odd.

Indeed, if V is even the function e (that we will define in (3.2.3)) is odd, a ((3.2.8)) is even in φ and odd in x and then p_0 (3.2.6) has mean value zero.

Note also that, since $\Lambda_0 + P_0$ maps even functions in odd ones and since the change of variable $Q = e^A$ is a parity-preserving and reality preserving operator then als(o the operator $\Lambda_1 + P_1 := Q^{-1}\Lambda_0 + P_0Q$ maps even functions in odd functions. Iterating this we obtain that the final operator Λ_∞ maps even functions in odd functions, is reality preserving and it is diagonal and hence it has purely imaginary eigenvalues.

Therefore, the final operator is odd and we can apply the Lemma 3 and obtain the stability result.

Notation We shall systematically use the notation

 $A \lesssim_h B$

where h is a parameter or a list of parameters, to denote that there exists a constant C(k) depending on k, such that A < C(k)B.

3.2.1 Regularization

Step 1 We do a first change of variables defining $y = x + p(\varphi)$. So we define

$$\mathcal{T}h(\varphi, x) := h(\varphi, x + p(\varphi)).$$

Its inverse is

$$\mathcal{T}^{-1}v(\varphi, y) := v(\varphi, y - p(\varphi)).$$

$$\mathcal{T}^{-1}\omega \cdot \partial_{\varphi}\mathcal{T} = \omega \cdot \partial_{\varphi} + [\omega \cdot \partial_{\varphi}p(\varphi)]\partial_{y} \qquad \mathcal{T}^{-1}\partial_{x}\mathcal{T} = \partial_{y}$$

So if we conjugate \mathcal{L} we obtain

 $\mathcal{T}^{-1}\mathcal{L}\mathcal{T} = \omega \cdot \partial_{\varphi} + \partial_{yyy} + e(\varphi, y)\partial_{y}$

with

$$e(\varphi, y) = \omega \cdot \partial_{\varphi} p(\varphi) + \mathcal{T}^{-1} V(\varphi, y).$$
(3.2.3)

We are looking for $p(\varphi)$ such that $e(\varphi, y)$ has the mean value in y constant in φ , namely

$$\frac{1}{2\pi}\int_{\mathbb{T}}e(\varphi,y)\,dy=m\in\mathbb{R}\quad\forall\,\varphi\in\mathbb{T}^d.$$

$$m = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{T}} e(\varphi, y) \, dy = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \omega \cdot \partial_{\varphi} p(\varphi) + \mathcal{T}^{-1} V(\varphi, y) \, dy = \omega \cdot \partial_{\varphi} p(\varphi) + \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \mathcal{T}^{-1} V(\varphi, y) \, dy$$
$$\omega \cdot \partial_{\varphi} p(\varphi) = m - \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \mathcal{T}^{-1} V(\varphi, y) \, dy$$

This equation has periodic solution $p(\varphi)$ if and only if

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}^d} m - \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \mathcal{T}^{-1} V(\varphi, y) \, dy \, d\varphi = 0$$
$$m = \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{T}} V(\varphi, y) \, dy \, d\varphi$$

So we need to have:

$$m := \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{d+1}} \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d+1}} V(\varphi, y) \, dy \, d\varphi \qquad p(\varphi) := (\omega \cdot \partial_{\varphi})^{-1} \left(m - \int_{\mathbb{T}} V(\varphi, y) \, dy \right) \quad (3.2.4)$$

With this choice of $p(\varphi)$, after renaming the variable y = x, we obtain:

$$\mathcal{L}_2 = \mathcal{T}^{-1}\mathcal{L}\mathcal{T} = \omega \cdot \partial_{\varphi} + \partial_{xxx} + e(\varphi, x)\partial_x$$

with $e(\varphi, x)$ (recall (3.2.3)) such that

$$\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{T}} e(\varphi, y) \, dy = m \in \mathbb{R} \quad \forall \, \varphi \in \mathbb{T}^d.$$

Step 2 Now we do a second change of variables. Consider an operator of the form:

$$\mathcal{S} = \mathbb{I} + a(\varphi, x) \partial_x^{-1} \quad a(\varphi, x) : \mathbb{T}^{d+1} \to \mathbb{R}$$

Note that $\partial_x^{-1}\partial_x = \partial_x\partial_x^{-1} = \pi_0$, where π_0 is the L^2 -projector on the subspace $H_0 := \{u(\varphi, x) \in L^2(\mathbb{T}^{d+1}) : \int_{\mathbb{T}} u(\varphi, x) \, dx = 0\}.$

$$\mathcal{L}_2 \mathcal{S} - \mathcal{S}(\omega \cdot \partial_{\varphi} + \partial_{xxx} + m\partial_x) = p_1 \partial_x + p_0 + p_{-1} \partial_x^{-1}$$

with

$$p_1 := e(\varphi, x) + 3\partial_x a(\varphi, x) - m \tag{3.2.5}$$

$$p_0 := \left(3\partial_{xx}a(\varphi, x) + e(\varphi, x)a(\varphi, x) - a(\varphi, x)\right)\pi_0 \tag{3.2.6}$$

$$p_{-1} := \omega \cdot (\partial_{\varphi} a(\varphi, x)) + \partial_{xxx} a(\varphi, x) + e(\varphi, x) \partial_{x} a(\varphi, x)$$
(3.2.7)

We are looking for a space-periodic function $a(\varphi, x)$ such that $p_1 = 0$ so it has to be defined as

$$a(\varphi, x) := \frac{1}{3} \partial_x^{-1} (m - e(\varphi, x))$$
(3.2.8)

So if we conjugate \mathcal{L}_2 through \mathcal{S} we obtain

$$\mathcal{L}_3 = \mathcal{S}^{-1} \mathcal{L}_2 \mathcal{S} = \omega \cdot \partial_{\varphi} + \partial_{xxx} + m \partial_x + \mathcal{R}, \quad \mathcal{R} := \mathcal{S}^{-1} (p_0 + p_{-1} \partial_x^{-1}).$$
(3.2.9)

3.2.2 Estimates on $\mathcal{R}(\varphi)$ and R

Recall the assumption of the Theorem 3 so consider $\omega \in \mathcal{O}$ a subset of the (γ, τ) -diophantine vectors, and fix $b > 4\tau + 2$, $s_0 > \frac{d}{2}$.

Lemma 3.2.3. There exist $\sigma = \sigma(\tau)$, such that if $V \in H^{s+\sigma}$ then $p(\varphi)$ defined in (3.2.4) belongs to H^{s_0} and the following bound holds

$$|p(\varphi)|_{s_0}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}} \le \gamma^{-1} |V|_{s+\sigma}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}}$$

Proof. It is clear that if \mathcal{O} is contained in the set of (γ, τ) -diophantine vectors and $f \in H^{s+2\tau+1}$, one has

$$\begin{aligned} |(\omega \cdot \partial_{\varphi})^{-1}f|_{s} &\leq \gamma^{-1}|f|_{s+\tau} \\ |(\omega \cdot \partial_{\varphi})^{-1}f|_{s}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}} &\leq \gamma^{-1}|f|_{s+2\tau+1}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}} \end{aligned}$$

indeed

$$\begin{aligned} |(\omega \cdot \partial_{\varphi})^{-1}f|_{s}^{2} &= \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{d}} \langle k \rangle^{2s} \left| \left((\omega \cdot \partial_{\varphi})^{-1} f \right)_{k} \right|^{2} = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{d}} \langle k \rangle^{2s} \left| \frac{f_{k}}{\omega \cdot l} \right|^{2} \leq \\ &\leq \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{d}} \langle k \rangle^{2s} \left| \gamma^{-1} f_{k} \langle l \rangle^{\tau} \right|^{2} \leq \gamma^{-2} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{d}} \langle k \rangle^{2(s+\tau)} \left| f_{k} \right|^{2} \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{aligned} |(\omega \cdot \partial_{\varphi})^{-1} f|_{s}^{\operatorname{lip},\mathcal{O}} &= \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{d}} \langle k \rangle^{2s} \Big| \frac{\Delta_{\omega} f_{k}}{\omega \cdot l} \Big|^{2} \\ &+ \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{d}} \langle k \rangle^{2s} \Big| f_{k} \Delta_{\omega} \frac{1}{\omega \cdot l} \Big|^{2} \leq \gamma^{-1} |\Delta_{\omega} f|_{s+\tau} + \gamma^{-2} |f|_{s+2\tau+1} \end{aligned}$$

and

$$|(\omega \cdot \partial_{\varphi})^{-1} f|_{s}^{\gamma, \mathcal{O}} \leq \gamma^{-1} |f|_{s+\tau} + \gamma^{-1} |f|_{s+2\tau+1} + \gamma(\gamma^{-1} |\Delta_{\omega} f|_{s_0+\tau})$$

so the Lemma is proved with $\sigma = 2\tau + 1$.

Lemma 3.2.4. For *m* defined in (3.2.4), $e(\varphi, x)$ defined in (3.2.3) and $a(\varphi, x)$ defined (3.2.8), the following bounds hold:

i.
$$|\mathcal{T}^{-1}V|_s^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}} \lesssim_{s,d} \gamma^{-1} |V|_{s+\frac{d}{2}+2\tau+1}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}}$$

- $\begin{array}{l} \mbox{ii.} \ |m| \leq |V|_s^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}} \\ \mbox{iii.} \ |e|_s^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}}, \ |m-e|_s^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}}, \ |a|_s^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}} \lesssim_{s,d} \gamma^{-1} |V|_{s+\frac{d}{2}+2\tau+2}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}} \end{array}$
- *Proof.* i. By the composition Lemma A.5, the Sobolev embedding and the Lemma 3.2.3 we have

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{T}^{-1}V|_{s}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}} \lesssim_{s,d} \left(|V|_{s+1}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}} + |p(\varphi)|_{s,\infty}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|V|_{2}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}} \right) \\ \lesssim_{s,d} \left(|V|_{s+1}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}} + |p(\varphi)|_{s+\frac{d}{2}}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|V|_{2}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}} \right) \lesssim_{s,d} \\ \lesssim_{s,d} \left(|V|_{s+1}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}} + \gamma^{-1}|V|_{s+\frac{d}{2}+2\tau+1}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|V|_{2}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}} \right) \lesssim_{s,d} \gamma^{-1}|V|_{s+\frac{d}{2}+2\tau+1}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}} \end{aligned}$$

- ii. The bound holds since m is the mean value of V.
- iii. By definition of e and a and by the Lemma 3.2.3 and the first item of this Lemma we have:

$$\begin{split} |e|_{s}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}} &= \left|\omega \cdot \partial_{\varphi} p(\varphi) + \mathcal{T}^{-1} V\right|_{s}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}} \leq |p|_{s+1}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}} + |\mathcal{T}^{-1} V|_{s}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}} \lesssim_{s,d} \\ &\lesssim_{s,d} \gamma^{-1} |V|_{s+2\tau+2}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}} + \gamma^{1} |V|_{s+\frac{d}{2}+2\tau+2}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}} \lesssim_{s,d} \gamma^{-1} |V|_{s+\frac{d}{2}+2\tau+2}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}} \\ |m-e|_{s}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}} \lesssim_{s,d} |V|_{s}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}} + \gamma^{-1} |V|_{s+\frac{d}{2}+2\tau+2}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}} \lesssim_{s,d} \gamma^{-1} |V|_{s+\frac{d}{2}+2\tau+2}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}} \\ |a|_{s}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}} &= \left|\frac{1}{3}\partial_{x}^{-1} (m-e(\varphi,x))\right|_{s}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}} \leq \frac{1}{3} |m-e|_{s}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}} \lesssim_{s,d} \gamma^{-1} |V|_{s+\frac{d}{2}+2\tau+2}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}} \\ \\ \Box \end{split}$$

Recalling the definition of the operators p_0, p_1 defined respectively in (3.2.6) and (3.2.7), we have the following Lemma.

Lemma 3.2.5. The following bound hold:

$$i. |p_0|_s^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}} \lesssim_{s,d} \gamma^{-1} |V|_{s+\frac{d}{2}+2\tau+4}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}}$$
$$ii. |p_{-1}|_s^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}} \lesssim_{s,d} \gamma^{-1} |V|_{s+\frac{d}{2}+2\tau+5}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}}$$

Proof. These bound follow easily from the definition of the operators and the algebra property of the decay norm. \Box

Let us now define

$$A := \frac{1}{3} \partial_x^{-1} (m - e(\varphi, x)) \partial_x^{-1} ,$$

This is a bounded operator on the space $h(\mathbb{Z}^d)$ with finite decay norm, since it is a composition of a multiplication operator, see Remark 1.2.2 with diagonal operators. We have

$$|A|_s^{\operatorname{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}} \lesssim_s |V|_{s+\frac{d}{2}+2\tau+2}.$$

In particular this implies that A belongs to a Banach algebra with the tame product property.

Also to the operators S and T we can associate the operators S, T acting on $\mathbf{h}^{s}(\mathbb{Z}^{d})$ and Töplitz in time.

Lemma 3.2.6. With the same hypothesis of the Lemma 1.2.5, if $C(s)|A|_s < \frac{5-\sqrt{13}}{6}$ then

 $|S^{-1} - \mathbb{I}|_s \le C(s)|A|_s(1 + 3C(s)|A|_s).$

Proof. As a consequence of the Lemma 1.2.5 we deduce that

$$|S^{-1} - \mathbb{I}|_{s} = \left|\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} A^{k}\right|_{s} \le \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} |A^{k}|_{s} \le C(s)|A|_{s} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k \left(C(s)|A|_{s}\right)^{k-1}$$
$$= C(s)|A|_{s} \frac{1}{(1 - C(s)|A|_{s})^{2}} \le C(s)|A|_{s}(1 + 3C(s)|A|_{s})$$

In the last inequality we use the smallness condition of the hypothesis.

Remark 3.2.7. In view of the Lemma 1.2.3 the decay norm satisfies the hypothesis of the Lemma 1.2.5. Hence this Lemma holds also for the decay norm so:

$$|S^{-1} - \mathbb{I}|_s^{\operatorname{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}} \le C(s)|A|_s^{\operatorname{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}(1+3C(s)|A|_s^{\operatorname{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}).$$

By remark 3.2.7 and Lemma 3.2.6 we deduce

$$|S^{-1}|_{s}^{\operatorname{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}} = |\mathbb{I} + (S^{-1} - \mathbb{I})|_{s}^{\operatorname{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}} \leq |\mathbb{I}|_{s}^{\operatorname{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}} + |S^{-1} - \mathbb{I}|_{s}^{\operatorname{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}$$

$$\stackrel{3.2.6}{\leq} 1 + C(s)|A|_{s}^{\operatorname{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}(1 + 3C(s)|A|_{s}^{\operatorname{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}) \leq 1 + 2C(s)|A|_{s}^{\operatorname{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}}$$

$$\lesssim_{s,d} 1 + \gamma^{-1}|V|_{s+\frac{d}{2}+2\tau+2}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}}$$

And finally, for the algebra property we obtain the estimate of the operator \mathcal{R} :

$$\begin{aligned} |R|_{s}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}} &\leq |S^{-1}|_{s}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}} |p_{0} + p_{-1}\partial_{x}^{-1}|_{s}^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}} \lesssim_{s,d} (1 + \gamma^{-1}|V|_{s + \frac{d}{2} + 2\tau + 2}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}}) \gamma^{-1}|V|_{2s + 2\tau + 5}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}} \\ &\lesssim_{s,d} \gamma^{-1}|V|_{s + \frac{d}{2} + 2\tau + 5}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}} \end{aligned}$$

Recalling the tameness property of the decay norm (see Lemma 1.2.3), we have also

$$|\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^b \mathcal{R}|_s^{\mathrm{dec},\gamma,\mathcal{O}} \lesssim_{s,d} \gamma^{-1} |V|_{s+\frac{d}{2}+2\tau+5+b}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}}$$

Proof of Theorem 3. First of all, observe that $\mathcal{R} \iff R$ is a Töplitz in time operator. Indeed, by

 $-p_0, p_{-1}, a$ are moltiplication operator so they are Töplitz in both time and space,

 $- \partial_x^{-1}$ in Töplitz in time since it acts only on the space.

$- \mathbb{I}$ is Töplitz

follows that $p_0 + p_{-1}\partial_x^{-1}$ and S^{-1} is Töplitz in time and so R. Therefore, for Lemma 3.1.2 reducing (8) is equivalent to diagonalizing the operator

$$L_3 = \omega \cdot \partial_{\varphi} + \partial_{xxx} + m \partial_x + R.$$

By the discussion in Section 3.2.2 we can apply Theorem 5 to \mathcal{L}_3 Then there exists a list $\{\lambda_k^\infty\}_{k\in\mathbb{Z}^d}\in\mathcal{C}$. It remains to prove that the set \mathcal{C} defined in (2.1.4) satisfies the measure estimate in 12. We will do that in the next section. In conclusion $\Phi := T \circ S \circ U$ is the operator searched in the Theorem 3.

3.2.3 Measure estimates and conclusion of the proof

We proved that the operator R satisfies the hypothesis of the Theorem 5 so we there exists a list $\{\lambda_k^{(\infty)}\}_{k\in\mathbb{Z}^d} \in \mathcal{C}$ defined in (2.1.4). We want to give a precise formulation of the set \mathcal{C} and show that it is not empty for γ

We want to give a precise formulation of the set C and show that it is not empty for γ sufficiently small. By Corollary 2.1.7, we have that the $\lambda_k^{(\infty)}$ have the form

$$\lambda_k^{(\infty)} = \mathbf{i}(\omega \cdot l - j^3 + mj) + r_j^{\infty}(\omega) \,.$$

It remains to prove is that the set of ω such that

$$\mathcal{G} := \left\{ |\lambda_k(\omega) - \lambda_{k'}(\omega)| > \frac{2\gamma}{\langle l - l' \rangle^{\tau}}, \quad k = (l, j), l \in \mathbb{Z}^d, j \in \mathbb{Z} \right\} \subset \mathcal{C}$$
(3.2.10)

satisfies (12). We are dropping the superscript (∞) in λ_k, r_j for easier notation.

First of all we consider two trivial cases:

Case 1 : j = j' and $\nu := l - l' \neq 0$

For the corollary 2.1.7 we know that eigenvalues are of the form

$$\lambda_k = \mathrm{i}\omega \cdot l + \Delta_j = \mathrm{i}\omega \cdot l - \mathrm{i}j^3 + \mathrm{i}mj + r_j(\omega)$$

so the set of the ω that satisfies 3.2.10 is the set of the diophantine numbers. Indeed $\lambda_k(\omega) - \lambda_{k'}(\omega) = \omega \cdot (l - l') = \omega \cdot \nu$. Case 2 $\nu = 0 \rightarrow j \neq j'$

$$\begin{aligned} |\lambda_k(\omega) - \lambda_{k'}(\omega)| &= |-i(j^3 - j'^3) + mi(j - j') + r_j - r_{j'}| \\ &\ge |j^3 - j'^3| - |m||j - j'| - |r_j| - |r_{j'}| = \\ &= |j - j'| \Big(|j^2 + j'^2 + jj'| - m \Big) - 2C\gamma\varepsilon_0 \\ &\ge (1 - \varepsilon_0) - 2C\gamma\varepsilon_0 \ge \frac{1}{2} \end{aligned}$$

where we use that $|r_j| \leq C\gamma \varepsilon_0$ for the corollary 2.1.6 with n = 0. Now let's consider the general case. Define the set

$$\mathcal{R}_{j,j'}^{\nu} := \left\{ \omega \in \mathcal{O}_0 : |\lambda_k(\omega) - \lambda_{k'}(\omega)| \le \frac{\gamma}{\langle \nu \rangle^{\tau}} \right\}$$

Ask the measure of the set of the intersection of all the set that satisfies the condition 3.2.10 is equivalent to measure the complementary set of

$$\bigcup_{\nu\in\mathbb{Z}^d j,j'\in\mathbb{Z}}\mathcal{R}^\nu_{j,j'}$$

For the additivity of the measure we need to calculate the measure of $\mathcal{R}_{j,j'}^{\nu}$. Before the general case, let's see an easy one: $r_j = r_{j'} = 0$ Intuitively we are measuring the volume of the intersection of the space between the 2

$$\mathrm{i}\omega\cdot\nu-\mathrm{i}(j^3-j'^3)+\mathrm{i}m(j-j')=\pmrac{\gamma}{\langle l-l'
angle ^{ au}}$$

and the hypercube $\omega \in [1,2]^d$ so we can imagine that at most it is $\zeta^{d-1} 2 \frac{\gamma}{\langle \nu \rangle^{\tau}}$ where ζ is the diagonal of the hypercube. Let's prove it in a more rigorous way.

Since are constant in ω , for convenience, we call $L_{j,j'} = j^3 - j'^3 - m(j-j')$ and $\alpha = \frac{\gamma}{\langle \nu \rangle^{\tau}}$. We want to measure $i\omega \cdot \nu - iL_{j,j'} = t$ with $|t| \leq \alpha$. We do a first orthogonal change of variables such that the new variables ξ_i satisfy $\xi_1 \parallel \nu$ and $\xi_i \perp \nu, i \neq 1$ so the planes become $\xi_1 |\nu| + L_{j,j'} = t$.

Now we do an other change of variable to explicit ξ_1

$$F: (\xi_1, x_2, \dots, \xi_d) \to (t, x_2, \dots, \xi_d)$$
$$\xi_1 = \frac{t - L_{j,j'}}{|\nu|} \quad d\xi_1 = \frac{dt}{|\nu|}$$

Now the measure is the product the integral

planes

$$\int_{-\alpha}^{\alpha} \frac{dt}{|\nu|} dt = \frac{2\alpha}{|\nu|} = 2\frac{\gamma}{\langle\nu\rangle^{\tau+1}}$$

and the integral of the other ξ_i in the hypercube that at most are ζ^{d-1} . So we obtain

$$\mu(\mathcal{R}_{j,j'}^{\nu}) \sim \frac{\gamma}{\langle \nu \rangle^{\tau+1}}$$

For the general case the strategy is the same, the new difficulty is $\operatorname{that} L_{j,j'}$ depends on ω and after the first change of variables depends on ξ_i so we need the Impicit Function Theorem in Lipschitz class to explicit ξ_1 and conclude in the same way of the case 1.

Lemma 3.2.8. Fix ν . If $\mathcal{R}_{j,j'}^{\nu} \neq \emptyset$ then $j, j' \leq D\sqrt{|\nu|}$.

Proof.

$$|j^{3} - j'^{3}| = |j - j'||j^{2} + jj' + j'^{2}| \ge (j^{2} + j'^{2} - |jj'|)|j - j'| \ge \frac{1}{2}(j^{2} + j'^{2})|j - j'|$$

Suppose that $\min j,j'>\sqrt{|\nu|}$

$$\begin{aligned} |\lambda_k(\omega) - \lambda_{k'}(\omega)| &\geq |-i(j^3 - j'^3) + im(j - j') + r_j - r_{j'}| \\ &\geq |j^3 - j'^3| - |m||j - j'| - |r_j| - |r_{j'}| \\ &\geq \frac{1}{2}(j^2 + j'^2)|j - j'| - |m||j - j'| - |r_j| - |r_{j'}| \\ &= |j - j'|[\frac{1}{2}(j^2 + j'^2) - m] - |r_j| - |r_{j'}| \\ &\geq (|\nu| - \varepsilon_0) - 2C\gamma\varepsilon_0) \geq \frac{1}{4} \end{aligned}$$

Then the corresponding resonant set $\mathcal{R}^{\nu}_{j,j'}$ is empty for γ sufficiently small.

$$\mu \Big(\bigcup_{\nu \in \mathbb{Z}^d \ j, j' \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{R}_{j, j'}^{\nu} \Big) = \sum_{\nu \in \mathbb{Z}^d \ j, j' \in \mathbb{Z}} \mu(\mathcal{R}_{j, j'}^{\nu}) \leq \sum_{\nu \in \mathbb{Z}^d \ j, j' \in \mathbb{Z}} \frac{\gamma}{\langle \nu \rangle^{\tau+1}} \\ \stackrel{3.2.8}{\leq} \operatorname{Const.} \sum_{r: \ |r|^2 \in \mathbb{N}} \langle r \rangle \frac{\gamma}{\langle r \rangle^{\tau+1}} \langle r \rangle^{d-1} = \sum_{r: \ |r|^2 \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{\gamma}{\langle r \rangle^{\tau-d+1}}$$

that is summable if and only if $\tau - d + 1 > 1$, i.e. $\tau > d$.

3.3 Proof of the Theorem 4

Consider $\alpha \in H^S(\mathbb{T}^d)$ with S sufficiently large be a function such that $|\alpha|_{s_0+\sigma}$ sufficiently small. Denote $\vec{\alpha} := (\alpha, 0, \dots 0) \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and consider the linear operator

$$\mathsf{C}_{\alpha}u(\theta) := u(\theta + \vec{\alpha}(\theta)) \,.$$

whose matrix representation is given by

$$(\mathbf{C}_{\alpha})_{k}^{k'} = \left(\widehat{e^{ik'\cdot\vec{\alpha}(\theta)}}\right)_{k-k'} \tag{3.3.1}$$

where \hat{g}_h is the h^{th} Fourier coefficient of the function g. Indeed

$$\mathbf{C}_{\alpha}e^{ik'\cdot\theta} = e^{ik'\cdot(\theta + \vec{\alpha}(\theta))} = \sum_{k} \left(e^{i\vec{k'\cdot(\theta + \vec{\alpha}(\theta))}}\right)_{k}e^{ik'\cdot\theta} = \sum_{k} \left(e^{i\vec{k'\cdot\vec{\alpha}(\theta)}}\right)_{k-k'}e^{i(k-k')\cdot\theta}$$

Writing $\theta = (x, \varphi)$ we have $C_{\alpha}u(\theta) = u(x + \alpha(\theta), \varphi)$ and consider the operator²

$$P := (\mathbf{C}_{\alpha} - \mathbb{I}) \partial_x^{-N} \quad \text{and } A^P = (P^B, P^U).$$

We want to apply the Theorem 6 so we need to prove the smallness of A^L in low norm and the finiteness of $\langle d \rangle^b A^L$ in high norm.

Consider the equation (15) and its associated operator

$$\mathcal{L} := \omega \cdot \partial_{\varphi} + \partial_{xxx} + (\mathbf{C}_{\alpha} - \mathbb{I})\partial_{x}^{-N}, \qquad (3.3.2)$$

By reference to the notation of Theorem 6 now we have that again the role of $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$ is assumed by $\omega \in \mathcal{O} \subset \mathbb{R}^{d-1}$ and

$$\Lambda_0(\xi) \rightsquigarrow \Lambda_0(\omega) = \omega \cdot \partial_{\varphi} + \partial_{xxx} , \quad P_0 \rightsquigarrow (\mathbf{C}_{\alpha} - \mathbb{I}) \partial_x^{-N} , \quad \mathcal{O}_0 = \mathcal{O} .$$

 Λ_0 satisfy the hypothesis (H1) of page 16, indeed $\Lambda_0 = \operatorname{diag}_{k=(l,j)\in\mathbb{Z}^d}\lambda_k^{(0)}$ with

$$\lambda_k^{(0)} = \omega \cdot l + j^3$$

where it is clear that $\lambda_k^{(0)} \neq \lambda_{k'}^{(0)}$ if $k \neq k'$ and

$$|\lambda_k - \lambda_{k'}|^{\operatorname{lip},\mathcal{O}} \le |l - l'| < |k - k'|.$$

Now estimate the perturbation $(C_{\alpha} - \mathbb{I})\partial_x^{-N}$ in view to apply the Theorem 6 and prove 4.

Since L does not depend on ω , in the following estimates we will not use the weighted norm.

Lemma 3.3.1. We have that

$$\|A^P\|_{s_0} \le 2^{s_1 + s_0 + 2} |\alpha|_{s_0 + 2\beta + 1} \tag{3.3.3}$$

$$\|\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b} A^{P} \|_{s} \lesssim_{s,d} 2^{s_{1}-s_{0}} |\alpha|_{s+\beta+\frac{d}{2}+b+1} + \mathsf{K}_{s}(1+|\alpha|_{s+d+1}^{2})$$
(3.3.4)

Proof. First of all, note that for the Mean value Theorem

$$\left(\mathsf{C}_{\alpha} - \mathbb{I}\right)\partial_x^{-N} = \alpha(x,\varphi) \int_0^1 \mathsf{C}_{\tau\alpha} \partial_x^{-N+1} d\tau \qquad (3.3.5)$$

²Note that $P = \mathcal{S}A^P$.

Using that, for the first inequality we have:

$$\begin{split} \|A^{P}\|_{s_{0}} &= \sup_{s_{0} \leq p \leq s_{1}} |P^{B}|_{p,p} + |P^{U}|_{s_{0},s_{0}} \overset{(1.3.8)}{\leq} \sup_{s_{0} \leq p \leq s_{1}} 2^{p-s_{0}} |L|_{s_{0},s_{0}} + |L^{U}|_{s_{0},s_{0}} \\ &\leq 2^{s_{1}-s_{0}+1} |L|_{s_{0},s_{0}} \overset{(3.3.5)}{=} 2^{s_{1}-s_{0}+1} |\alpha \int_{0}^{1} C_{\tau\alpha} \partial_{x}^{-N+1} d\tau|_{s_{0},s_{0}} \\ &\leq 2^{s_{1}-s_{0}+1} |\alpha|_{s_{0}}| \int_{0}^{1} C_{\tau\alpha} \partial_{x}^{-N+1} d\tau|_{s_{0},s_{0}} \\ &\leq 2^{s_{1}-s_{0}+1} |\alpha|_{s_{0}}| \sup_{0 < \tau < 1} |C_{\tau\alpha} \partial_{x}^{-N+1}|_{s_{0},s_{0}} \\ & \begin{pmatrix} 1.1.9 \\ >d \end{pmatrix} 2^{s_{1}-s_{0}+1} |\alpha|_{s_{0}} \sup_{0 < \tau < 1} \left(||C_{\tau\alpha} \partial_{x}^{-N+1}||_{s_{0},s_{0}+\beta} + ||C_{\tau\alpha} \partial_{x}^{-N+1}||_{s_{0}-\beta,s_{0}} \right) \\ & \begin{pmatrix} 1.1.1 \\ >d \end{pmatrix} 2^{s_{1}-s_{0}+1} |\alpha|_{s_{0}} \sup_{0 < \tau < 1} \left(||C_{\tau\alpha} \partial_{x}^{-N+\beta+1}||_{s_{0}+\beta,s_{0}+\beta} + ||C_{\tau\alpha}||_{s_{0}+\beta,s_{0}+\beta} \\ &+ ||C_{\tau\alpha} \partial_{x}^{-N+\beta+1}||_{s_{0},s_{0}} + ||C_{\tau\alpha}||_{s_{0},s_{0}} \right) \\ &\lesssim d \ 2^{s_{1}-s_{0}+2} |\alpha|_{s_{0}} \sup_{0 < \tau < 1} \left(||C_{\tau\alpha}||_{s_{0}+\beta,s_{0}+\beta} + ||C_{\tau\alpha}||_{s_{0},s_{0}} \right) \\ &\lesssim d \ 2^{s_{1}-s_{0}+2} |\alpha|_{s_{0}} \sup_{0 < \tau < 1} \left(\sup_{|u|_{s_{0}+\beta} < 1} (||C_{\tau\alpha}u||_{s_{0}+\beta} + ||D_{\tau\alpha}||_{s_{0}+\beta-1}|u|_{1}) \\ &+ \sup_{|u|_{s_{0}} < 1} (|u||_{s_{0}} + |D_{\tau\alpha}||_{s_{0}-1}|u|_{1}) \right) \\ &\lesssim d, s_{0} \ 2^{s_{1}-s_{0}+2} |\alpha|_{s_{0}} \sup_{0 < \tau < 1} \left(2 + ||\tau\alpha||_{s_{0}+2\beta-1} + ||\tau\alpha||_{s_{0}-1} \right) \\ &\lesssim d, s_{0} \ 2^{s_{1}-s_{0}+2} |\alpha|_{s_{0}} \sup_{0 < \tau < 1} \left(2 + ||\alpha||_{s_{0}+2\beta-1} + ||\alpha||_{s_{0}-1} \right) \\ &\lesssim d, s_{0} \ 2^{s_{1}-s_{0}+2} |\alpha|_{s_{0}} \sup_{0 < \tau < 1} \left(2 + ||\alpha||_{s_{0}+2\beta-1} + ||\alpha||_{s_{0}-1} \right) \\ &\lesssim d, s_{0} \ 2^{s_{1}-s_{0}+2} |\alpha||_{s_{0}} \left\{ 2 + ||\alpha||_{s_{0}+2\beta-1} + ||\alpha||_{s_{0}-1} \right\} \end{aligned}$$

Remark 3.3.2. Note that here we used that $N > \beta + 1$

Observing that $(\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^b P)^B = \langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^b P^B$ and the same for L^U , we estimate

$$\|\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^b A^P \|_s = \sup_{s_0$$

Let us start with the estimate on the Bony part and let us do it with b = 1. First of all observe that $[\partial_{\theta_i}, (\mathbf{c}_{\alpha} - \mathbb{I})\partial_x^{-N}] = [\partial_{\theta_i}, \mathbf{c}_{\alpha}\partial_x^{-N}], \quad \theta = (\theta_1, \theta_2, \dots) = (x, \varphi).$ Then the action of commutator between ∂_{θ_i} and $\mathbf{c}_{\alpha}\partial_x^{-N}$ on a function u assume the form:

$$\begin{split} [\partial_{\theta_i}, \mathbf{c}_{\alpha} \partial_x^{-N}] u &= \partial_{\theta_i} [\mathbf{c}_{\alpha} \partial_x^{-N} u] - \mathbf{c}_{\alpha} \partial_x^{-N} (\partial_{\theta_i} u) \\ &= \partial_{\theta_i} (\partial_x^{-N} u (x + \alpha(\theta), \varphi)) - (\partial_x^{-N} \partial_{\theta_i} u) (x + \alpha(\theta), \varphi) \\ &= \partial_x^{-N} u_x (x + \alpha(\theta), \varphi)) \partial_{\theta_i} \alpha(\theta) + (\partial_x^{-N} \partial_{\theta_i} u) (x + \alpha(\theta), \varphi) - (\partial_x^{-N} \partial_{\theta_i} u) (x + \alpha(\theta), \varphi) \\ &= \partial_x^{-N} u_x (x + \alpha(\theta), \varphi)) \partial_{\theta_i} \alpha(\theta) \end{split}$$

In view of the estimate of the of the Bony part of the operator $\langle d \rangle^b L$, using the previous formula, the following estimate hold:

$$\begin{aligned} |\partial_x^{-N+\beta} u_x(x+\alpha(\theta),\varphi))\partial_{\theta_i}\alpha(\theta)|_s &\leq |\partial_x^{-N+\beta} u_x(x+\alpha(\theta),\varphi))|_s |\partial_{\theta_i}\alpha(\theta)|_s \\ &\leq |u(x+\alpha(\theta),\varphi))|_{s+1} |\alpha(\theta)|_{s+1} \\ &\lesssim_{d,s} |\alpha(\theta)|_{s+1} (|u|_{s+1}+|D\alpha|_{s,\infty}|u|_1) \\ &\lesssim_{d,s} |\alpha(\theta)|_{s+1} (|u|_{s+1}+|\alpha|_{s+\frac{d}{2}}|u|_1) \end{aligned}$$

In the end, using the Lemma 1.1.9, the previous estimate, the composition Lemma A.5 and the Sobolev embedding and recalling that $N > \beta + 1$, we obtain:

$$\begin{split} |[\partial_{\theta_i}, \mathbf{c}_{\alpha} \partial_x^{-N}]|_{s,s} &\lesssim_d \|[\partial_{\theta_i}, \mathbf{c}_{\alpha} \partial_x^{-N}]\|_{s,s+\beta} + \|[\partial_{\theta_i}, \mathbf{c}_{\alpha} \partial_x^{-N}]\|_{s-\beta,s} \\ &= \|[\partial_{\theta_i}, \mathbf{c}_{\alpha} \partial_x^{-N+\beta}]\|_{s+\beta,s+\beta} + \|[\partial_{\theta_i}, \mathbf{c}_{\alpha} \partial_x^{-N+\beta}]\|_{s,s} \\ &= \sup_{|u|_{s+\beta} \leq 1} |\partial_x^{-N} u_x(x + \alpha(\theta), \varphi)) \partial_{\theta_i} \alpha(\theta)|_{s+\beta} \\ &+ \sup_{|u|_s \leq 1} |\partial_x^{-N} u_x(x + \alpha(\theta), \varphi)) \partial_{\theta_i} \alpha(\theta)|_s \\ &\lesssim_{d,s} \sup_{|u|_{s+\beta} \leq 1} |\alpha(\theta)|_{s+\beta+1} (|u|_{s+\beta+1} + |\alpha|_{s+\beta+\frac{d}{2}} |u|_1) \\ &+ \sup_{|u|_s \leq 1} |\alpha(\theta)|_{s+1} (|u|_{s+1} + |\alpha|_{s+\frac{d}{2}} |u|_1) \\ &\lesssim_{d,s} |\alpha(\theta)|_{s+\beta+1} (1 + |\alpha|_{s+\beta+\frac{d}{2}}) + |\alpha(\theta)|_{s+1} (1 + |\alpha|_{s+\frac{d}{2}}) \\ &\lesssim_{d,s} |\alpha|_{s+\beta+\frac{d}{2}+1} \end{split}$$

Hence we have that

$$|\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^b P|_{s,s} \lesssim_{d,s} |\alpha|_{s+\beta+\frac{d}{2}+b+1}.$$

Consider now ultraviolet part $\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^b L^U$. Since

$$\left((\mathbf{C}_{\alpha} - \mathbb{I})_{k}^{k'} (\partial_{x}^{-N})^{k'} \right)^{U} = \left((\mathbf{C}_{\alpha})_{k}^{k'} \right)^{U} (ik')^{-N}.$$

then we have

$$|\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^b P^U|_{s_0,s}^2 \stackrel{(\mathbf{1.3.8})}{\leq} C_s \Big(\sum_h |h|^{2s} \sup_{\substack{k-k'=h\\|h|>|k|/2}} |(\mathbf{C}_\alpha)_k^{k'}|^2 \Big) \stackrel{\mathbf{3.3.3}}{\leq} (1+|\alpha|_{s+d+1}^2 C_s) \mathbf{K}_s \Big(\sum_h |h|^{2s} \frac{1}{|h|^{2s+d+1}} \Big),$$

where in the second inequality we have used the Lemma 3.3.3 that we state and prove below.

Lemma 3.3.3. Consider $\alpha \in H^{s+d+1}(\mathbb{T})$ and such that $|\alpha|_{1,\infty} := \sum_{|\beta| \leq 1} |D^{\beta}u|_{L^{\infty}} \leq \frac{1}{2}$. Then for $|j|/|\xi| \geq 2/3$ one has

$$|\left(\widehat{e^{i\xi\alpha(x)}}\right)_j| = |\int_0^{2\pi} e^{i(\xi\alpha(x) - jx)} dx| \le \frac{\mathsf{K}_s}{|j|^{s + \frac{d}{2} + 1}} (1 + |\alpha|_{s + d + 1}),$$

for a suitable constant $K_s > 1$.

Proof. We set $\eta := \xi/k$, with $|\eta| \leq 3/2$, and note that $y = x - \eta \alpha(x)$ is a well defined change of variables on the circle with inverse $x = y + \eta \zeta(y, \eta)$, by the composition Lemma A.5. Note that $\zeta \in H^{s+d+1}$ again by Lemma A.5 and $|\beta|_{1,\infty} \leq 2|\alpha|_{1,\infty}$. Now with this in mind, we make the change of variable $x = y + \eta \zeta(y, \eta)$ in the integral and we get

$$\left(\widehat{e^{i\xi\alpha(x)}}\right)_j = \int_0^{2\pi} (1 + \eta\zeta_y(y,\eta))e^{-ijy}dy = \hat{g}_j$$

where

$$g(y,\eta) := 1 + \eta \zeta_y(y,\eta) \,.$$

Since, if $g \in H^s$

$$|\widehat{g}_j| \le \frac{|g|_{s-1}}{|j|^{s-1}},$$

by the standard composition rules in Sobolev spaces, we have

$$|(\widehat{e^{i\xi\alpha(x)}})_{j}| = \frac{|g|_{s-1}}{|j|^{s-1}} \lesssim_{d,s} (1+|D\zeta|_{s-2}) \lesssim_{d,s} (1+|D\alpha|_{s-2}) \lesssim_{d,s} (1+|\alpha|_{s-1})$$

Note that the same property holds also if α depends on φ .

Proof of Theorem 4. The perturbation $(C_{\alpha} - \mathbb{I})\partial_x^{-N}$ is Töplitz since ∂_x^{-N} acts only on the space, \mathbb{I} is Töplitz and

$$(\mathbf{C}_{\alpha})_{k}^{k'} = \left(\widehat{e^{ik'\cdot\vec{\alpha}(\theta)}}\right)_{k-k'} = \left(e^{ij'\alpha}\widehat{(\theta)+(j'-j)x}\right)_{l-l'}$$

Therefore, for Lemma 3.1.2 reduce (15) is equivalent to diagonalize the operator

$$\omega \cdot \partial_{\varphi} + \partial_{xxx} + (\mathbf{C}_{\alpha} - \mathbb{I})\partial_x^{-N} \,.$$

From Lemma 3.3.1 we have

$$\|A^P\|_{s_0} \le 2^{s_1+s_0+2} |\alpha|_{s_0+2\beta+1}, \quad \|\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^b A^P\| \lesssim_{s,d} 2^{s_1-s_0} |\alpha|_{s+\beta+\frac{d}{2}+b+1} + \mathsf{K}_s(1+|\alpha|_{s+d+1}^2)$$

Then the operator P satisfies the hypothesis of the Theorems 5 and 6 so we there exists a list $\{\lambda_k^{(\infty)}\}_{k\in\mathbb{Z}^d} \in \mathcal{C}$ defined in (2.1.4) such that in this set \mathcal{C} the Töplitz in time operator

P associated to the operator (3.3.2) is conjugated to $\Lambda_{\infty} = \text{diag}_k \lambda_k^{(\infty)}$. By the Corollary 2.1.7 we have that

$$\lambda_k^{(\infty)} = \mathrm{i}\omega \cdot l - \mathrm{i}j^3 + r_j^{(\infty)}$$

Thus we are in the setting of the Section 3.2.3 with m = 0. Therefore, also in this case the set C is not empty.

Appendix A Technical results and useful tools

In this Chapter we collect the proofs of technical results and some useful tools.

A.1 Proof of Proposition 1.1.9

Let $s \ge 0$. Since H^s is a subspace of $H^0 = \ell^2$, denoting by $e^{(k)}$, $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ the standard orthonormal basis of ℓ^2 , namely $e^{(k)} = (\ldots, 0, 1, 0, \ldots)$, we have that the standard basis of H^s , is

$$e^{(k,s)} = (\dots, 0, \langle k \rangle^{-s}, 0, \dots) = D^{-s} e^{(k)},$$

where D^s is the infinite matrix

$$D^s := \operatorname{diag}_k \langle k \rangle^s$$
.

If $x \in H^s$ has ℓ^2 -coordinates $x = (x_k)$, namely $x = \sum_k x_k e^{(k)}$, its H^s -coordinates are $\hat{x}^{(s)} = (\hat{x}_k^{(s)})_{k \in \mathbb{Z}}$, namely

$$x = D^{-s} \hat{x}^{(s)} = \sum_{k} \hat{x}^{(s)}_{k} e^{(k,s)}$$

Note that $\hat{x}^{(s)} \in \ell^2$ and 1

$$|x|_s = |\hat{x}^{(s)}|_0. \tag{A.1.1}$$

Let $s' \ge 0$ and consider a bounded linear operator $A \in \mathcal{L}(H^s, H^{s'})$. Since H^s and $H^{s'}$ are subspace of $\ell^2 = H^0$, we can represent A as an infinite matrix $A = (A_k^{k'})_{k,k'\in\mathbb{Z}}$ in the ℓ^2 -coordinates, namely, if $x \in H^s$ and $y \in H^{s'}$ with ℓ^2 -coordinates $x = (x_{k'}), y = (y_k)$, and y = Ax, then $y_k = \sum_{k'} A_k^{k'} x_{k'}$. On the other hand, using the coordinates of H^s and $H^{s'}$, namely writing $x = D^{-s} \hat{x}^{(s)}$ and $y = D^{-s'} \hat{y}^{(s')}$, we get, by y = Ax, that

$$\hat{y}^{(s)} = \hat{A}\hat{x}^{(s)}, \quad \text{where} \quad \hat{A} := D^{s'}AD^{-s} \in \mathcal{L}(H^0, H^0).$$

¹This is the usual isometry between the separable Hilbert space H^s and $H^0 := \ell^2$.

²With abuse of notation we denote by A both the operator and its ℓ^2 -representation by the infinite matrix $A = (A_k^{k'})$.

In particular

$$\|A\|_{s,s'} = \|\hat{A}\|_{0,0}, \qquad (A.1.2)$$

since by (A.1.1) (used with s and s')

$$\|A\|_{s,s'} = \sup_{|x|_s=1} |Ax|_{s'} = \sup_{|\hat{x}^{(s)}|_0=1} |AD^{-s}\hat{x}^{(s)}|_{s'} = \sup_{|\hat{x}^{(s)}|_0=1} |AD^{-s}\hat{x}^{(s)}|_0 = \sup_{|\hat{x}^{(s)}|_0=1} |\hat{A}\hat{x}^{(s)}|_0 = \|\hat{A}\|_{0,0}$$

We immediately have that, for every A,

$$\widehat{(\partial A)} = \partial \hat{A}, \qquad \widehat{(\underline{A})} = \underline{(\hat{A})}.$$
 (A.1.3)

Lemma A.1.1. If $M, \partial_m^\beta M \in \mathcal{L}(H^0, H^0)$ for every $1 \le m \le d$, and

$$\beta := \lfloor d/2 \rfloor + 1,$$

then $M \in \mathcal{M}(H^0, H^0)$ (i.e. $\underline{M} \in \mathcal{L}(H^0, H^0)$) and

$$|M|_{0,0} \le ||M||_{0,0} + c_d \sum_{1 \le m \le d} ||\partial_m^\beta M||_{0,0}.$$

Then Proposition 1.1.9 is a direct consequence of (A.1.2), (A.1.3) and Lemma A.1.1 (applied with $M := \hat{A}$). Indeed we have

$$\begin{split} |A|_{s,s'} &= \|\underline{A}\|_{s,s'} = \|\underline{\hat{A}}\|_{0,0} = |\widehat{A}|_{0,0} \le \|\widehat{A}\|_{0,0} + c_d \sum_{1 \le m \le d} \|\partial_m^\beta \widehat{A}\|_{0,0} \\ &= \|A\|_{s,s'} + c_d \sum_{1 \le m \le d} \|\widehat{(\partial_m^\beta A)}\|_{0,0} = \|A\|_{s,s'} + c_d \sum_{1 \le m \le d} \|\partial_m^\beta A\|_{s,s'} \,. \end{split}$$

It remains to prove Lemma A.1.1. We first note that

$$\sum_{k'} |M_k^{k'}|, \ \sum_k |M_k^{k'}| \le \|M\|_{0,0} + c_d \sum_{1 \le m \le d} \|\partial_m^\beta M\|_{0,0} =: \mu,$$
(A.1.4)

for a suitable $c_d > 1$. Fix $k' \in \mathbb{Z}^d$; let us split

$$\sum_{k} |M_{k}^{k'}| = |M_{k'}^{k'}| + S_1 + S_2 + \ldots + S_d, \qquad (A.1.5)$$

where S_n , $1 \le n \le d$, is the sum over $k_1, \ldots, k_d \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that n - d indexes are equal to the respective k'_j and the other d are different; for example one of the addenda of S_n is

$$\sum_{k_1 \neq k'_1} \dots \sum_{k_n \neq k'_n} |M^{k'}_{(\tilde{k}, \hat{k}')}|$$

where, for brevity, $\tilde{k} := (k_1, \ldots, k_n)$ and $\hat{k}' := (k'_{n+1}, \ldots, k'_d)$. Denoting

$$\beta := \lfloor d/2 \rfloor + 1 \,,$$

we estimate this the term^3 as, by Cauchy-Schwarz inequality,

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{k_1 \neq k'_1} \cdots \sum_{k_n \neq k'_n} |M_{(\tilde{k}, \tilde{k}')}^{k'}| = \sum_{k_1 \neq k'_1} |M_{(\tilde{k}, \tilde{k}')}^{k'}|^{1/n} \cdots \sum_{k_n \neq k'_n} |M_{(\tilde{k}, \tilde{k}')}^{k'}|^{1/n} \\ &= \sum_{k_1 \neq k'_1} \frac{|\partial_1^{\beta} M_{(\tilde{k}, \tilde{k}')}^{k'}|^{1/n}}{|k_1 - k'_1|^{\beta/n}} \cdots \sum_{k_n \neq k'_n} \frac{|\partial_n^{\beta} M_{(\tilde{k}, \tilde{k}')}^{k'}|^{1/n}}{|k_n - k'_n|^{\beta/n}} \\ &\leq \left(\sum_{k_1 \neq k'_1} \frac{1}{|k_1 - k'_1|^{2\beta/n}}\right)^{1/2} \left(\sum_{k_1 \neq k'_1} |\partial_1^{\beta} M_{(\tilde{k}, \tilde{k}')}^{k'}|^{2/n}\right)^{1/2} \\ &\cdots \left(\sum_{k_n \neq k'_n} \frac{1}{|k_n - k'_n|^{2\beta/n}}\right)^{1/2} \left(\sum_{k_n \neq k'_n} |\partial_n^{\beta} M_{(\tilde{k}, \tilde{k}')}^{k'}|^{2/n}\right)^{1/2} \\ &\leq c_d \left(\sum_{k_1 \neq k'_1} \cdots \sum_{k_n \neq k'_n} |\partial_1^{\beta} M_{(\tilde{k}, \tilde{k}')}^{k'}|^2 + \cdots + |\partial_n^{\beta} M_{(\tilde{k}, \tilde{k}')}^{k'}|^2\right)^{1/2} \\ &\leq c_d \left(\sum_{k_1 \neq k'_1} \cdots \sum_{k_n \neq k'_n} \left(|\partial_1^{\beta} M_{(\tilde{k}, \tilde{k}')}^{k'}|^2 + \cdots + |\partial_n^{\beta} M_{(\tilde{k}, \tilde{k}')}^{k'}|^2\right)^{1/2} \\ &\leq c_d \left(\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} |\partial_1^{\beta} M_k^{k'}|^2 + \cdots + \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} |\partial_n^{\beta} M_k^{k'}|^2\right)^{1/2} \\ &\leq c_d \left(||\partial_1^{\beta} M||_{0,0}^2 + \cdots + ||\partial_n^{\beta} M||_{0,0}^2\right)^{1/2} \\ &\leq c_d \left(||\partial_1^{\beta} M||_{0,0}^2 + \cdots + ||\partial_n^{\beta} M||_{0,0}^2\right)^{1/2} \\ &\leq c_d \left(\|\partial_1^{\beta} M\|_{0,0}^2 + \cdots + \|\partial_n^{\beta} M\|_{0,0}^2\right)^{1/2} \end{aligned}$$

³The other ones being analogous.

for⁴ a suitable different constants $c_d > 1$. The same estimate holds for the other addenda in S_n and for all the term S_n 's. Noting that $|M_{k'}^{k'}| \leq |Me^{(k')}|_0 \leq |M|_{0,0}$, we have proved (A.1.4) for $\sum_k |M_{k'}^k|$. The inequality for

$$\sum_{k'} |M^k_{k'}| = \sum_{k'} |(M^T)^{k'}_k|$$

where M^T is the transpose matrix of M, follows similarly noting that $||M^T||_{0,0} = ||M||_{0,0}$ and that $\partial(A^T) = -(\partial A)^T$. This completes the proof of (A.1.4). Let us finish the proof of Lemma A.1.1. By Cauchy-Schwarz we get

$$|M|_{0,0}^{2} = \|\underline{M}\|_{0,0}^{2} = \sup_{|x|_{0}=1} |\underline{M}x|_{0}^{2} \leq \sum_{k} \left(\sum_{k'} |M_{k}^{k'}| |x_{k'}|\right)^{2} \leq \sum_{k} \left(\sum_{k'} |M_{k}^{k'}|\right) \left(\sum_{k'} |M_{k}^{k'}| |x_{k'}|^{2}\right)^{2}$$

$$\stackrel{(\mathbf{A.1.4})}{\leq} \mu \sum_{k} \sum_{k'} |M_{k}^{k'}| |x_{k'}|^{2} = \mu \sum_{k'} \sum_{k} |M_{k}^{k'}| |x_{k'}|^{2} \leq \mu^{2} \sum_{k'} |x_{k'}|^{2} = \mu^{2},$$

proving Lemma A.1.1.

A.2 Proof of the Lemma 1.3.13

Proof. The estimates on U follows by induction on k: recalling that

$$\|\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^b (\mathrm{ad}A)B\|_s \leq 2^{(b+1)} \Big(\|\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^b A\|_s \|B\|_{s_0} + \|A\|_s \|\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^b B\|_{s_0} + \|\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^b A\|_{s_0} \|B\|_s + \|A\|_{s_0} \|\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^b B\|_s \Big)$$

$$\|\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^b (\mathrm{ad} A) B \|_{s_0} \le 2^{(b+1)} \Big(\|\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^b A \|_{s_0} \|B\|_{s_0} + \|A\|_{s_0} \|\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^b B \|_{s_0} \Big) \,, \quad \|(\mathrm{ad} A) B \|_{s_0} \le 2 \|A\|_{s_0} \|B\|_{s_0}$$

⁴In order to get the third inequality we have used that for $a_1, \ldots a_n \ge 0$ one has that the product $a_1, \cdots a_n \le \max_{1 \le m \le n} a_m^n \le \sum_{1 \le m \le n} a_m^n$.

$$\begin{split} \|\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{k+1} B\|_{s} &= \|\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{k} (\mathbf{ad} AB)\|_{s} \leq 2^{k(b+1)} k \left(\|\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b} A\|_{s0} \|A\|_{s0}^{k-1} \|\mathbf{ad} AB\|_{s0} \\ &+ \|A\|_{s} \|A\|_{s0}^{k-1} \|\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b} \mathbf{ad} B\|_{s0} + \|\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b} A\|_{s0} \|A\|_{s0}^{k-1} \|\mathbf{ad} AB\|_{s} \right) \\ &+ 2^{k(b+1)} \left(k(k-1) \|A\|_{s} \|A\|_{s0}^{k-2} |\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b} A\|_{s0} \|\mathbf{ad} AB\|_{s0} + \|A\|_{s0}^{k} |\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b} \mathbf{ad} AB\|_{s} \right) \\ &\leq 2^{k(b+1)} k \left(\|\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b} A\|_{s} \|A\|_{s0}^{k-2} \|A\|_{s0} \|B\|_{s0} + \|A\|_{s} \|A\|_{s0}^{k-1} 2^{b+1} (\|\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b} A\|_{s0} \|B\|_{s0} \\ &+ \|A\|_{s0} |\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b} B\|_{s0} + 2 |\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b} A\|_{s0} \|A\|_{s0}^{k-1} (\|A\|_{s0} \|B\|_{s} + \|A\|_{s} \|B\|_{s0}) \right) \\ &+ 2^{k(b+1)} k(k-1) \|A\|_{s} \|A\|_{s0}^{k-2} |\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b} A\|_{s0} \|A\|_{s0}^{k-1} (\|A\|_{s0} \|B\|_{s} + \|A\|_{s} \|B\|_{s0}) \right) \\ &+ 2^{k(b+1)} k(k-1) \|A\|_{s} \|A\|_{s0}^{k-2} |\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b} A\|_{s0} \|B\|_{s0} \\ &+ \|A\|_{s0} |\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b} B\|_{s0} + \|\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b} A\|_{s0} \|B\|_{s} + \|A\|_{s0} |\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b} B\|_{s}) \right) \\ &\leq 2^{k(b+1)} k(k-1) \|A\|_{s} \|A\|_{s0}^{k-2} |\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b} A\|_{s0} \|B\|_{s} + \|A\|_{s0} |\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b} B\|_{s}) \\ &+ \|A\|_{s} |\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b} B\|_{s0} + \|\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b} A\|_{s0} \|B\|_{s} + \|A\|_{s0} |\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b} B\|_{s}) \right) \\ &\leq 2^{k(b+1)} k(k-1) \|A\|_{s} \|A\|_{s0}^{k-1} \|B\|_{s0} + \|A\|_{s} \|B\|_{s0} \\ &+ 2^{k(b+1)} (|A\|_{s0} \|A\|_{s0} \|B\|_{s} + \|A\|_{s} \|B\|_{s0}) \right) \\ &+ 2^{k(b+1)} (2k(k-1) \|A\|_{s} \|A\|_{s0}^{k-1} \|\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b} A\|_{s0} \|B\|_{s0} \\ &+ 2^{(b+1)} \|A\|_{s0}^{k} |\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b} A\|_{s0} \|B\|_{s} + 2^{(b+1)} \|A\|_{s} \|A\|_{s0}^{k} |\mathbf{d} \rangle^{b} B\|_{s0} \\ &+ 2^{(b+1)} \|A\|_{s0}^{k} |\langle \mathbf{d} \rangle^{b} A\|_{s0} \|B\|_{s} + 2^{(b+1)} \|A\|_{s0} \|A\|_{s0}^{k} |\mathbf{d} \rangle^{b} B\|_{s0} \\ &+ 2^{(b+1)} \|A\|_{s0}^{k} \|A\|_{s0}^{k} \|B\|_{s0} \\ &+ 2^{(b+1)} \|A\|_{s0}^{k} \|A\|_{s0}^{k} \|B\|_{s0} + \|A\|_{s0} \|A\|_{s0}^{k} \|A\|$$

A.3 Lipschitz extention Theorem

Theorem 7 (Kirszbraun Theorem). Let $E \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ and $f : E \to \mathbb{R}^m$ a Lipschitz function. Then f can be extended to \mathbb{R}^n keeping the Lipschitz constant of the original function.

Remark A.3.1. In the case m = 1 one such extension is given by

$$\tilde{f}(x) := \inf_{y \in \mathbb{E}} (f(y) + Lip(f)|x - y|),$$

where Lip(f) is the Lipschitz constant of f.

A.4 Lie exponentiation Formula

Lemma A.4.1. Let's consider the system

$$\begin{cases} \dot{B}(t) = \mathrm{ad}(A)B(t) \\ B(0) = B \end{cases}$$

The solution of this system is $e^{tad(A)}B$. It holds that $e^{-A}Be^{A} = e^{ad(A)}B$.

Proof. Setting

$$e^{tad(A)}B := \sum_{k\geq 0} \frac{t^k ad(A)^k}{k!}B$$

we see that it totally converges so

$$\frac{d}{dt}e^{t\operatorname{ad}(A)}B = \frac{d}{dt}\sum_{k\geq 0}\frac{t^k\operatorname{ad}(A)^k}{k!}B = \sum_{k\geq 0}\frac{t^{k-1}\operatorname{ad}(A)^k}{(k-1)!}B = \operatorname{ad}(A)e^{t\operatorname{ad}(A)}B$$

thus by the existence and uniqueness Theorem this is the solution.

A.5 Composition lemma

Let $p : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$ be a 2π -periodic function in $W^{s,\infty}$, $s \ge 1$, with $|p|_{1,\infty} \le \frac{1}{2}^5$. Let f(x) = x + p(x). Then:

i. f is invertible, its inverse is $f^{-1}(y) = g(y) = y + q(y)$ where q is 2π -periodic, $q \in W^{s,\infty}(\mathbb{T}^d, \mathbb{R}^d)$, and $|q|_{s,\infty} \leq C|p|_{s,\infty}$. More precisely,

$$|q|_{L^{\infty}} = |p|_{L^{\infty}}, \quad |Dq|_{L^{\infty}} \le 2|Dp|_{L^{\infty}}, \quad |Dq|_{s-1,\infty} \le 2|Dp|_{s-1,\infty}.$$

where the constant C depends on d, s.

ii. If $u \in H^s(\mathbb{T}^d, \mathbb{C})$, then $u \circ f(x) = u(x + p(x))$ is also in $H^s(\mathbb{T}^d, \mathbb{C})$, and, with the same C as in i,

$$|u \circ f(x)|_{s} \le C(|u|_{s} + |Dp|_{s-1,\infty}|u|_{1})$$
(A.5.1)

$$|u \circ f(x) - u|_{s} \le C(|p|_{L^{\infty}}|u|_{s+1} + |p|_{s,\infty}|u|_{2})$$
(A.5.2)

$$|u \circ f(x)|_s^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}} \le C(|u|_{s+1}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}} + |p|_{s,\infty}^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}}|u|_2^{\gamma,\mathcal{O}}).$$
(A.5.3)

(A.5.1), (A.5.2), (A.5.3) also hold for $u \circ g$

The proof can be found in [BBM14] in the Appendix.

 ${}^{5}|u|_{s,\infty}:=\sum_{|\beta|\leq s}|D^{\beta}u|_{L^{\infty}}$

Bibliography

- [BCP15] M. Berti, L. Corsi, M. Procesi. An abstract Nash-Moser theorem and quasiperiodic solutions for NLW and NLS on compact Lie groups and homogeneous manifolds, Comm. Math. Phys. vol. 334, n. 3, pp. 1413-1454, (2015).
- [BGMR17] D. Bambusi, B. Grébert, A. Maspero, and D. Robert, Growth of Sobolev norms for abstract linear Schrödinger Equations, J. Eur. Math. Soc. (JEMS), (2017).
- [BGMR18] D. Bambusi, B. Grébert, A. Maspero, and D. Robert, Reducibility of the quantum Harmonic oscillator in d-dimensions with polynomial time dependent perturbation, Analysis & PDEs, 11(3):775–799 (2018).
- [BLM19] D. Bambusi, B. Langella, R. Montalto, Reducibility of non-resonant transport equation on T^d with unbounded perturbations, Ann. Henri Poincaré 20, 1893-1929 (2019).
- [BLM20] D. Bambusi, B. Langella, R. Montalto. On the spectrum of the Schrödinger operator on \mathbb{T}^d : a normal form approach, Communications in Partial differential equations 45(4), pp. 303-320(2020).
- [BBM14] P. Baldi, M. Berti, R. Montalto, KAM for quasi-linear and fully nonlinear forced perturbations of Airy equation, Math. Ann. 359, 471–536 (2014).
- [BBHM18] P. Baldi, M. Berti, E. Haus, R. Montalto, Time quasi-periodic gravity water waves in finite depth, Inventiones mathematicae 214, 739–911 (2018).
- [BM20] P. Baldi, R. Montalto, Quasi-periodic incompressible Euler flows in 3D. Accepted for publication in Advances in Mathematics. Preprint arXiv:2003.14313, (2020)
- [BBP13] M. Berti, L. Biasco, M. Procesi. *KAM theory for the Hamiltonian derivative wave equation* Annales Scientifique de l'Ecole Normale, 46 (2), 301-373 (2013).
- [Bou94] J. Bourgain, Construction of quasi-periodic solutions for Hamiltonian perturbations of linear equations and applications to nonlinear PDE, International Mathematics Research Notices, 11, (1994).

- [Bou98] J. Bourgain, Quasi-periodic solutions of Hamiltonian perturbations of 2D linear Schrödinger equations, Ann. of Math. (2), 148 :363–439, (1998).
- [Bou99] J. Bourgain, Periodic solutions of nonlinear wave equations, Harmonic analysis and partial differential equations, 69-97, Chicago Lectures in Math., Univ. Chicago Press, (1999).
- [Bou99a] J. Bourgain, Growth of Sobolev norms in linear Schrödinger equations with quasi-periodic potential, Comm. Math. Phys., 204(1), 207–247 (1999).
- [Bou99b] J. Bourgain, On growth of Sobolev norms in linear Schrödinger equations with smooth time dependent potential, J. Anal. Math., 77, 315–348, (1999).
- [Bou05] J. Bourgain, Green's function estimates for lattice Schrödinger operators and applications, Annals of Mathematics Studies, 158, Princeton University Press, Princeton (2005).
- [CM18] L. Corsi, R. Montalto, Quasi-periodic solutions for the forced Kirchhoff equation on T^d, Nonlinearity 31,5075-5109 (2018).
- [CW93] W. Craig, C.E. Wayne, Newton's method and periodic solutions of nonlinear wave equations, Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 46, 1409-1498, (1993).
- [D10] J. M. Delort, Growth of Sobolev norms of solutions of linear Schrödinger equations on some compact manifold, Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN, pp. 2305–2328, (2010).
- [D12] J. M. Delort, A quasi-linear Birkhoff normal forms method. Application to the quasi-linear KleinGordon equation on S¹, Asterisque, 341, (2012).
- [D15] J.M. Delort, Quasi-Linear Perturbations of Hamiltonian Klein-Gordon Equations on Spheres, Memoirs of the American Mathematical Society, Vol. 234, No. 1103, (2015).
- [EK09] L. H. Eliasson, S. B. Kuksin, On reducibility of Schrödinger equations with quasiperiodic in time potentials, Comm. Math. Phys., 286(1), 125–135, (2009).
- [EK10] L.H. Eliasson, S. Kuksin. KAM for non-linear Schrödinger equation, Annals of Math. 172, 371-435 (2010).
- [FGMP19] R. Feola, F. Giuliani, R. Montalto, M. Procesi, Reducibility of first order linear operators on tori via Moser's theorem, Journal of Functional Analysis, 276, 932-970 (2019).
- [FGP19] R. Feola, F. Giuliani, M. Procesi, Reducibility for a class of weakly dispersive linear operators arising from the Degasperis-Procesi equation, DYNAMICS OF PARTIAL DIFFERENTIAL EQUATIONS, 16(1), 25-94, (2019).
- [FG20] R. Feola, B. Grébert, Reducibility of Schrödinger Equation on the Sphere, International Mathematics Research Notices, 1073-7928, (2020).

- [FS84] J. Fröhlich, T. Spencer, Mathematical theory of Anderson localisation, Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications, 124(1), 303-310, (1984).
- [IPT05] G. Iooss, P. I. Plotnikov, and J. F. Toland. Standing waves on an infinitely deep perfect fluid under gravity, Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 177(3):367-478 (2005).
- [LY03] J. Liu, X. Yuan. A KAM Theorem for Hamiltonian Partial Differential Equations with Unbounded Perturbations, Comm. Math. Phys. 307, 629-673 (2011).
- [KP03] T. Kappeler, J. Pöschel, KdV & KAM, Springer-Verlag, (2003).
- [K66] T. Kato, Perturbation Theory for Linear Operators, Springer-Verlag, (1966)
- [K34] M.D. Kirszbraun, Uber die zusammenziehenden und Lipschitzschen Transformätionen, Fund. Math., 22, 77–108, (1934)
- [K87] S. Kuksin, Hamiltonian perturbations of infinite-dimensional linear systems with imaginary spectrum, Funktsional. Anal. i Prilozhen. 21(3), 22–37, 95 (1987)
- [K98] S. Kuksin. A KAM theorem for equations of the Korteweg-de Vries typ,. Rev. Math Phys. 10, 1-64, (1998).
- [M21] A. Maspero, Growth of Sobolev norms in linear Schrödinger equations as a dispersive phenomenon, arXiv, 2101.09055, (2021).
- [M17] R. Montalto, Quasi-periodic solutions of forced Kirchhoff equation, Nonlinear Differ. Equ. Appl. NoDEA, 24(1), 9, (2017)
- [M18] R. Montalto, On the growth of Sobolev norms for a class of linear Schrödinger equations on the torus with superlinear dispersion, Asymptot. Anal., 108, pp. 85–114, (2018).
- [M19] R. Montalto, A reducibility result for a class of linear wave equations on T^d, Int. Math. Res. Notices, (6), 1788-1862. DOI: 10.1093/imrn/rnx167, (2019).
- [MP21] R. Montalto, M. Procesi, Linear Schrödinger equation with an almost periodic potential, SIAM J. Math. Anal. 53, 386-434 (2021).
- [P96] J. Pöschel, A KAM-theorem for some nonlinear partial differential equations, Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa Cl. Sci. Vol. 23, no. 1, 119-148 (1996).
- [PP15] M. Procesi, C. Procesi, A KAM algorithm for the resonant non-linear Schrödinger equation Advances in math. 272, pp. 399-470 (2015).
- [TW85] L.E. Thomas, C.E. Wayne, On the stability of dense point spectrum for selfadjoint operators, J. Math. Phys., 27, 71 (1986).
- [W90] C.E. Wayne, Periodic and quasi-periodic solutions of nonlinear wave equations via KAM theory, Comm. Math. Phys., 127, 479–528, (1990)